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PREFACE.

This is the fourth volume or series of “The Landmarks of Toronto *
which 1 1_1ave issued. The sketches have all appeared, as with former
volumes, in the columns of The Toronto Evening Telegram, and the inter-
est awakened by the reading of the history ¢ an important feature in civie

life—that of the history of the churches, induces me to continue the issue
of the Landmarks in this form.

The three preceding volumes are nearly out of print, the first volume
absolutely. The merit of the first volume is testified to by the fact taat
although issued at $2 a volume it is now $6, and very difficult to obtain.

No book of its kind in Canada has commanded more attention than the
volumes which record the life and history of the capital e.ty of Ontario
from 1792-1903, and the fact that at this date it would oe impossible to get
togetker the information and engravinzs which embellish the first volume,
makes the earlier volumes all the more interesting.

The La.agmarks are to be found in the great libraries of the world, at
the British Museum, The Guildhall Library, and The United Service Institu-
tion in London, England, The National Libraries at Paris, at Berlin and
Vienna, anc in many of the smaller libraries, not only publie, but private, in
Great Britain and the United States. [

The Landmarks of Toronto are the only volumes ever published that
give in detail the history of the old Town of York and of the City of
Toronto, with historic pictures of men and places, maps and plans aad
other records that are of vital interest, not only to the pioneers, but to their
cbildren of the present generation.

If the 3,000 pages contained in the four volumres, with 600 illustrations,
had not been first published in the columns of The Toronto Evening Tele-
gram they could not be issued under a cost of $5 & volume.

Their valu> may be shown in the fact that two sets of the three volumes,
extra illustrated, have been so.. by a bookseller, one to the Public Library
in Toronto, and another set to a private collector for $150 for each set.

Copies of this volume may be had by sending $2 to The Evening Tele-
gram Office, Toronto. Volumes II. and III. may also be obtained. Ooccasion-
ally a copy of Volume I. is offered for sale, but at the increased price of $6,
and where collectors desire that volume it may be possible, scarce as it is,
to obtain it.

Of this, the fourth volume, only a limited number have been issued, and
as it will not be reprinted, those who desire a copy should subscribe as soon
after its issue as possible.

The engravings in all the volumes are copyright, and cannot be re-
publishea in any other form except by permission.

Every effort has been made to make the history of the churches com-
plete, and it is expected that every church and «very member will sub-
scribe for at least one copy.

Bach volume has a complete ind.x, not only of the subject matter but
of tha ilInctrationa. and the ewtire volume furnishes to the people of To-
ronto a unique collection »” ezl church history that must interest all who
are interested in local ckurch history and its work in this city during the
more than century of years that have rolled by since the old Town of
York was founded.

J. ROSS ROBERTSON.
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LANDMARKS OF TORONTO.

THE CITY'S CHURCHES.

CHAPTER L
INTRODUCTORY REMARKS.

Thelr O igin and Grewth—Their Minis-
ters, Oficials and Leading Members with
Other Partleunlars.

The history of the churches of To-
ronto during the century or more that
the city has been in existence has never
heretofore been published in one
voiume or collectively. Sketches of
various churches in the city, of their
rastors and their chief officers have
from time to time appeared in the daily
papers and in magazine grticles, but
they have never been collected to-
gether except in a fragmentary man-
ner; they lie buried in the newspaper
files at the various public librares or
in rampilet form and those who want
to avail themselves of the information
conlained in these descriptive ac-
counts, have often ‘the very greatest
difficulty in finding the accounts
themselves.

In the following pages the Anglican
Roman Catholic, Presbyterian, Metho-
dist, Baptist and Congregatianalist
churches are arranged in groups. The
Salvation Army., though having sev-
eral vlaces of meeting, is dealt with
in one chapter, in which each placs of
worship is separately noticed. Chapters
are rlso devoted to the Young Men’s,
also to the Ycung Women's Christian
Associations. Every place of worship
wkhether it is Christian or Jewish, in or
near Toronto is described in this book,
every effort having been made to make
it ns complete .as possible. As far as
practicable the churches in the vari-
ous groups have been arranged in
chronological order, and “in no single
case have the names of lay members
&=! helpers who have assisted either
in the formaion of the congregations
or in erecting the edifice, been omitted.
That, of course, n®uns where it has
been possible to chtain thie names.

It will be noticyd that among the

|
i
|
|
!
i
|
|

Anglican churches that of St. James’
(the old parish church) has been en-
tirely omitted; this is because a sepa-
rate account of that church has al-
ready been fully published in a for-
mer volume.

Ancther thing to be mentioned is
this, that because the first Presby-

" terian church described, namely, St.

Andrew’s, was built in 1834, it must
nett be presumed there were no Pres-
byterians in York wp to that time.
1 here were many families and indi-
vidual members among the very small
population of less than 10100 pe-~ple.
But they were in a minority, and as.
sembled for worship in private houses
or perhaps a hired room. The great
majority of the residents in York in
1830 wers Anglicans, Roman Catholies
and Methodists, though among them
aly they did not provide church sccom-
modation for more than thirty-three
per cent. of %he population, if they
even accomplished that. Now, on the
other hand, in Toronto Township, Sear-
boro* and Vaughan, there were flour-
ishing Presbyterian churches and con-
gregations, but neither Anglican nor
Methodist ministers or churehes. These
latter were in as great a minority in
the country districts as the Presby-
terians were in York.

Illustrations are given not only of
the churches as they are now (1898),
but as they were some years ago. For
instance, Knox church is shown with
the steeple, though the latter was de-
stroyed by fire in 1895. The old church
of St. John’s, Norway, is given, as is
also the modern one. The Richmond
street Methodist church is given; so
also 1g its successor, the McCaul street
church, known as the New Richmond.

Thesc few introductory remarks are
all that is necessary to enable the
reader to see from the contents of the
volume that what has been attempted
has been to give a clear hislory of
every church, wholly irrespective of
denomination or of creed.
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CHAPTER II.
TRINITY CHURCH.

An Nisterte ¢hurch — Full of Years and
Honeurs.

Way down among the smoke and dirt
and dust of factories, in a section of
the city notable more for its industrial
than its fine arts, amid surroundings
that are homely and uninteresting.
stands Trinity church. More than half

musty records in its archives are im-
scribed names that are honoured in
civic higtory for probity and integrity,
and fondly cherished in the affec-
tionate remembrance of this genera-
tion. But now the time-honoured walls,
upon which the storms of nearly five
decades have beaten, are worn with
age and dingy with the dust and dirt
of many years, and Trinity stands like
some weath r-bsaten mausoleum bury-
;wg within iteelf the greatness and

I!.Ul,/llllll‘ >

{///771_
(i .
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TRINITY CHURCH, KING STREKT EAST.

a century has gone by since it arose,
in 1843, a magnificent piece of archi-
tecture, that was the pride of faithful
churchmen. Within its walls were
wont to meet the ancestors of thosel
whoee industry and enterprise in these
later days have given Toronto an
emviable position amid the beautiful
cities of the worlds occident. Ppon the

glory of the past. All over this city
are acattered thousands of people
whoge feet have crossed its threshold
and whos> heads have bowed in adora-
tion before the God to whom its altar
was dedicated so long ago. And in that
other quiet city of the dead forever
rest many who, in the time-honoured
past, united their voices in the celebra-
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tion of its beautiful ritual, and doubt-
less found therein that comfort and
guidance that smoothed their pathway
to the -grave.

In one gense, therefore, Trinity is
valuable more for its memor:es and the
historic interest attaching to it than
for what it is extrinsically to-day. Just
as this generation of people surrounds
itself with greater magnificence and
elegance of living, in every way, so
this old historic church, once itself
great, has been far outstripped by
larger, more pretentious and more
elegant edifices. Slowly but surely it
has seen the city growing away from
its nurturing care and reaching out
for greater beauty and glory towards
the northern hiM-country and along
the western 1horoughfires until not
much more of it is left than sacred
associat oas an/l tender memor.es. But
even with all th's forsakement the old
church has a vitality that is remark-
able; one parish after another has
been taken from its territory; one
family after ancther has left its pews
to find a new church-home more con-
venient; a long procession has gone
frem its doors never to return, but
even with all th's draught upon its
strength its energy, though impaired,
is unabated, and it deserves special
notice for its present worth and work
as well as for the history attaching to
it. In Toroante’s Church of England
bistory St. Jemes’ Cathedral and
Triaity church are indissolubly united
bec use they. are the two oldest
parishes in the city.

The church h:s been called “Little
Trinity’ in order to distinguish it from
the larger Trinity church on Trinity
square, off Yonge street. The then
unknown ladv henefactress of that
church made it a condition of her en-
dowment that the church should be
called Trinity church. As there already
was a Trinity church in the city, some
perplexity arose as to the matter, so
the difficulty was solved by calling
the Yonge street church Holy Trinity,
and the church of this sketch is pro-
perly known as Trinity church.

It is located on the south side of King
street east, just beyond its bend to the
north-east to join Queen street on the
west of the Don. On the east it is
bounded by Trinity street, so named
after the church; on the west by an-
other little street so-called, but really
only a lane, dignified by the name
of Erin street; while Derby street
limits the property on the south. The
grounds are spacious, and contain, on
King street, the rectory, built in 1853,
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at a cost of £1,400, and, at the south-
ern side, a long, low-set rambling
school house, part of which was built
in 1848 by Enoch Turner, the western
end having heen added during the pres-
ent pastorate at a cost of $3,000. A
six feet high picket fence separates
the property from the streets. The
church is immediately noticeable on
account of its antiquated appearance
and rather quaint architecture, being
what is known as the undecorated,
perpendicular Gothic, such as was
popular in England at the close of
the thirteenth century. The edifice is
70 x 45 feet in dimension, with a square
tower of 80 feet, surmounted with a
pinnacle at each corner. The church
was built in 1843, and at that time
it was intended to run up a’ spire of
30 feet, but the money was wanting,
and it remains spireless to this day.
It is of red brick with! white brick
buttresses to relieve the monotony of
its appearance. There are three en-
trances, the central one being through
the tower, which slightly projects
from the body of the building, and
the others on either side. The mould-
ings above the doorways are of wood,
and the whole external appearance
of the building is evidence of its age.
The following is a description of the
church as it appeared in 1887. It will
be interesting, so as to compare the
church with what it is in 1898—

“The same evidence confronts the vis-
itor when he enters the church. The
walls are plain and bare, the floors and
stairways well worn, the furniture se-
verely simple, and somehow it all con-
veys the impression of the homely, un-
fashionable style of earlier days,
though, with some modern improve-
ments, it is a pleasant and comfortable
place. There are three spacious vesti-
bules, one for each entrance, the two
on the sides containing stairways to
the gaillery, which is a roomy place
running along the northern end of the
church and extending into it over
three pews’ space. Opposite the gallery
is the chancel, a very narrow com-
partment containing & plain com-
munion altar amply covered with a
heavy red eloth. On each side is a
throne chair; in front is a hardwood
rail and before it a cushion for the
kneeling communicants. The reading
desk, an octagonal boxlike affair, is
on the right of the chancel, and out-
side of it, with a large stone baptism-
al font in front of it, while a similarly
constructed pulpit is built to the left.
The vestry is a plain, neat and very
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pleasant rcom to the right, containing
old-fashivned but useful furniture.
*“The aisles of the church have strips
of carpet running along their lengths,
but otherwise the floor is bare. Some
of the pews are cushioned and some
are not, just as the fancy of the occu-
pant dictates. The building seats four
bundred people and is heated from fur-
naces recently introduced. Before that
stoves were used, and the old iron
brackets upon which the long pipes
rested are yet to be seen jutting from
the walls. The room is amply lighted
by eleven large stained glass windows,
of the lancet seriate form; they are
very bright and pretty, not only ton-
ing the entcring light, but beautify-
ing it with a variety of colours. The
floor, when the church was built, was
so arranged as to have two aisles and
a centre, the latter place being devoted
to free seating accommodation for
strangers and casual visitors; at that
time also twolarge vestries were con-
structed within the church.
these were removed later, and ten years
ago more modern pews were intro-
duced and other improvements made
upon the original appearance of things
s0 that now it is not quite so anciedt
in looks. A neat gasalier of twentyw

four burners depends from the centre °

of the ceiling; during the delivery of
the sermon the light is turned low, for
economy’s sake, it is presumed, thus
putting the congregation into the hazy
mystery of semi-darkness, a condition
very favourable for napping or little
social amenities. In this case, however,
no advantage is taken of the twilight.
Underneath each window isalittle tin
trough to ch the water, forcing its
way through the time-worn frames
when the indriven snow is melting,
which then runs down through a small
pipe underneath the floor.

“Above the vestry entrance a little
round-faced clock merrily ticks away
the hours. Next to it is a magnificen
mural memorial, with an ornamentally
carved base, on which rest columns
supporting & heavy and an enriched
entablature with a large urn in the
centre. This is built in memory of
William Gooderham, who was born at
Scole, Norfolk, England, August 29th,
1790, and died August 20th, 1881, “one
of the original founders, largest bene-
factors, and for thirty-five years
churchwarden of this church.” Directly
opposite is an exactly similar tablet
in memory of Harriet Gooderham, his
wife, born at Sipton, Suffolk, England,
Nowvember 1st, 1802, died March 5th,

“A tablet in the form of a shield on

But
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| the castern wall commemorates Elira.

beth, wife of Rev. Alexande. Sauson,
and upon it are carved these words:
“As a testimony of respect for her
character and affection for her memory
this tablet is erected by the ladies of
this congregation.”

“Opposité this, on the western wa'l,
is another to the memory of Rev. Wni.
Honeywood Ripley, B.A., of University
College, Oxford, the first incumbent of
Trinity chureh, who served it six
years “freely, without money and with-

{ out price.” He died October 22nd, 1849,
! aged 34 years. He was honorary secre-
tary of the church diocese of Toronto
and second classical master of Upper
Canada College. He challenged the
| heartfelt respect and affection of s
parishioners, who have thus given ex-
| pression to their feeling.

“In the western part of the gallery
are two memorials in honour of Mr.
James Gooderham Worts and his wife
Sarabh. The children of this estimable
couple have set apart a spacious me-
. morial pew on the gallery formerly
coccupied by this family. The pew is
lined, cushioned and curtained in black,
| while five old-style chairs occupy its
| front portion. -

“Th~rise of Trinity churchcame about

- as follows:—In the early “forties” that
part of the city where the church now
| stands, was called the Park. Many of
1 its residents were members of the
i United Church of England and Ire-
land, and they earnestly desired the
Iestablish.ment of a church of their
| own faith. No other Protestant de-
| nomination had a church in that sec-
| tion and this fact rendered the build-
| ing of one more feasible. So on the
i 12th day of July, 1842, a couple of gen-
tlemen met in the house of Mr. y-
nolds, on King street (in the park)
| and resolved to buy land and proceed
| with the erectiom of & church. A con-
| tract was entered into for the build-
|ing of the present edifice at a cost

$  of £1,800. The English “Society for the

 Propagation of the Gospel” in the colo-
nies contributed £120.

| “Success came with the effort. The
late Mr. Alexander Dixon secured the
 grant for the new church from the
| society named, and he was the moving
spirit in securing subscriptions, being
ably assisted by William Gooderham,
' J. G. Beard, Joseph Shuter, Enoch Tur-
{ner and Samuel Mitchell. Bishop
| Strachan gave two lots, one on Parlia-
! ment street and one on Power street;
! Chief Justice John Beverley Robinson
! gave a ten-acre lot on Kingston road
' for the rector’s income. This lot was
| sold in 18%6 for $35,000. In addition to
 building the school house Mr. Turner



left $5,000 for improvements and $2,-
000 for the enlargement of the church,
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contracts for which are now under way.

Mr. Gooderham also left $1,000 for re-
pairs. With all this, however, there
was a debt of $4.000 for a long time;

it was reduced during the pastorate .

of Dr. Mitchell, who was Mr. Ripley’s
successor, and served from January,
1850, to July, 1852. At the latter date
the Rev. Alexander Sanson became the

incumbent, and has been the pa.storiconsiderations

since (1898.)

“The income of the rector, derived
from the endowment, is $1,250. At first

the income was but $600, and the rec- !

tors were obliged to depend upon their
own resources. The neighbourhood has
always been a poor one, and the
labour of the minister is very largely
one of love only; originally the con-
gregation was richer than it is now,
and the territory covered by this par-
ish was much more extensive. The best
part of the congregation has one time
after another withdrawn to form new
parishes, until Trinity has given birth,
more or less directly, to St. Peter’s,
All Saints’, St. Bartholomew’s and St.
Matithew’s. It now stands alone in its
old age, the only church of its denomi-
nation in the eastern part of the city;
its children have left the old home,
but it still carries on usaful work.

Rev. T. R. O'Meara is superintendent
of the Sunday school; Mr. Lye, or-
ganist, and Rose Cameron, librarian,

ere are more than twenty teachers
in the school and 300 volumes in the
library. Of those who have been teach-
er=. =ix are now clergymen, two of
whom are canons, one in England, and
three became judges, viz., Harrison,
Moss and Vice-Chancellor Blake.

The present territorial limits of the
parish are Sherbourne on the west,
Queen on the north, the Don on the
east, and the bay on the south.

“The Rev. Alexander Sanson, who has
so long and faithfully served the his-
toric old church, was educated in Edin-
burgh. He was pastor of St. John’s,
York Mills, the second rectorate in this
part of the country for ten years. He
also served St. Paul’s two years, gratui-
tously, in connection with St. John’s,
which was then a wealthy church.
Charles Mathews, first classical mas.
ter of Upper Canada College, was his
assistant. . Sanson is a white-
haired, benevolvent-looking gentleman
of the old school type, dignified and
courteous, but pleasant and agreeable

manner. Agide from giving hard,
cold facts and figures to the reporter
he was exceedingly averse to any per-
sonal memtion. He has always been

3

made cognizant of the difficulty of
serving a parish with all outward ecir-
cumstances against it, and yet he
speaks very highly of his people, and
very kindly of the nature of the work
he has had to do. At personal expense
to himself he has ministered to his
congregation, and exemplified in his

,own life a1l labours that charity that,

unfortunacely, is becoming rare’in the
pulpits of all cities where mercenary
too often determine
what is denominated ‘called of the
Lord to preach the Gospel.’

“During the present rectorate the
church debt has heen entirely paid;
an excellent organ, built bby Edward
Lye & Sons, has been introduced, new
windows and pews put up, and furnaces
elrected; then the school room has been
enlarged and the parsonage repaired
and improved, and now, this fall, the
church will be enlarged and still fur-
ther improved—all of which adds to
the glory already crowning the history
of Trinity Church.”

Trinity Church celebrated its jubilee
in 1893, and there were present at the
anniversary services some two or three
individuals who fifty years before as
young people, had heard the first ser-
mon preached in the building by the
Bishop of Toronto, Dr. Strachan.

Since the preceding portion of this
sketch first appeared Trinity Church
has been enlarged and beautified
thiroughout.

‘When the church was first erected,
like nearly all other Anglican churches,
it had extensive galleries. These have
all been removed and the arrangement
of the pews altered. These in the
old days were the old-fashioned high-
backed class; now the seats are low,
and afford no chance for an attendant
at the service to slumber unawares.

Trinity Church has had since it was
erected the following clergy:—

1843 until 1846—Rev. W. H. Ripley.

1849 until 1852—Rev. Mr. Mitchell
(resigned June, 1852.)

1852 until 1898—Rev. Alexander San-

son.

The last-named gentleman still con-
tinues in office. In Trinity’s earlier
days the Anglican Bishop of Toronte
oftentimes officiated, as did Revs. H.
Scadding, D.D., and Walter Stennett.

The wardens have been:—
1852-1853—A. Joseph, Thomas Haworth.
1853-1866—W. Gooderham, Enoch Tur-

ner.
1866-1874—W. Gooderbam, J. H. Blake.
1874-1882—W. Gooderham, J. G. Worts.
1882-1883—J. G. Worts, Lewis Reford.
1823-1885—T.ewis Reford, S. R. Heakes.
1885.1886—John Gillespie, R. M. Cam-

eTon.
1886-1889—J. Gillespie, J. R. Whiteside.
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4889.1891—A. J. Boulton, J. J. Davis.
1801.1893—A. E. O'Meara, J. J. Davis.
1893-1894—John Sanson, C. R. Cooper.
1894-1899—C. R. Cooper, C. H. Beavis.
The choir, a mixed one of both male
and female voices, do nto wear sur-
plices, though they sit in the chancel.

Of assistant ministers at Trinity not °

previously named, who have been re-

gularly attached there have been
but two, Rev. M. S. Baldwin, now
Bishop of Huron, and the present

is very comfortable in arrangement
and furnishing; it seats about 750 per-
sons, and a considerable part of it is
free and unappropriated. A spacious
gallery extends across the western end,
which is the facade, and there are two
small transept galleries. The organ 1s
placed in the south-east corner of the
building and is artistically decorated.
The chancel measures 20 feet by 11

. feet in depth, and contains sittings for

' the choir.

868) curate, Rev. T. R. O'Meara. The |

atter gentleman was educated at
Port Hope and “Wycliffe College, To-
:{gggo, and came to Trinity Church in

CHAPTER IIL
ST. GEORGE’S.

The First West ERud Anglican Parish-—
Some Notable Parishieners.

just above Queen, stands St. George’s
Church, one of Toronto’s oldest
churches, occupying a very prominent
place in its religiouslife and history.
The church is built in the early Eng-
lish Gothic style, 96 feet long by 50
wide, with a spire 150 feet high, of
white brick, now dingy and weather-
stained, and is a graceful structure,

with a proportion so arranged as to

give it a somewhat massive appearance
as well. There are three entrances,
from ‘John street, with another int»
the vestry from the north and on»
from the south. The Sunday sche

building is directly connected with tic
ohurch on the east, and acommodious
and convenient rectory is built just

X A magnificently decorated
window occupies a large section of the
eastern wall above the altar. The
handsome lectern is located in the

| front centre of the chancel, while the

pulpit is to be seen to the north of it.
A’ marble baptismal font is placed in
the north aisle near the front of the
building. ' ¥

,When the writer inspected the build-
ing for the purpose of this article he
found it tastefully decorated with me-

| mentoes of the happy Christmas time.
‘At John street and Stephanie place, |

north of the church. The ground upon ;
which the three buildings are erected |

was given to the parish in 1844 by the

late Mr. and Mrs. D’Arcy Boulton, of |

the Grange. The church was begun in
that year, and was opened for service
November 9th, 1845. The total cost was
$24,000. The church was consecrated
on St. Andrew’s day, 1853, by the late
Bishop Strachan.

The first impression made upon the
mind of a visitor when entering the
building is that of its cathedral char-
acter. The tall columns and graceful
arches dividing the nave from the
zisles give the interior an appearance
of great space. A number of the win-
dows are filled with stained glass of
varied designs, and are memorial win-
dows.
which commemorates the life of Clara

One such is that on the north, |

Perkins and that of her brother, Fred- |

erick Campbell Perkins. The church

Wreaths of evergreen were grace-
fully twined about the columns, while
iliuminated shields hung wupon the
walls. A series of evergreen, lancet
form, Gothic arches spanned the front
of the chancel with the star of the
Nativity in the centre. Appropriate
mottoes and emblems were deftly ar-
ranged within the chancel, giving it
the semblance of a miniature bower.
The four decades that have passed since
the erection of the church give it an
atmosphere of antiquity and, with
that, the historic interest and attrac-
tion always attached to the old and
venerable.

The service and church of St,George
was in 1888 described in the following
account :

“The style of service at St. George’s
is considered to be the most English
in Toronto. It is not ritualistic, but
conforms with the established usage of
the Church of England. The morning
service is a plain one, but the evening
service is largely choral. The choir of
men and boys is a surpliced one, and
these are assisted by a number of ladies.
The church has a widely established re-
putation for excellent music, and just-
ly so. The music is Aanglican in char-
acter, and no operatic or sensational
selections are used for the purpose of
catching the curiosity of the public.
The sole end and aim of the service
seems to be the effort to reach an
ideal form of worship, stripped of bar-
ren negationson the one side and florid
exercises on the other. The style of
the English Church in the mother coun-
try is closely adhered to, much to the
edification of the great mass of wor-
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shippers at this church. It is a popu-
lar church, so much so that it is often
exceedingly difficult to secure sitting

accommodation. Tae congregationsare '

wery large and the work has so grown
upon the hands of the rector that it
was found necessary to employ two as-
sistant ministers. ‘These have been
secured in the persons of Revs. P. J.
Moore and F. M. Webster. There are
400 communicant members of the
church and 350 of these have commu-
nicated on one day. The Christmas
offertory in 1886 was ovér '$300.

“There are more than 400 children
connected with the two Sunday schools,
one of which is connected with the
Phoehe street mission hall work. In
this hall the Church Army began its
work in Canada in 1885. The object
of this Army is to evangelize the low
classes of society; its aim is precisely
that of the Salvation Army, but its
methods are dignified and orderly.
Special attention is also given at this
hall to temperance work, and so far
with the most encouraging results.

“A Home for the Aged has also been
established in the parish, whichiis man-
aged by the Sisters of St. John the
Divine. A property on Larch street
was purchased tor the Home at a cost
of $4,500. A paper called ‘St. George’s
Parish Journal’ is published, contain-
ing historical information, notices of
services and meetings, besides a well-
selected quantity of reading matter.

“The total value of the parish pro-
perty is about $30,000, all of which is
fully insured. $1,020 was received in
1885 for missionary purposes, with
about $400 from the Sunday school,
over $300 from the Phoebe street mis-
sion hall, $450 for the poor, about $3,-
700 from the offertory, over $1,800 for
pew rents, and over $600 from the
Church Home. The congregation raises
about $11,000 yearly for parochial and
missionary work, and this statement
affords the reader some idea of the
great work being done by the church
of St. George t‘he M%rtyr.

L » £

-

Briefly, the history of St. George’s
church and parish is as follows: The
first mission distriot, an offshoot from
St. James’ church, was organized in
December, 1843. The original committee
consisted of Rev. Henry James Gra-
sett, Vice-Chancellor Jameson, F. T.
Billings, H. Boys and Henry Rowsell.
It was proposed to erect the church
on a plot of land contiguous to where
the General Hospital stood, on the
north-west corner of John and King
streets. This site was subsequently

abandoned and the committee dis-
solved. A second one was formed, the
members being Right Rev. John
Strachan, D. D., Bi of Toronto,
Hon. William Cayley, William Henry
Boulton, J. G. Spragge, James G. Chew-

. ett and Clarke Gamble.

The church was subsequently erected
on the site where it now stands, which
was the gift of D’Arey Boulton, of the
Grange. When finally completed, the
cost had reached neariy $28,000, The
builder was John Ritchey and the
architect Henry Bowyer Lane.

The first organ in the church was
built by Warren, of Montreal, in 1857,
and was rebuilt by Warren & Son, of
Toronto, in 1880

The church was freed from debt and
congecrated to the service of God on
November 30th, 1853, St. Andrew’s day.
The school house was erected in 1857,
the corner stone being laid on August
20th in that year. The parsonage was
built in 1865.

The clergy of St. George’s since the
{gzndation of the parish in 1847 have

s

Rectors—Rev. Charles Ruttan, 1844-
1848 ; Rev. Stephen Lett, LL.D., 1848-
1862 ; Rev. Thomas Brock Fuller, 1862-
1875; Rev. John D’Arcy Cayley, 1875.

Mr. Ruttan until Eagter, 1896, was
rector of St. Jobn’s church, Norway,
when he resigned that appointment in
consequence of advancing years. Dr.
Lett became rector of Guelph, and died
there several years ago. Rev. T. B. Ful-
ler was in 1875 appointed Bishop of
Niagara. He died in 1887. He was suc-
ceeded at St. George’s by the present
rector.

The. assistant clergy have heen:

1857—Rev. W, A. Adamson.

1862—Rev. E. L. Wells.

1865-66—Rev. Richard Harrison

1866-70—Rev. 1. S. Ellerby.

1870-73—Rev. C. J. Machin.

1870—Rev. A. G. L. Trew.

1874—Rev. E. H. Cole.

1874-75—Rev. J. D. Cayley.

1876-81—Rev. C. H. Mockridge.

1880—Rev. J. F. Jowitt.

1882-83—Rev. Joseph F. White.

1883-85—Rev. W. Clark.

1884—Rev. G. M. Kingston.

1885-89—Rev. R. J. Moore.

1886-87—Rev. F. M. Webster.

1890-91—Rev. Allan A. Pitman, Rev.
M. C. Dickenson.

1893—Rev. Oswuld Rigby, Rev. E. C.
Cayley, Rev. C. Lutz, Rev. H. Symonds,
apsistants either as locum tenens or
in absence of rector.

Rev. E. Bullock, May to October,
1893.
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1854c48—Wm. H. Boulton,

Wm. Wake-
Thos. Baines.

1849-50—John Arnold, John Henry Le-

1848-49—J. H. Cameron,

of Eng-

1893, special mission.
October, 1893,

1

Rev. Prebendary Bullock,
February,

land, F?rbruary,

Rev.
to February, 1895,

. S. Brougha

froy, R. A.
51—J. H. R.A., J. G. Horne.

1850

1895.

Rev. H. P. Lowe,
The wardens have been:
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1851-56—John Henry Lefroy, R. A., S.
Harman.

1853-55—T. P. Robarts, John Arnold.

1855-56—John Arnold, Kivas Tully.

1856-57—T. P. Robarts, S. B. Harman.

1857-58—S. B. Harman, R. B. Denison.

1858-50—R. B. Denison, Kivas Tully.

1850~-60—John Boulton.

1860—Kivas Tully, John Boulton, re-
signed June 6th, 1860, when
were elected Wm. McCleary,
John Hillyard Cameron.

1861-62—Wm. McCleary, John Hill-
yard Cameron.

1862—66—John Boulton, Huson W. M.

4 Murray.
1866—68—Huson W. M. Murray, A. R.

Boswell.
1868—77—A. R. Boswell, Samuel William
Farrell.
1877—T78—E. M. Chadwick, Wm. Greey.
1878—-80—Edward M. Chadwick, Elmes
Henderson.
1880—81—E. M. Chadwick, Alexander
James Burrowes.
1881—83-—?& ]1:\)I. Chadwick, Stephen Zett,
1883—85—E. M. Chadwick, G. T. Harman.
1885 —86—E. M. Chadwick, Harry Hayes.
1886—87—E. M. Chadwick, W. M. Mur-

ray.
1887—90—S. Bruce Harman, R. B. Street.
1890—96—S. Bruce Harman; George P.

Reid.
1896—99—R. B. Street, R. W. Barker,

The Sunday school room is a large,
lofty building. with very little adorn-
ment. The floor and seats are bare,
and thewse is an appearance of rugged
simplicity about it. Opening from it
are the infant class room, Bible class
rooms, robing room, kitchen, etc.

The first incumbent of St. George’s
was Rev. Charles Ruttan. In 1848 Dr.
Lett became the incumbent. The same
year Mr. William Caiger, who 1s
well remembered by many citizens, was
appointed sexton. In 1861 Dr. Lett re-
signed and Rev. T. B. Fuller became
the rector. He resigned in May, 1875,
when he was made Bishop of Niagara,
and was succeeded by the present rec-
tor. Rev. J. D. Cayley, M.A.

Mr. Cayley, who is well known
throughout the city, was born in Lon-
don, England. He was educated at
Upper Canada College and Trinity Col-
lege University. In 1860 he was or-
dained in England deacon, and the fol-
lowing year priest, by the Bishop of
London. After remaining in England
three years he came back to Canada,
and was incumbent at Whithy eleven
years. In the autumn of 1874 he was

appointed assistant minister at St.
George’s, and rector in May, 1875,

. When the parish completed its jubilee
in 1893 the staff of the church was as
follows :—

Clergy—Reverends J. D. Cayley and
J. S. Broughall. Churchwardens— S.
Bruce Harman, George P. Reid. Sides-
men—F. Arnoldi, Q.C., E. D. Armour,
Q. C., C. R. W. Biggar, Q. C., H. E.
Blanchford, A. M. Browne, Frank Cay-
ley, A. J. Close, W. B. Close, Frank P.
Cowan, M.D., S. J. Davies, J. C. Hari-
son, G. F. Harman, C. D. Heath, C. E.
Holmes, A. C. Bedford-Jones, H. H.
Langton, F. Lightbourn, Inglis Lough,
M.D., L. McMurray, H. W. M. Murray,
Q.C., H. C. Parsons, H. S. Strathy, R.
B. Street, W. B. Strickland, C. V. M.
Temple, Harry Winsor, E. H. Keating.

Organist and Choir Master—E. W.
Phillips.

CHAPTER IV,
ST. PAUL’S.

The 0ld Time Yorkville Place of Wershlp
—The Grammar School

The following account, very slightly
ltered, was given of St. Paul’s in 1886.
t is now republished. It reads thus:

. "No more beautiful sunset bathed the
world in glory than that which en-
wrapped the dying day last Sabbath
evening. Golden shafts of light linger-
ed about the tree tops as if crowning
them with celestial radiance. The
feathered songsters seemed to carol
more musically as if in response to
the day-king’s farewell. The bright
green leaves grew tremulous in the
breeze passing among them never so
softly, as if loth to disturb the quiet
that rested like a benediction upon
the day going down into the grave of
the night. The hallowed quiet is broken
by other sounds than those of nature.
From out of an ivy-clad tower come
the pealing notes ¢® the vesper bell;
rising above all sounds and yet ming-
ling with the tones of all the cathedral

! chimes come now ponderously, now al-

most merrily, until from all over this
beautiful city of churches one grand
metallic chorus rises upon the even-
ing air calling men 'to song and
prayer.

“The streets of the city, so quiet dur-
ing the sunny hours of the beautiful
day, are now crowded with people find-
ing their way to the favourite church.
Among these was the writer of this.
sketch, and he was met with evidences
on all gides that however the Sabbath
may be observed on the surfaa in



mpirit it is not so extensively kept asis
sometimes imagined. There are Inany
private arrangements in this city where-
by illicit traffic of various kinds is go-
ing forward regardless of the sacred
character of the day. A walk through
Rosedale glen, through, the cemeteries,
over the Don and along its banks will

reveal the fact that not only are there-

many non-church-goers, but there is
freedom of enjoyment not obtainable on
any other day. And this is not con-
fined to poor people ; the residences and
grounds of some of our wealthier citi-
zens in the upper portion of the city
were seen to contain many persons that
bad discharged their religious duty by
going to church in the morning and
leaving their pews vacant for “‘the com-
mon people” in the evening. But it
wis a pleasant and refreshing sight to
see little children merrily skipping over
the beautiful lawns in innocent play,
while the contented mother luxuriously
enjoyed the picture from the open win-
dow of a richly furnished drawing-room.
Bights like this with the evening air
perfumed with the fragrance of flowers
and made mellow with bird-songs; with
beautiful residences that seemed ver-
itable palaces of art; with avenues
whose long, cool arches of interlacing
tree-tops made invitingly pleasant, no
wonder one’s steps became insensibly
slower while drinking in the peace and
beauty of the even-time.

“With all this loveliness of nature at-
tuning the spirit to worship the Power

that created it, nothing is lost by en- |

tering a beautiful church where the
classic surroundings complement the
outside natural beauty. And St. Paul’s
church is an attractive one; it is most
eligibly situated on the southern side
of Bloor street, east of Jarvis.
no fence or enclosure to mar the beauty
of the surroundings, and in this re-
spect the church simply anticipates what
good taste will generally demand in the
future. The church stands well back
from the street, and is reached by neat
wooden walks running in graceful lines
over a closely' trimmed and very exten-
sive lawn surrounding it. A clamber-
ing vine climbs profusely up by a beau~
tiful window until it almost entirely
conceals the little 'bell . swung in a
Quaint-looking tower. One is instinc-
tively reminded of the ivy-clad towers
of romance and poetry, and somehow
there seems to be peculiar fitness in

th thing of the i
B e g L oo R 1 i e fino el el ooy

er.
“Tha building is a Gothic stone struc-
ture and conveys an impression of mas-

There is :
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siveness and solidity, although it is not
a large building; its outline is well pro-
portioned and it is an ideal structure,
such a omne as is frequently met with
in the land across the sea—the real
home of the Church of England. The
building runs east and west, with an
entrance into the vestry and thence into
the transept, and another, with a fine
porch, on the Bloor street side ; another
entrance on ‘the west has about it a
temporary wooden porch. In each of
the northern and southern transepts
there is a large stained glass window
composed of a number of circular and
foliated smaller divisions, that make
them ornamental. The nave, a long,
narrow omne, has six cinque-foil win-
dows, with a very large one in the
west end. The roof is composed of
darkly stained, open timber worlk, sup-
ported by massive stonc arches resting
upon heavy stone columns. While these
are not disproportionate in any way,
they seriously interfere with both the
sight and hearing of those seated di-~
rectly between them and the chancel.
The interior is prettily painted in
light colours with ornamental bor-
ders; in every part of the church Scrip-
ture mottoes are painted in bright gilt
letters, old English style, upon adark
red background, and this work pre-
sents a pleasing appearance. While
there is much of the cathedral Zpirit
about the church, these bright colours
give it an air of freshness and life in
pleasing contrast with the sombre
heaviness that generally accompanies
the cathedral style of architectuire.
Just within the northern entrance
stands a large, heavy sandstone bap-
tismal font. The pews are very plain
and only those are carpeted and cush-
ioned whose owners so desire; narrow
strips of carpets are laid in the aisles.

“Above the arch spanning the chan-
cel is a motto which reads: ‘“Whoso-
ever will, let him take of the water of
life freely.’ Outside on the left is the
pulpit, whose desk and panels are cov-
ered with red velvet; the lectern is
also a plain desk, and is near the pul-
pit. The organist sits within the
chancel; above him is a set of pipes,
prettily ornamented; another set is
visible in the southern transept, and

" the builder has avoided the mistake,

so frequently made in churches, of en-
tirely burying the organ in an enclosed
chamber, from out of which no full
sound can be obtained; very mueh of

" by the organ being walled in.

“Seats for the choir are fixed at
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right angles to the nave within the
chancel, which is entirely carpeted and
is ample for all demands made upon
it. Th= altar is an exceedingly plain
one, tut the reredos is a handsome
piece of work, extending entirely across

the eastern wall, and is made of stone ;
Mosaic; immediately above it is the !

motto, cut in stone, which reads:
‘Glory to God in the highest on earth
peace, good-will toward men.' The

stained glass window is richly wrought |
in fresh, bright colours, and is orma-
emblems and !
On the arch above it is in-;

mented with various
symbols.
scribed: Holiness becometh

house, O Lord, forever.’

Thine

“There are three memorials in St. .

Paul’s church. The first one is engrav-
ed in brass upon a black marble tablet
and reads:—

Erected by the companions of his household
in affectionate remembrance of
ROBERT HENDERSON,
who was lost with six others by the
foundering of the yacht
Foam off Niagara,

July 11th, 1874, in the 21st
year of his age.

In the fourth watch of the night Jesus
Went unto them walking on the sea.

“Within the chancel, on the north
wall, is a very handsome white mar-
ble memorial erected to the memory
of Rev. Saltern Givins, who was rector
of the church twenty-four years. He
was missionary at Tyendenaga on the
Bay of Quinte, nineteen years, and fill-
ed every position to which he was call-
ed with fidelity and zeal, for which
he was much beloved. He was born
in this city April 8th, 1809, and died
at Colborne, October 30th, 1880. Such
is the statement inscribed vpon the me-
morial.

“A plainer memorial is seen imme-
diately opposite, honouring Rev. W.
F. Checkley, M.A., who died Jan. 3rd,
1879, and it reads ‘This tablet is erect-
ed by a few friends who desire to re-
cord his faithful ministry in this
parish.’ ?

“It was into this church that the '

writer found his way last Sunday even-
ing. He was immediately confronted by
a gentlemanly usher and shown to a
seat, and was handed a prayer book
and hymn book. It is a custom in
this church to provide all strangers
with these books; a collection of them
s kept on hand for this special pur-
pose. The attention shown all visitors
1s one of the most considerate and
courteous nature; as soon as a person
fenters he is met by the usher, who
provides him with an eligible seat, and
extra efforts are used to accommodate
individual circumstances; if a person
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is partially deaf he is taken well for-
ward. 'But no other distinction is
made; a plainly, poorly-dressad visitor
1s served just as politely as one more
highly favoured in these matters; even
little children were kindly shown to
seats, and everything was done to make
; all incomers welcome and comfortable.
. The audience was what may be termed
. miscellaneous, that is, it was composed
of all classes of people; a few were
there bearing evidences of wealth about
them, but the large majority of the
125 present were of the middle class
qf people. It was not a large congrega-
| tion—the church will seat 600—but it
; Was a very decorous one, and its dis-
tmctlve: feature was the heartiness
and universality of participation in the
service. The latter was an exceedingly
plain service; for a Church of Eng-
land service it was just within the
regulations and no more. The choir,
composed of ladies and gentlemen to
the number of about twenty, with Mr.
Geddes as organist, was not distin-
guishable from the congregation in
the musical service, so familiar did
every one seem with the chants and
responses. There is no choral in the
responses save on the part of one
strong voice that was particularly
noticeable for its musical intonation
when brought into comparison with
the ordinary responses. The service,
like the congregation, is a conserva-
tive one. almost painfully so. But
everybody was interested, enjoyed and
was benefited by it.

“It began with the singing of a
hymn and then followed the rubric of
the prayer-book. The rector, Rev. T.
C. Des Barres, conducted the service,
;and in some respects he is a novel
reader. There is nothing artificial
about his reading; in fact it is in-
tensely natural: he does not intone
but reads rapidly, with an emphatic
. utterance that runs along in a sort
1 of staceato style that seems almost
business-like. But the reading is re-
. freshing and attractive, because it is
. not stilted or assumed; there is no
. whine about it; it is taken easily,
naturally, and is properly interpreted.
The singing is excellent, not finely
shaded, because it is too general, but
taneful, well measured and harmoni-
ously expressed. The ‘ Magnificat,’ or
! Song of the Blessed Virgin, and the
¢ Nunc Dimittis,’ or Song of St.
' Simeon, were especially well sung.
Four hymns were sung the last of
which, ‘Lead, kindly Light,’ was an
.exquisite selection and seemed so ap-
propriate in its sentiment, for the



darkness of night was then rapidly en-
folding the earth, insensibly remind-
ing one of the need of socme guiding
light amid the gloom of the coming
night when all earth's toilers shall
gather the drapery of everlasting sleep
about their spent lives.

“Mr. Des Barres' sermon was a short
one, based upon the text: ‘Who his
own Self bare our sins in his own body
on the tree,” and was a plea for °the
grand old doctrine of the Atonement’
as a substitutional affair.

“The land and the church cost about
$29,000. The rectory, just east of the
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church, and the extensive double
school house south-west of it cost $10,- |
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ers the floor adds to this feeling of
warmth and comfort. Prettily paint-
ed mottoes adorn the walls; neat little
settees and a convenient desk for each
teacher, with a large organ, constitute
the furniture, and it is a most de-
lightful room for Sunday school pur-
poses. Opening from it and running
into the exteasion eastward is a long
narrow library furnished with 980
volumes. The Sunday school numbers
350, with Mr. John G. Greey as super-
intendent. Next tc the main room are
two large well-furnished Bible class
rooms, and them comes the Infant
clagss room, by far the fipnest in this
city. It is carpeted with a beautiful

ST. PAUL’S CHURCH, BLOOR STREET EAST.

000 additional. This school house is a
model of elegance and comfort that
amounts almost to luxury. It is in
the shape of an L, that part of it run-
ning north and south being devoted
to the main school. The facade is stone,
but the remaining portion is built of
white brick with red brick ornamen-
tation. The main room is wainscotted
and has a white kalsomined ceiling.
The white bricks of the wall are point-
ed with black paint, while the red brick
adornments bave white pointing; al-
though the walls are not plastered the
room does not convey that idea of cold-
ness that is generally associated with
an unplastered room. Doubtless the
rich Brussels carpet that entirely cove

Brussels, and has a tier of graded seats
made of brightly-coloured wood. The
walls are of the clearest white, and a
beautiful circular window with an ele-
gant combination of parti-coloured,
variously shaped panes of glass is in-
serted in the eastern wall. Above it
is a bandsome scroll artistically paint-
ed upon the white wall containing the
sentence ‘Suffer little children to
come unto Me and forbid them not.’
A little organ, a blackboard, maps,
ete., are at hand for the entertainment
and instruction of the little ones for
whom no more delightful room can be
imagined. No wonder that one of the
boys remarked: ‘Uf any fellow comes
in here with muddy boots we'li bounce
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him.” The infant class increased fifty
per cent. within the last year.

“So far as ascertained St. Paul’s is
the second offshoot from St. James’
cathedral, and is about fifty years old.
The first building was a wooden one,
erected upon the ground where the
rectory now stands. The land was
deeded to the church by Hon. G. W.
Allan, who gave his portion without
remuneration, and the late James Hen-
derson. The congregation became too
large for the pew accommodation, and
a section petitioned for removal to
Bloor street west; the petition was
granted and the building was also
taken and placed upon what was call-
ed Potter’s Field, and later developed
into the Church of the Redeemer. It
was to remain a chapel of St. Paul’s
until the latter was free of debt, and
this condition existed until Rev. Sep-
timus Jones was appointed rector of
the former church.

“Steps were then taken to build a
new church, and this was done about
25 years ago. The late Mrs. Proudfoot
managed a bazaar that netted $4,000,
and this was the nucleus for the new
building ; and the late W. A. Baldwin
mortgaged his farm for $8,000 to com-
plete the church, and when this debt
was discharged the church was conse-
crated. The rectors, as far as could be
learned, were Rev. S. Givins, who had
as his curates Revs. Dr. Adamson,
Government Chaplain; A. Williams,
John Langtry, Septimus Jones, W. F.
Checkley and T. C. Des Barres. Mr.
Des Barres has no curate because the
egress of several parishes
Paul’s has obviated the necessity of
supporting two ministers. His salary
is $1,500 with the use of the rectory;
he has been rector eight years.

“Within the last thirty-five years
.St. Paul’s has been the mother of five
parishes, viz.: Church of the Redeemer,

years that have since elapsed there
has been no change in the incumbency
of the church. But to make the story
tomplete something remains to be told
about old St. Paul’s. In volume I of
the landmarks a cut of the old build-
ing has already appeared, and some
few particulars given about the church
and its erection.

In a paper fBated June 18th, 1842,
now in the writer’s possession, ap-
pears the following account of the
opening service.

“The new church near the toll gate
on Yonge street, was opened for the
performance of divine service on the
mproing of Sunday last, the 12th inst.”

It may be remarked that when the
first St. Paui’s was built Church street
only extended as far as Carlton
street. Jarvis street from the corner
of Queen street east was only a sandy
lane, as was also Sherbourne streef,
then known north of Queen street as
Allan’s Lane. West of St. Paul’s on
the south side of Bloor street there
was scarcely a house between the
thurch and Yonge street, and on the
northern side there were only some
three or four houses betiween the end

of Jarvis street and the Red Lion
Hotel, on the north-east cormer of
! Yonge and Bloor streets, close to

| The newspaper account

from St. |

St. Luke’s. St. Peter’s, a portion of !

Christ church, Deer
new St. Simon’s. But its old-time vig-
our is unabated notwithstanding this
draft upon its strength. It has about
150 communicating members and a
yearly income of about $3,600. In fact
last year was more prosperous than
any year before; $3,000 was spent for
permanent improvement and $2,000
will be spent this year. The church-
wardens who so successfully care for
the interests of St. Paul’s are Messrs.
‘Wm. B. Evans and J. R. Roaf.”
L d » - . »

The foregoing portion of the history

Park, and the |

|
|

of St. Paul’s church and congregation | A k
was written in 1886, and in the twelve meeting at which the Lord Bishop will

which was the toll gate referred to
continues i~
“The Rev. Charles Matthews officia-
ted upon the occasion, and we had the
gratification of hearing him deliver an
appropriate and animated sermon from
II. King IV., 8, 9. The building of a
little chamber for Elisha by the Shun-
amite was very skilfully and eloguent-
ly applied to the spiritual wants of
the neighbourhood in which the new
thurch stands, and furnished the
preacher with many powerful argu-
ments for recommending the people to
use every effort towards securing the
services of a resident minister, A re-
spectable congregation of ene hundred
persons had assembled and a collec-
tion of about £3 14s ($14.80) was made
in aid of the building fund, It was a
matter of sincere rejoicing to all pre-
sent to take part in the simple and
well conducted services of this new
little sanctuary.” °

The same paper contains this adver-
tisement :—

THE NEW CHURCH.

NEAR THE TornL GATE oN YONGE STREET.
“On Thursday next, 28rd inst., a
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preside will be held in this c’hurch.f Owing to ill-health Mr. McKenzie re-

The object of the meeting is to organ-
ize a congregation in conformity with
the Church Temporalities Act. All
persons who are disposed to rent or
purchase pews or seats will then have
an opportunity of doing so, and are
particularly requested to attend. The
church will hold two hundred.

“On Sunday morning the 26th inst.,
a sermon will be preached in this
church by the Rev. Dr. McCaul, Prin-
cipal of Upper Canada College, in aid
of the building fund.”

Toronto, 17th June, 1842,

The first incumbent of St. Paul’s

tired from the incumbency in 1855, and
was followed by the Rev. W. A. John-

i son. During the term of office of the

latter clergyman a controversy and di-
vision aros» in the congregation re-
specting the theological leanings and
teaching of Mr. Johnson. His sermons
by a portion of his flock were declared
to savour more of Rome than of the
Reformed Church of England, whilg
on the other hand an almost equally
large number of his parishioners gave
him their warm and hearty support.

i There was on both sides no desire to

cast the slightest imputation on Mr.

ST. PAUL’S CHURCH, BLOOR STRERT, 1843

was the Reverend John George Dal-
hoste McKenzie, who continued in
charge until 1855. In addition to un-
dertaking the cure of sodtls at St.
Paul’s, Mr. McKenzie conducted a

school, known as “St. Paul’s Church
School,” in his residence, |

Grammar
the second house to the east of the
church on the same side of Bloor street.
Among his pupils were members of the
Jarvis, Henderson, Blake,
Murray and Creese families.

Baldwin, |

Johnson’s character; all admitted his
perfect and absolute sincerity, but the
very fact of his earnestness renderad
his opponents all the more desirous
that he should leave St. Paul's, as he
was, to their way of thinking, preach-
ing erroneous doctrines, though fully
believing himself fn the truth of what
he taught.

After long, painful and heated com-
trov rsy, Mr. Johnson resigned his
charge and went to Weston, where as
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rector of St. Philip’s he remained for
many long years after the troubles at
St. Paul’s had been buried in oblivion
so far as he was concerned.

Following Mr. Johnson came Mr.
Givins, who was in turn succeeded by
the present rector.

The clergy of St. Paul’s
foundation have heen these:—
Rectors—Rev. J. G. D. DMcKenzie,
about 1843 to 1855; Rev. W. A. John- !
son, 1855; Rev. Saltern Givins, 1856-
1879; Rev. T. C. Desbarres, 1879-98. i

Assistant Clergy—Rev. Mr. Schrie-
ber, occasional, 1855; Rev.-Dr. Adam-
son, 1855-56 (deceased); Rev. A. Wil-
liams (now of St. John’s); Rev. John
Langtry, 1868-69 (now of St. Luke’s);
Rev. Septimus Jones (now of Redeem-
er); Rev. W. F. Checkley (deceassd);
Rev. T. C. Desbarres (now rector of St.
Paul’s).

Professor Rev. H. J. Cody, of Wyck- ;
liff» College, has been acting as assist- '
ant minister since the summer of 1895,
but he is not responsible for parochial
work (1898). :

The following have been the ward-
ens:

From 1843 until 1849 there are un- |
fortunately no records showing who
were wardens. Probably the affairs of |
the district were managed by the Bis- |
hop and the minister, aided by a com- !
mittee, but thisislittle more than con- |
Jjecture, as no documents of any kind |
are to be found relating to vestry
meetings prior to 1849.

The register of births, marriages and
deaths dates from 1846, but these give
no clue as to whom filled the office of
churchwarden.

since its

CHURCHWARDENS

1846—1852—CGieorge  William
James Henderson.

185°—1853—Alex. Murray, Captain Pat-

Allan,

terson. .
1853—1854—William V. Baeon, William

Telfer.

1854—1855—J. W. G. Whitney, W. Mac-
kenzie.

1850—-185()—-J T. Brondgeest, T. J. Pres-

1856—1857—-Robert Beard, T. J. Pres-

ton
1857—-1859—1\. M. L. Howard, T. H.
Ince.
1859—1861—Robert Sewell, Jas. Young.
1861—1862—Thomas Haworth, T. J. Pres-

ton.
1862—1864—Thomas Haworth, Charles
R. Dickson.
1864—1868—W. . Schreiber,

Bostwick.
1868—1870—Alex. Marling, J. B. Sorley.

George

ley.
- 1892—1893—W. R. Smallpiece,

1870—1871—T. B. Blackwood. G. M.

Rae,
1871—1872—(‘ M. Rae, E. J. Jarvis.
1872—1873—J. T. Smith, John Symons.

1873—1874—Frank Draper, Captain
Stupart.

1874—1877—Captain Stupart, William
Scadding.

1877—-1878—Henry' Skynner, J. R. Roaf.

1878—1880—W. H. Draper, W. B. Evans.

1880—1881—\ajor R. J .Evans, W. B.
Evans.

1881—1883—W. B. Evans, R. H. Gray.

1883—1884—W. B. Evans, (. B. Jackes.

1884—1886—W. B. Evans, D. Mitchell
Macdonald.

1886—1888—W. B. Evans, J. R. Roaf.

1888—1889—\ajor R. J. Evans, Charles

Langley.
1889—1892—J. G. Greey, Charles Lang-
J. G.
Greey.
1893—1895—W. R. Smallpiece, R. Milli-

champ.
: 1895—1898—W. G. Eakins, Charles Mar-

riott.
Organist 1896—Mr.

CHAPTER V.
HOLY TRINITY.

The First Free and Open Church in Te-
ronte—A Gift Frem England.

Running westward from Yonge
street, about 200 yards to the north
of Queen street, is a narrow thorough-
fare leading to a court wherein is
built the Church of the Holy Trinity,
belonging to the Church of England.
The court is now known as Trinity

McKim.

! square. In 1835 it was known as ‘*“ the

fields,” and constituted the garden

i and cleared space around the residence

of Dr. James Macaulay, formerly an

‘army surgeon in the Queen’s Rangers.

His residence, called Teraulay cottage,
was removed in 1848, when Trinity
square was laid out. Macaulay lane,
now Louisa street, was described as-
“fronting the fields,” and from this
cleared space a line of unbroken forest
extended as far north as the eye could
reach. This clearing on the north side
of Macaulay lane was almost inaccess-
ible half a century since, and could
be approached only by passing around
treacherous swamps and through tang-
led forests. It is related by Dr. Scad-
ding that a magistrate declined an
attempt to find Dr. Macaulay’s house
on account of the dangers by the way,
when he reached the eastern part of
York one afternvon, and it required
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half of the next day to finish the
Journey. The residence was destroyed
by fire after its removal to what is
now the southern entrance to Trinity
square.

Twenty-five years witnessed a radical
change in the appearance of this court,
or *“fields,” which was
into an active, populous district, so
that the lines of the historian truth-
fully represent the change when they
say:

* Macaulay’s fields are fields no more ;

The trowei supersedes the plough ;

Huge inundated swamps of yore

Are changed to civic villas now.”

Within a few rods of Yonge street,
one of the main arteries of Toronto’s
commercial life, enclosed on all sides
with buildings, so that it enjoys a quasi
seclusion, even while it is readily reach-
ed, stands this church, which in some
respects has an unique character and

history. It is reached by a very narrow |

passage way from Alice street on the
north, another from Louisa street on
the south, and the short avenue from
Yonge street on the east; it seems like
some great giant entombed amid the
lesser buwildings on every side and
whose greatness only becomes appreci-
able when we stand within the narrow
court and look up to the battlemented
turrets of the twin spirelets above the
front corners.

It is a large brick structure, cruci-
form in shape, with two narrow tran-
septs adjoining the chancel. There is
no attempt whatever at architectural
offects, the entire building being an
unpretending reflex of English cath-
edral churches. It runs east and west,
the altar being at the east end, the
main entrance at the west end, with

an approach from the north and one |

from the south into the transepts. At
the south-east corner and entered
through a small porch is a two-
storeyed annex, used for lecture and
Sunday school purposes.

The origin of this church is ground-
ed in the church revival in England
in the early *forties,” a revival that
stimulated church architecture so that
many new and ornate churches were

built and old ones renovated, enlarged |

and generally improved, more atteation
being given to artistic results in con-
tradistinction to the rather rigid ar-
chitecture heretofore existing. Accom-
panying this revival in England her
growing colonies were more assidious-
ly cared for by the National Church,
and a systematic supervision apd
organization of its scattered adherents
waa maintained. Out of thisnew-born

transformed,

i energy grew Holy Trinity. The diocese
{of Toronto was established in 1839,
| the Venerable Archdeacon John  Stra-
i chan being appointed the first Bishop.
| His fine personal qualities, his energy
of administration, executive ability
| and wonderful success gained him very
| favourable notice in Great Britain and
| Ireland. In this way it occurred to the
mind of a benevolent lady whose name
| was not known, that a church should
| be established in Bishop Strachan’s dio-
icese in Canada. This was in 1845.
| When he returned to Toronto from a
| missionary tour west he found a let-
| ter from Bishop Longley, of Ripon,
! afterwards Archbishop of Canterbury,
saying that a lady, unknown to him,
. had deposited in his hands £5,000 ster-
ling to build a church in the Diocese
of Toronto, stipulating that it be called
the “Church of the Holy Trinity,” “the
szats of which were to be free and un-
appropriated forever.” £3,000 of this
were devoted to the building and £2,000
invested as an endowment fund for the
incumbent.

,  Toronto having been chosen as the
| most suitable and most advantagcous
| locality for the church, its present site
' was given by Col. John Simcos Macau-
lay, son of the original owner of the
tland. ‘While the building was in pro-
‘cess of erection the unknown donor
presented silver sacramental plate for
puhlic use, and smaller service for
private ministration; she also sent a
| largs supply of fair linen and a cover-
iing of Genoa velvet for the altar, be-
| sides surplices for the clergy. The
church was consecrated Octoler 27th,
l 1847, in the presence of a large con-
gregation. On that day, at the com-
| munion service, £50 in gold were pre-
sented, and £50 for a font, besides £50
more for clothing to be distributed
among the poor.

Rev. Henry Scadding was the rector
from 1847 to 1875, although RBishop
Strachan frequently preached there.
The finances were so judiciously hand-
led that a reserve fund was created,
and the parish is now in a most flour-
Iishing condition, notwithstanding the
i free seat system, owning a parsonage
in Trinity square, and a new school
building directly opposite. Rev. John
Pearson, formerly of Fredericton, N.B,,
is rector. He is a genial, scholarly
gentleman, interested in his work.

The church has been honoured by the
official service of Rev. Dr. Scoresby,
the celebrated English Arctic navi-
gator and explorer,and of Bishop Sel-
wyn, an eminent missionary of New
Zealand, both of whom preached here
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on more than one occasion. Lord El-
gin, whos> subisequent services in Chi-
na and India gave him distinction, was,
when Governor-General, often a wor-
shippsr within its walls. These facts,
connected with its novel origin, serve
to add to its historical interest and
value.

On October 27th, 1884, a special com-
memorative service was held, at which
time a memorial brass tablet affixed

to the north wall was uncovered in :
honour of its then unknown founder. |

The address on that occasion was de-
livered by Dr. Scadding, accompanied
by appropriate religious services. The
following is the inscription:—
THIS CHURCH
DEDICATED TO
THE HOLY TRINITY.

‘W AS ERBCTED THROUGH THE MUNIFICENCE OF
A LADY RESIDENT IN ENGLAND, WHO, A.D. 1843,
THROUGH THE BISHOP OF RIPON. PLACED IN
THE HANDS OF TI'E BISHOP OF TORONTO FIvE
THOUSAND POUNDsS STERLING, WIIKREWITII TO
ERECT A CHURCIHI IN HIS DIOCESE UPON THE
EXPRESS CONDITION THAT THE SITTINGS THERE-
IN SHOULD BE FREE AND UNAPPROPRIATED FOR
RVER. WITH THAT SUM THE FABRIC WAS
ERRECTED UPON A SITE GIVEN FOR THE PURPOSE
RY THE LATE LIEUTENANT COLONEL JOHN SIM-
COE MACAULEY AND AN ENDOWMENT PROVIDED.

THE FOUNDATION STONE WAS LAID ON THE

FIRST DAY OF JuLy, A.D. 1846, AND THE |
CHURCH WAS OPENED AND CONSECRATED BY |

THE RIGHT REVEREND JOHN STRACHAN, BISH-
OP OF TORONTO, ON THE EVE OF THE FEAST OF
S8, SiMON AND JUDE, A.D. 1847.

THIS TABLET WAS PLACED HERE BY THE CON-
GREGATION, A.D. 1884, AS A MARK OF GRATI-
TUDE TO THOSE THROUGH WHOSE LIBERALITY
THEY ENJOY THE PRIVILEGES WHICH THIS
PLACE AFFORDS.

No account of the history and ser-
vices of the church of ths Holy Trinity
is complete without reference to the
eminent work of Rev. W. Stewart Dar-
ling, who for nearly thirty years was
intimately associated with all its in-
terests. In 1855 he was appointed as-
sistant minister, which yosition he held
until 1875, when he became the rector.
As some one said: “These years snent
in this thickly populated and poor
parish were years of the most unre-
mitting and earnmest labour, whose
fruits were evidenced in a large, unit-
ed and devoted congregation, con-
spicuous for heartiness of worship and
forwardness in all good works.” Mr.
Darling was endowed with such quali-
ties of zeal, sympathy and geniality
that he attractad to him ths love and
confidence of the young, and *few
pastors have endeared themselves more
universally to their flocks.” To his
untiring efforts and comscientious de-
votion are largely due the present
gtrength and influence of this parisk.
The revival of church life and work
in Toronto, as manifested by the in--

troduction of daily public prayer, week-
ly communion, choral services, sur-
pliced choirs, and other accessories of
divine worship, which tend to make it
a thing of glory and of beauty, and
by the many organizations and me-
thods which exist for bringing the in-
fluence of the church to bear upon the
masses, would, but for Mr. Darling’s
earnesfness and zeal, courage and per-
severance, have been of much later
beginning than it was; for few, and
feeble, if any, were the steps taken in
| these directions till he had led the
way and rallied with voice and ex-
fample, as a leader of men, the forces
of the party with which he was iden-
tified..

In these rapidly moving times an
edifice built in 1847 begins to bear
about itself an air of antiquity. If
the building is associated, as in this
case, with a service that is venerable
on account of an unbroken historical
enrichment, the feeling of veneration
is enhanced, so that a visit to Holy
Trinity gives one this impression. Like
cathedral churches, the vastness of it
establishes no sympathy between the
worshipper and the ‘building. Cathe-
fAirals seem to be built more for ele-
! gance of artistic results and grandeur
of architecture than for the comfort
or convenience of devotees. The ser-
vice is to supply everything, and in
| this respect cathedral service is_the
acme of all service, in that it furnishes
attractions and interest beyond the
mere luxury of the building.

The chancel seems far away from the
main entrance; the intervening space
| is occupred with narrow seats, divided
into individual compartments by small
strips of wood, each seat having a
single rail at the back with a book-
rest in front and akneeling board be-
‘low. The floor, save the three aisles
covered with matting, is uncarpeted,
and there is not a vestige of upholstery
about the building except that of the
chancel and sanctuary. Within the four
entrances are four huge stoves, twoin
which wood is burned and two for coal;
the building is well lighted with stain-
ed glass windows and by neat gasa-
liers. The ceiling 1s Luttressed directly
from the walls, so that no pillars ob-
struct the view, and is harmoniously
painted and decorated, the walls being
wainscoted several feet from the floor.
A very small gallery, enclosed by the
turrets, rests above the western ves-
tibule, and is reached by two narrow
winding stairways, one on each side.
Two visitors’ books are kept, with a re-
quest dttached that all persons wor-
shipping there inscribe their names
and addresses. Just within the south-
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ern transcpt is the stone laptismal | The surpliced organist sits within the
font, upon a stone elevation, reached | chancel with two long lines of seats
by three stone steps circumscribing it. | behind him and two similar Iines on

At th= north-west corner of the ; the opposite side for the choristers.
chancel is the organ, a magnificent ’Back_beyond all this two steps rise to
instrument, the pipes with their gilt | a dais, upon which are placed the
snd bius ornamentation making a, | bishop’s and clergy’s stalls; two SFGQS
bright and pleasing contrast with turther and the altar is reached; it is

Is

i

\\“\ \\\\/: \/ !-

HOLY TRINITY CHURCH, TRINITY SQUARK.

darkly-colour>d case. The instrument, | covered with red velvet, fringed with
bailt by ILye & Son, of this city, is of | white silk, and the monogram I. H. S,
great power and resonance, capable of | with a cross above it all worked in
instant reduction to the most melodi- | white silk; on one cormer of the altar
ous combinations and tones. Project- |is a large service book sustained by
ing beyond the chancel rail is the pul- {a highly polished brass stand, while om
e, and to its left the reading desk. | a ledge above it are two vases filled
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with fresh, sweet-smelling flowers and
a cross in the centre—all made of fine
brass. The eastern wall of the sanc-
tuary is panelled in the third-pointed
French Gothic of the luilding, while
above fhe window is the inscription:
“Holy, holy, holy, Lord God Almighty,’”
the Beatitudes from the Sermon on
the Mount being inscribed above the
window of ‘the nave. The chance! has
a blue canopy, olentifully sprinkled
with gilt stars.

ness of delineation and delicacy of col-
ouring. The four evangelists are rep-
resented above, and the four major
prophets below. The window, made in
Edinburgh, cost £150. But the entire
arrangement of the chancel is in keep-
ing with the churchly idea which is

‘truly unfolded only in cathedral arch-

itecture as well as In cathedral ser-
vice.

‘““T'he schopl portion of the structure.
at the south-east corner, is in perfect

HOLY TRINITY—EAST FRONT VIEW.

The greater portion of the preceding
portion of this history, very slightly
altered, has already appeared, but the
following account of the service at
Holy Trinity in 1884, is gnoted just
as it was written then;

“The large, varigated, stained-glass
window above the altar presents a
rich and beantifui appearance at a
distance, but is not sufficiently well
sxecuted to bear close and critical in-
spection, on acconnt of a want of clear-

accord with the antique character of
the edifice. On the lower floor is a
large room uncarpeted and unadorned.
with a amall vestry adjoining, in which
the weekly meetings are held. Above
it is the Sunday school room, also un-
furnished, unless plain settees and
chairs can be called furniture, The un-
plastered walls are painted white and
the rafters and other woodwork of the
roof painted dark; a huge wood stove
stands on one side and a small recess



rector and curate, were counted, slow-

ly wound its way to the front of the
chancel, and entering it divided at the
sanctuary, the
while standing. .

Too much cannot be said in praise of
the musical rendition of this service.
Mr. A. R. Blackburn, who is organist
and choirmaster, has developed a musi-
cal ability that makes evensong at
this church not only a pleasure but
a luxury, and that, too, at no sacri-
fice of a devotional spirit; indeed, the
most casual listener must be inspired
and uplifted by the sweetness and har-
snony of it. It was what is known as
the choral service. The prayers, the
creed and the responses are all intoned

by the choir, composed entirely of male -

voices, the full choir in this church
nuembering 51 members; 24 of these are
men and 27 boys. The former are divid-
ed into nine tenmors and 15 bass, the
latter into 22 trebles and five altos.
The mingling of the fresh, clear, young
voices of the boys with the pure tenor
and full round bass voices of the men
produces an effect that ig delightful.
The intonation of the prayers, which
to an ordinary Protestant of unculti.
vated musical taste seems novel, if not
irreligious, is, when conducted with
feeling and expression, very impressive
and restful.

“On this occasion Rev. John Pearson
intoned the prayers in excellent style
with a full, rich voice, accompanied by
the choir—the organ playing a soft and
low refrain, as the petition was humble
and penitent or rising and swelling
with triumphant gladness when voic-
ing the greatness and honour and glory
of the Almighty God. The congrega.-
tion was worshipful, nearly every in-
dividual having the use of a prayer-
book, and every one intensely follow-
ing the ancient service enriched with
historical value and beautiful with the
melody and harmony of reverent
music. Rev. George Nattress read the
evening lessons and preached a short
sarmon. He is a minister of fine ad-
dress, good voice and evidently of great
sincerity. Two hymns were sung, one,
“Singing to welcome the pilgrims of
the night,” being especially well sung.
The choral service before the sermon
lasted an hour, the sermon twenty
miuntes. the concluding service and
recessional occupying ten minutes.

“Attentive officials are at hand; all
seats at all services are free; the rector
is curtained wherein is stationed an
altar from which the service is con-
ducted. While all this is true to that
specific form of church life in which
the Holy Trinity is embosomed, yet
the aspect is so devoid of finish and
celour that it seems almost rude in
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its stern primeval nature., A number
of Scripture scenes illustrated in ple~

] | tures of the most ancient and inartis-
congregation mean-

tic style are hung on the low white
walls about the room.

“The Sunday school is a flourishing
one, numbering about 350, with an av-
erage attendance of over 200, includ-
ing a Bible class of 50 and 36 officers
and teachers. More commodious and
convenient rooms will be had when
the new building is completed, and to
this the school is anxiously looking.
Of the $350 received by the treasurer

.in 1884, $60 was sent to the Indian

Homes at Sault Ste. Marie, and 200
volumes were added to the Sunday
school library.

“Although the general character of
the building is of that simplicity com-
bined with massiveness, growing out
of the middle-aged Christian architeo-
ture that symbolizes the trus cathe-
dral habit, yet the worship is rich and
cultivated in its ceremony. “The ser-
vice of this church in not ritualistic;
it is liturgical and in entire agree-
ment with the Church of England ser-
vices a8 celebrated in the old countiry
for the last three hundred years. Com-~
munion is celebrated every Sunday at
8 and 11 a.m., and on "All Saints and
Holy days, the Litany every Sunday
at 4.80 p.m., and choral evensong at 7.
Ordinarily in the morning the service
is a plain one, but on the first and
third Sundays of each month and on
festival days the communion service
is choral; there is evensong every day
at 530. At the usual morning service
about 400 people are present, but the
evening service finds the church fill-
ed; it seats about 800. There are 400
communicants and 3,714 communion
services were held during the last
year.

“‘I should like very much to have
the privilege of sitting in the gallery
in order to get a gool view ol the
choristers,” said the writer to the
black-robed beadle of the Holy Trin-
ity.

“‘Just wait a minute,” said that
busy functionary, as he turned away
to look after a stove. ‘Now, step this
way,” he resumed, opening & narrow
door at the front of one of the tur-
rets; ‘just keep right on till you come
to a green door and push it open,” was
the parting instruction as the little
door was closed behind him, and the
writer found himself in total darknesa
With one hand groping along the damp
circular wall and the other outstretch-
ed te ward off any unseen danger, the
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narrow winding stairway was followed, |
by faith, not by sight, until the green |
door was reached; after an almost

despairing effort to find the lateh, an

effort not conducive to the cultivation

of a reverential temper, the door at
last flew open with a bang and threat-

ened to bring the eyes of the whole

congregation gallery-wards. After |
enough of the accumulated dust of
months had been cleared away from
the unused seat a fine view of the
nave and chancel, brilliantly lighted,
was deemed a reward for the perilous |
ascent.

in their work and anxious to accommo-
Eate all enquirers with their offi-
cial services.

*The year’s rerort for 1885-86 shows
an income of $1,120.83 through the
envelope system, $2,416.69 through the
general offertory, and $586.75 through
the clergy fund, while the total receipts
from all sources amounted to $9,514.23.
The membership is divided into minor
organizations for the prosecution of
the work the Holy Trinity feels called

‘upon to do, and the work is conseien-

tiously done, reflecting credit upon its
cangregation, and in that way honour-

HOLY TRINITY—WEST FRONT VIEW,

Far away the processional chant was
faintly heard, like the distant mur-
mur of some hidden waterfall; ils soft, |
gentle music grew stronger and louder
until the vesiry' door was opened and
the surpliced choristers slowly and re-
verently entered, while the inspiring
music rose and fell in liquid melody,
growing Jouder and stronger as the
clear tenor wove sweet sounds above
the splendid harmony of the deep bass.
The double line processional, led by two
very small boys, and graduated by two
larger ones, and so on along until the
24 bovs and 18 men, followed by the
and his curate are intensely interested

ing its generous founder.
L] L] . . .

The foregoing sketch Lrings the his-
tory of Holy Trinity in great measure
down to Easter, 1886. The following
particulars are now added, to make the
story complete:

The sum of $9,514.23 mentioned as
having been received from Easter, 1885,
until Easter, 1886, included the special
funds for the new sehool buildings and
repairs to chapel and parsonage, re-

| spectively, $2,919.63 and $115.50, mak-

ing in the aggregate $3,035.13, so that
the net amount for parochial purposes
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wao $6,479.10. Since that date the con-
tributions have been as follows:

1836-87....$10,145.73, of this $4,668.27 was special
... 1820706, 2.20 .

1887-88 4 3
1832-89 8.278.40, b 2,148.34 *
1889-90 8, 5 &~ 1,715.00 c
1890-01.... 8,244.82, b 1,537.95 e
1891-92.... 14,282.52, P 4,780,656 ‘:
1892-93. ... 12.403.34, 3 4,688.33 g
18393-9 6,360.37, 4 T71.83 i
1994-95 4779.95, *  Nospecial funds
1895-96 3.873.18, e 5 o
189597 ... 17,547.18, B 3,599.40 was special
1897-9% ... 4,663.97, 924.92 3

The special funds were for the new
school buildings and include loans on
mortgage. '

The rectors of Holy Trinity have since
its foundation been as follows:

1847-1875, Rev. H. Scadding, D. D.;
1875-1886, Rev. W. S. Darling; 1886,
Rev. John Pearson. who. is the present
incumbent (1899.)

From 1868 until 1875 Rev. W. S. Dar-
ling was rector’s assistant, and Rgv.
John Pearson filled the same office
from 1875 until 1886.

The curates since 1847 have been:
Reverends Walter Stennett, 1847-1854;
W. S. Darling, 1851-1868; Dr. Duck-
ett, 1857-1858; W. E. Cooper, 1858-1859;
R. Sandars, 1832-1865; G. 'I'. Carruthers,
1862-1865; H. W. Davies, D. D., 1866-
1881; Edwin Day, 1870-1875; C. T. Den-
roche, 1870-1871; O. P. Ford, 1873-1875;
C. B. Darling, 1880-1881; W. Farncomb,
1882-1883; George Nattress, 1883-1889;
O. H. Mockridge, D.D., 1890-1893; Rev.

Frank DuMoulin from 1894 until Janu-

ary 1st, 1896, when he went to Chicago
to one of the Episcopal churches in
that city. Rev. WL L. Baynes-Reed,

for three months in the summer of |

1895, and Rev. B. C. H. Andrews, from

January 1st, 1866, until the present, |

(January 1899

The churchv;r)ardens -have been, from '
1847 to 1853, J. W. Brent and Thomas |

Champion; from 1853 to 1856, J. W.
Brent and D. Crawford, 1854; C. Berezy,
1855; E. \Hobson, 1856; from 1856 tp
1858, F. W. Coate and William TInce;
1858-59, F. W. Coate and C. J. Campbell;

from 1859 to 1861, C. J. Campbell and |

Jl. W. Brent were; since then the list
is as follows:

1861-62—Robert Spratt, J. E. Ellis.
1862-63—Robert Spratt, A. W. Otter.
1863-64—A. W, Otter, J. W. Young.
1864-65—C. J. Campbell, S. G. Wood.
1865-1866—\Villiam Ince, S. G. Wood.
1866-67—William Ince, John Catto. *
1867-68—John Catto, A. Blachford.
1868-69—A.. Blachford, W. T. Rielly.
1869-71—W. T. O'Rielly, G. W. Buck-

land.
1871-72—G. W. Buckland, John Catto.
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1872-72—John Catto, John W. Young,
1873-T5~—A.. ?lachford, G. S. Holme-
sted.
1875-76—A. Blachford, H. J. Browne.
1876-77—H. J. Browne, W. H. Oates.
1877-718—W. H. Oates, R. H. Bethune.
1878-79—R. H. Bethune, E. F. Oates.
1879-80—E. F. Oates, William Ince.
1880-81—G. S. Holmested, W. S. Taylor.
1881-82—W. S. Taylor, H. J. Browne.
1882-81—H. P. Blachford, William Hill.
1884-87—H. P. Blachford, W. Kerste=
man, jun.
1887-88—W. Kersteman, jun., I. J. Coo-

per.

1888-90—I. J. Cooper, C. H. Thompson.
1890-92—William Hill, W. P. Byrch.
1892-93—William Hill, F. A. Hall.

1893-95—H. P. Blachford, Edmund
*Vragge.

1805-98—H. P>, Blachford, Aulrey
White.

1898-99—C. J. Agar, W. H. Tippet.

For nearly fifty years the secret of
who it was that built Holy Trinity
Church was well kept, but about 1894
the name kecame known, and in 1897
the churchwardens thus alluded to the
matter in their report:

“By the terms of her gift, her name

was expressly directed not to be dis-
closed; Lut during the last few years,
by some means or other, the name of
our benefactress has been made pub-
lic, and it is therefore committing no
breach of confidence now, in this jubi-
lee year of the church’s history, but on
the contrary, rather an appropriate oc-
casion, to make the fact known in these
pages, and more especially as the merit
of founding this church has been
ascribed to other persons. Mrs. Swale
| departed this life in the year 1844, and
tpe gift, though made by her in her
! lifetime, was not actually paid over
until after hex decease.
. “When the memorial tablet record-
ing the foundation of the church was
placed in the church, a rubbing of it
was sent 'to the Rev. H. J. Swale, and
met with his approval. Rev. H. J.
Swale died in the year 1893."

The church of the Holy Trinity coms
pleted its jubilee on Oct. 27th, 1897, and
it was celebrated by special sermons
tand services and congregational gath-
| erings. These jubilee services com-

inenced on Sunday, October 24th, and

concluded a week later, on October
! 31st. At morning prayer on Octobes
the 24th, there was an unusually lar|
congregation, the sermon being preac
ed by the Right Reverend the Bishop
{ of Algoma, the lessons being read by
. the Ven. Archdeacon Bogert.

i At night the Rishop of Teronto occu-
pied the pulpit. His discourse consisted
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of a carefully prepared sketch of the;

history of the church, its inception,
consecration and subsequent growth.
During his sermon hs paid a touching
tribute to the work done by the ERevs.
H. Scadding, D.D., and W. Stewart
Darling, besides eulogizing the la-
bours of the rector the Rev. John
Pearson.

On Tuesda{l. October 26th, a special
service was held for the school chil-
dren, when a clear and forcible ad-
dress was given by the Rev. C. J. Good-
man. curate of St. Luke’'s. After the
service a handsome brass baptismal
ewer was presented to the church by
the children of the Sunday school, to
whom an entertainment was given the
same evening in the school room.

Wednesday being the anniversary of

the consecration there was an early |
celebration of the Holy Communion at !

seven a.m., when there were about fifty
communicants, the rector and the Rev.
B. C. H. Andrews officiating. The
jubilee service proper was at 8 p.m,
and rarely has such a vast congrega-
tion gathered within the church’s walls
as on the occasion.

At seven o’ciuck there were at least
two hundred people seated in the
church, and at 7.30 it was well filled.
When the service began every seat in
the building was crowded, and num-
bers were accommodated with .chairs
who otherwise would have had to
stand.

The choir, with the clergy and bishop
entered the church by the west door
at ten minutes past eight, the pro-
cessional hymn being 393 A. & M,
“Rejoice Ye Pure in Heart.” Besides
the Bishop and his chaplains, Rev. A. J.
Broughall and Rev. H. Scadding, D. D.,
there were present the clergy of the
parish, and the Revs. Arthur Baldwin,
preacher for the evening, C. B. Dar-
ling, who read the lessons, and about
forty of the clergy from Toronto and
its immediate neighbourhood.

The Rev. Arthur Baldwin’s sermon
was a clear and masterly one. He
confessed unreservedly that through

Holy Trinity church and the lessons .

taught from its pulpit by “those faith-
ful teachers Scadding, Darling and
Pearson,” a higher tone had been
given Canadian churchmanship, that
Holy Trinity had proven a blessing,
not only to its own people, but to the
Canadian church at large. The preach-
er acknowlesdged his own indebtedness
to the kindness of former rectors of
the church, and his admiration for the
life and work of the then rector.

The benediction at the close of the
. service was pronounced by the vener-

able Dr. Scadding, who as a young
man of thirty-five years of age, had
half a century previously read a por-
tion of the prayers at the consecration
of the churchb, The doctor’s voice was
hea_rd distinctly all over the church,
while the cccasion was a most impres-
sive one,

The tall figure of the doctor, in sur-
phpe and hood, with his snow-white
hair and uplifted hand, the white-robed
clergy and choristers grouped kneel-
ipg about him, and the vast congrega-
t§on. all constituted a scene as beau-
tiful as it was solemn. For a brief
moment after the doctor’s words had
ceased there was absolute silence, “a
silence that could be felt,”” and then
rising from their knees, led by the
choir, the whole congregation joined
in singing the Te Deum,

On Thursday, October 28th, there was
a re-union of the past and present
members of the congregation in the
school room, when addresses were de-
livered by the rector, by Dr. Scadding,
and by Messrs. William Ince and S. G.
Wood.

The Jubilee services at Holy Trinity
were brought to a close on Sunday,
October 2ist, the preacher at the morn-
ing service being the Right Rev. the
Lord Bishop of Huron, who was most
attentively listened to by a large con-
gregation,

CHAPTER VL
8T. STEPHEN'S.

The First Church in the City _West of
Spadina Avenue—Its Foundep.

The following account of this church
and its services was first published in
1887, It reads:

“It was an ideal Sunday; a gentle
breeze tenipered the sunshine that en-
wrapped the city with its golden glory
and made the day enjoyable to the
thousands threading the streets and
avenues, on their to church. The
ringing of the little bell from the open
belfry of St. Stephen’s warned the ob-
server that his notebook must be other-
wise occupied than with street scenes,
and he entered the pretty church and
found a comfortable seat in a retired
corner of the north transept.

“The Church of England people may
well rejoice in the possession of so
pretty and so ornate 2 building as that
of St. Stephen’s. It is constructed of
red brick with stone facipgs, and is
almost perfect as an illustration of
true ecclesiastical architecturs, the
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style being early English Gothic.
mere giance at the exterior at once re-
veals the gracefulness of outline and
the erigina.ity of conception, and yet
a conception that is in harmony with
true art. It is the testimony of Eng-
lish people who live in Toronto that
this little cburch, almost more than
any other in the city, at once pictures
to their minds the vine-embowered
chapels and historic shrines of their

dear npative land. The mawmn entrarce

is on Bellevue avenue, although there
I8 a porch on College street and an
entrance from the rectory grounds on
the south. The building facing the ave-
nue is 103 x 34 feet, with two shallow
transepts measuring 12 feet; the chan-
cel has a depth of 30 feet and is 20
feet wide. Above the altar are three
large stained glass, lancet-shaped win-
gows; the left has inscribed upon it:
“The Tayspring from on High Hath
isited Us,” while on the right can
be seen, “I am the Resurrection and
the Life.” The central one of the
three has an image of a dove hover-
ing above the monogram I. H. S., while
a chalice is pictured helow. The altar
is_a. plain one, covered with gilt-
fringed red cloth, and has the word
“Jesus” embroidered in black letters
upon a white background, while above
this was arranged
white flowers. On the panelling of the
altar the letters A and O
graved, signifying the first and the

a collection of

ara en- .

last, Alpha and Omega being the first |
and last latters of the Greek alpha- |

bet, the languig: which J.sus spcke.
Within the chancel there are six smu.!
lancet windows, and the ceillng is
painted a dark blue, dotted with gilt
stars, The organ is a small, but fine-
toned instrument. Its pipes, as well
as the general painting of the church,
are more of a fanciful character, in
the way of decoration, than of an
ornamental onme. The organ chamber
and robing room are one and the same,
on the south side of the chancel.

The church seats 600 people, and it
is not luxurious, but it is thoroughly
ecclesiastical in design and arrange-
ment. The seats are plain, darkly
stained and uncushioned; the floor is
uncarpeted, save the aisles, which are
covered with matting. A stone bap-
tismal font stands within the north-
ern transept, just to the right of the
pulpit, and has inscribed upon its base,
“Suffer little children to come unto
Me and forbid them not.”

Scriptural mottoes are painted above
the transepts in fanciful colours, while
suitable selections indite the windows,

: friendly minister has made

A ‘ of which there are eight in the walls

and eight in the roof. Above the arch-
way of the chancel is inscribed: “Iwill
wash mine hands in innocency; 80 will
I compass thine altar, O Lord.”

The impression of the Dhuilding is one
of comfort, notwithstanding its lack
of those furnishings and adornments
that one naturally expects in connec-
tion with the idea of comfort. Some-
how the architecture with its grace
and harmony gives & restful feeling
to th: worshippers; there is nothing
in the structure to disturb a refined
senss of proportion.

Rented seats are unknown in St.
Stephen’s Church. Whatever exclusive-
ness may be charged against the Church
of England, it must be admitted that,
with few exceptions, its management
in this city is conducted upon the prin-
ciple of a free Gospel. And St.
Stephen’s is one of its parishes that
exemplifies the charity it theoretically
holds, viz., freedom to worship God
without being assessed for the privi-
lege. Every sitting in this church is
absolutely free to any one. You may
choose your own place and you will be
heartily welcome to occupy it; no rents
are taken, no assessments laid; every-
thing in its financial income goes upon
the voluntary system, and, as a con-
sequance, the entire property of the
parish, worth about $30,000, is free of
debt, and the offertory last year was
increased over 85 a Sunday. The
free seat system, together with an ad-
vantageous location in a growing part
of the city, and a most genial and
this em-
phatically a “people’s church.” The
congregation on the Sunday morning
referred to was evidence of the fact;
it was not made up of wealthy or aris-
tocratic people, but of people in the
middle walks of life, and people who
heard the Gospel gladly, if their par-
ticipation and interest in the service
are a criterion of judgment.

Almost every congregation im the
city has an individuality of its own;
it may partake largely of the neigh-
bourhood in which it 1s located, or it
may so imbiba the spirit of the pastor
in charge as to receive its distinctive
St. Stephen’s three things specially im-
sort of prrsonal entity. In the case of
presses the writer, viz., the heartiness
with which tha congregation joined in
the service, the excellence of the sing-
ing, and th» large majority of young
people and children in attendance. So
far as the reporter could see, only nine
grey-headed persons were noticeable;
the remainder, and the congregation,
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as is usual, was a very Jarge one, was
mainly composed of young persons.
Very many children were there, and
they were reverent children, too; all
followed the service slosely, and with
apparent interest; the decorum
throughout was devout and proper; the
people seemed to be there to worship
and for no other purpose.

“The only thing that seemed anoma-
lous in the whole proceeding was the
entrance into the chancel of the choir
boys and men without surplices; and
they entered irregularly, some from the
nave and some from the vestry, there
being no processional or recessional
hymn. But they sang well; the chant-
ing was in exact time with concerted

“Rev. C. B. Kenrick, M.A., became the
curate in October, 1886, and is also su-
perintendent of the Sunday school. He
took the opening service and recited
the creed, the prayers and litany. The
rector, Rev. A. J. Broughall, read the
lessons and preached the sermon. He
is a gentleman in middle life with hair
and beard plentifully sprinkled with
gray. In personal intercourse and in
the conduct of church service he is
perfectly natural and unrestrained;
he is of easy manner, not oratorical in
delivery, but has a clear, distinct,
pleasant voice which holds the interest
of his hearers to the end. His sermon
was a short utterance of useful truth
plainly but foreibly put; it was no iter-

ST. STEPHEN’S CHURCH, FROM BELLEVUE AVENUE

action and fine expression. A notice-
able feature was the evident familiar-
ity of the people in the pews with the
music that was used. And it was no
flimsy, trashy, sentimental dish-water
music; the chorals, the Te Deum and
Benedictus, and the hymns were all
dignified, sublime and had soul in them.
The entire service is choral, the ming-
ling of the clear young voices of the
IYoys with the deeper and heavier tones
of the men, and these with the velu-
minous tones of the vast audience pro-
duced a most pleasant and artistic ef-
fect; indeed, the comgregation seemed
almost proficient as the choir, and
it was really an Inspiring service.

ation and reiteration of trite sayings
that have no interest in them save the
interest that belongs to age; it was a
practical outline and appeal whereby
the Christian grace of alms-giving was
shown to be a beneficial factor in pro-
ducinfz happiness not only to the recipi-
ent but to the donor. The text was
taken froen the Acts; “It is more
blessed to give than to receive.” After
explaining the circumstances that gave
rise to these words and the significance
of the fact that they are the only re-
corded words of Chirst ountside the
Gospels, he said:

“These words have a s{faingee but true
ring about them. The world and many
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Christians admit tfeir justice, but do
not act according to them. To Te-
ceive anything is a blessing, but it is
a greater blessing to confer a benefit.

“In Christian benevolence there is an
element of the divine; it is divine t.o,
give; it is human to receive, God is '
the Good because He isever dispensing
blessings on all. Ohirst was always|
giving, either strength or health or
life or love or tenderness; He looked
upon men as members of one great
fraternity, and in so far as we give do
we resemble Him.

“Christianity is founded upon forget-
fulness of self. There is a kind of re-
ligion that is selfish; it sings hymns
about heaven; it prays for its own
needs, and sheds a few delicious {ears
of repentance in its closet; it gives
money to its own church, and for its
own pew accommodation. This is not
Christ’s religion. To be good and hon-
est in every day’s action and transac-
tion, to do as one would be done by, is
Christianity.

“By giving we giorify God. The prac-
tice of love and good-will, and to bhe
benevolent and *Nnd, distinguish the
servants of God. Giving does good to
ourselves, and has a wholesome and
beneficial effect, because the exercise
of moral virtues tends to their growth
and stability. The philanthropist is
always a happy man. Modern agnosti-
cism teaches that each man realizes
happiness by sacrificing himself to the
good of others, and yet Christ taught
that truth eighteen hundred years ago.

“The sermon was only - twenty-two
minutes in length, but it was brimful
of such sentences. They were illus-
trated by short quotations from the
poets and by references to Bishop Bur-
nett and the philanthropist Howard.
It was a valuable sermon, and all the
more 80 because terselv expressed. It
closely held the attention of the large
congregation, and doubtless produced
a practical response among the people.

“In 1858, November 28th, the (first
service was held in the church, which
was built, entirely at his own expense,
by Robert B. Denison, the third son
of the late Colonel G. T. Denison, who
died in 1853. Anglicans west of Spa-
dina avenue in those days were few
in number; but the provision made for
the outreaching population by the
building of this church was a wise
one, as is shown in its large member-
ship, there being 385) communicants
now connected with his parish. The
corner occupied by the church, rectory
and school housz has very much in-
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creased in value. At first it was a
field among many surrounding fields,
with tangled thickets and forest trees
on the north; now beautiful lawns,
commodious Tresidences and a {ine
avepue take their place. The congre-
gation was very small at first, com-
posed of only a few earnest workers;
but the spirit of consecration to the
work kept it alive, and slowly grow-
ing, until, with the coming population,
a large parish and a most successtul
one has been established. Nothing of
historical moment occurred in the life
of the congregation until the year
18G5, save a change of rectors, the
first incumbent, Rev. J. H. McCollum,
being succeeded in April, 1861, by Rev.
A. J Broughall. On October 26th, 1865,
the church, which cost $10,000, was de-
stroyed by a fire that consumed every-
thing save the walls. The flames were
seen first issuing from the vestry win-
dow, and it is supposed an attempt
was being made to rob the safe in
that room, when by some accident the
building was fired by the burglars.

“The congregation then met in the
late Col. Cumberland’s house, and its
irrepressible spirit immediately rebuilt
the church, so that in March of the
following year it was re-opened for
service. In 1878 the building was en-
larged by the addition of the transepts,
but it is again too small, and further
enlargements and improvements are in
contemplation. It is noteworthy that
every addition and improvement was
paid for as soon as finished. Land was
bought to the south for a rectory, and
later on an additional plot, upon ‘which
was built aschoolhouse capable of ac-
commodating 400. But the Sunday
school, which numbers 650, is too large -
for the building, and the overflow is
accommodated in the church. The
school buiiding and the rectory will
also be’ enlarged and improved. No-
thing seems to be wanting to mark
St. Stephen’s as one of the most flour-
ishing churches of the city. Its con-
stituency is not a wealthy one, but
the work it is doing is better work,
perhaps, on that account, because it
brings the blessings of the Gospel to
the poor. Both the rector and assist-
ant clergy labour self-sacrificingly and
lovingly with a spirit of humility and
consecration that is very commendable.
Indeed, voluntary work is character-
istic of the parish, and its aim is to
directly interest its membership not
only in acts of worship, but in prac-
tical service.

“The choir, under the direction of
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Mr. C. E. Burch, the organist, does its
work as an act of voluntary service. It
is composed of twenty boys and eight
men. There is a flourishing C. E. T. S.
connected with the church, and also a
Band of Hope, together with a Ladies’
Aid and Benevolent Society. The in-
come is about $3,500 a year, and $270
from the Sunday school, a most liberal
showing, when the circumstances of
the people of the parisl‘l are considered.”
* . . * .

Since June, of 1886, the year in which
the preceding portion of this account
of St. Stephen’s was written, there

have been varicus changes in the con-

N,

the Rev. J. H. McCollum. He was in
office from November, 1858, until April,
1861, when he resigned and the Rev.
A. J. Broughall was appointed by Dr.
Strachan, the then Bishop of Toronto,
the vacant rectory. The following
is a complete list of the whole of the
clergy who have been connected with
St. Stephen’s since its foundation:
Rectors—Rev. J. H. McCollum, 1858-
1861; Rev. A. J. Broughall, 1861-1898.
Locum tenens, January to June, 1882
(owing to illness of the rector)—Rev.
C. H. Shortt.
Assistant clergy—Rev. C. B. Kenrick,
1886-1888 ; Rev. Professor Clark, spe-

INTERIOR OF ST. STEPHEN’S CHURCIL

gregation and buildings, but none in
the rector.

In 1890 considerable enlargements
were made in the church, the chancel
as described in the earlier portion of
this article, being taken down and a
more spacious one erected in its stead,
together with an organ chamber and
clergyman’s vestry to the south, also
a northern chamber of considerable
seating capacity. The nave was also
extended eastward; the new portion in-
tended to be part of a much larger
church than the present one, yet to
be erected.

The first rector of St. Stephen’s was

cial preacher from October, 1888, until
August, 1891; Rev. J. S Broughall,
1890-1892; Rev. E. Vicars Stevenson,
1892-1895; Rev. E. H. Capp, who began
hiS work in the district in September,
1895.

The list of waypdens includes some
well-known names. Unfortunately, ow-
ing to the first church baving been
destroyed by fire, the minutes of the
vestry up to 1865 cannot be referred
to, but the first wardens, from 1878 un-
til 1862, were these:

Lieut.-Col. R. B. Denison, Lieut.-Col.
F. W. Cumberland.

Succeedinz them have been the fol-
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lowing gentlemen, some of whose names
are well known.

1865-67, F. W. Coates and F. Arm-
strong; 1867-71, F. W. Coates and H. L.
Hime ; 1871-72, F. D. Bostwick and Jonas
Ap Jones; 1872-73, F. D. Bostwick and
Mr. Williamson ; 1873-74, J. Pepler and
Mr. Walker; 1875-76. J. Pepler and F.
D. Bostwick ; 1876-78, F. D. Bostwick and
J. D. Oliver; 1878-79, J. D. Oliver and
J. Pepler; 1879-81, Edward Brown and
Dr. Machell; 1881-82, N. Weatherstone
and Dr. Machell; 1882-83, John Carter
and R. T. Fuller; 1883-84, J. D. Oliver
and Dr. Machell; 1884-85, E. B. Brown
and R. T. Fuller; 1885-86, J. Pepler and
W. A. Brown; 1886-87, W. A. Brown
and G. Mercer Adams; 1887-88, W. A.
Brown and F. W. Ball; 1888-90, J. H.
Patterson and Dr. Machell; 1830-92, J.
H. Patterson and W. A. Brown and W.
Cook ; 1893-2{, W. J. Mitchell and W.
Cook; 1894-95, W. J. Mitchell and E.
B. Temple; 1896-99, John Alley and
Walter Nation.

About 1890 the choir of St. Stephen’s
were vested in oassacks and surplices, a
change looked upon by the great bulk
of the congregation as being one very
much for the better. Mr. M. de G.
Wedd is the present organist (1896),
having faken the place so well filled
by Mr. Burch.

CHAPTER VIL
ST. JOHN'S.

The 014 Military Church—Xts History and
Development.

On the west side of Portland street,
at the corner of Stewart, just below
King, is an historic piece of ground
owned by the Ontario Government, but
cared for by the city. It is called Vie-
toria Square, and is the site of the
old military burial ground. It was at
one time the intention to build Gov-
ernmen’ House on St. Clarence Square
and then open Wellington street
through this old burial ground. A
subsequent change of design was made
and the ground was not broken. Until
recently it was in a very dilapidated
condition; nearly all marks of the old
graves were obliterated, and it was an
ordinary common. Buat the city re-
clalmed it from this condition, put it
into respectable shape, and erected
about it a neat fence. In the north-
west corner may be seen a few of the
old tombstones, the only relics of the
military heroes whose graves are now
entirely lost, y

any years ago the Government

made a grant of two acres to the
(“lgurch of England, so that a churoh
might be erected wherein the soldiery
could worship without being obliged
to march down from the Fort te St.
James Cathedral. The church was to
be erected on Portland street; out, on
account of the conftemplated opening
up of a street through the. ground,
the northern section was given, and the
church was built on Stewart street,
back of Portland, where it now stands.
At the corner, protected by two posts,
may Yyet be seen the stone, with a
broad arrow engraved upon it, to show
that that is Government land. This is
the Church of St. John the Evangel-
iet. Il was the military church until
187¢. The soldiers worshippsd there,
and now ssats are assigned to the offi-
cers and soldiesrs of No. 2 Co., R.R.C.I.
There are about 40) graves in Victoria
Square, some of them the resting place
of men very prominent in the early
history of Canada. The father-in-law
of the late Chief Justice Harrison, the
grandfather of the late Lieutenant-
Governor Robinson, children of Sir
John Colborne, and other officers are
buried there. And so sacred are these
graves in the memory of some that
the descendants of thess long-buried
so'diers bring their children to St.
John’s church for baptism, and many
a marringe is consecrated there bhe-
cause of the veneration felt for the
dead heroes lying outside.

In the history of Toronto’s churches
already frequently quoted is the fol-
lowing description, not of St. John’s
as it 19 to-day, but as it was in, 1887,
It is well worth quoting, as it describes
a building now fast becoming a faint
memory :

“The original church is still to be
seen. It is a low-built, quaint-looking
structure, bearing about it an air of
antiquity which gives an old building
that veneration challenging our re-
spact, There is a small porch on the
north, with an odd-looking little belfry
beside it. The chancel is built in ap-
sidal form on the east. The original
building was enlarged by the addition
of a transept on the south. It is now
rough-coated, though in the early days
it was simply a clap-board building.

| It cost less than £100, and seated 500

persons, special sittings being set apart
for the military. The transept affords
room for 100 additional sittings. The
church was built about 1860. At the
west end is a very uncouth-looking
old gallery, projeéting its cumbersome
Lody well out into the aisle. It was
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intended tc receive an organ, but never
realized the intention. The interior is

very suggestive of an English chapel, |

and with all’ its unique characteristics
is a comfortable, if not a pretty, church.
The charpcel is neat and pretty, and
contains seats for the choir, with a
handsome 18-stop Warren' organ in the
north-east corner. The roof is upheld
by light open timber-work, and neatly
stained glass windows set in the low
walls add to the picturesque appear-
ance of the edifice. It is a very plain
building, but, for all that, it is inter-
esting. Perhaps it is the memory of
the dead outside that invests it with
so much historic value. Just west of
it is a rough-cast school-house, 60x40
feet, and on Portland street, at the
southern line of the grant, is a com-
fortable rectory.

“At first open-air meetings were held
in thas West End, with the design of

finally organizing a parish that should '

take in what is known as “the com-
mons.” Church of England people then
began holding service in St. Andrew’s
Market, where a Sunday school was
also established. The congregations en-

larged, until the outlook for the build- !
ing of a church became very hopeful.
At this inception period of St. John’s, :

Revs. Dr. Lett and T.Smith Kennedy
were especially active in the mission-
ary effort. The new congregation wor-
shipped in St. Andrew’s Market until
it was destroyeds by fire, and then the
church was built. It was a free church
and th- fashionable one of that day.
The military gava it a social prestige;

people well known in Toronto society |
and wealthy then lived in that section |

of the city, and gave their patronage
and support to the little church. But
the transfer of the residential centre
to the’ north-east sadly ecrippled the
church, so that, in that respect, it has
very largely lost its ancient prestigs

and influsnce. The people now attend-

ing it, as comports with the neigh-
bourhood, ar: mostly of the working
classes, Not that the church is not so
valuable and important, perbaps it is
more so now; but, as the world and
society go, it has lost its ancient Te-

nown. Like the sleepers in the un-:

known graves by its side, soits former
greatness and glory have departed for-
ever. The fault is not in the church,
but in the natural causes that move

the residential centre and induce peo- -

ple to seek more modern and more
luxurious places of worship. But even
as it ig, some of its parishioners come
a long distance to worship in the old

ich}{x_‘ch, passing by more pretentious
' edifices on their way.

. “Among its founders may be men-
. tioned Messrs. D. B. Read, Lewis Mof-
fatt, George Monro, Stephen Oliver,
]\Vllham Armetrong, Archibald Cam-
eron, F. Capreol, F. Widder and Chan-
cellor Spragge. The first rector was
Rev. T. 8. Kennedy, deceased, in whose
. honour a memorial tablet is placed in
the southern wall of the chancel. Ha
' was assisted by Revs. A. J, Broughali,
| now of St. Stephen’s, ard G. T. Car-
ruthers, successively as curates. Rev.
J. H. I'lowman was the second rector,
and he was succeeded by the present
rector, the Rev. Alex. Williams, M. A.,
who began his rectorate in 1863, Mr.
- Williams is a native Canadian and a
graduate of Trinity College. At the
time he graduated he was too young
| to be ordained, 8o for one year he act-
ed mns tutor, after which he was or-
dained, in 1235, by Bishop Strachan.
In company with two bther mission-
aries he then had charge of the mis-
sion work along the St. Clair, covering
territory 60 miles long by 12 miles
wide. After four years’ hard labour he
was compelled to desist on account of
sickness. H> almost lost the use of his
voice, and for six years engaged in
the work of teaching. He was remark-
ably successful and had under his
tutelage a number of pupils who have
' become prominent men. He is most
affectionately and kindly sno'en of biy
these, who trace much of their ability
and success to his teaching. The same
admirable personal qualities that
bound him to hig pupils have endeared
his ‘present parishioners to him and
the most cordial relations exist bhe-
‘ tween him and them.

“When his voice was sufficiently re-
stored he returned to the active minis-
try and was an assistant with Rev.
Saltern Giving, at St. Paul’s, York-

. ville, from which position he came to
St. John’s. Incidentally the writer as-
- certained that his salary for twelve
| years as n clergyman did not exceed
! 8300 yearly, a notable example of de-
votion and self-sacrifice.

i "The boundaries of the parish of St.
John the Evangelist are Queen and
Defoe on the north, Spadina on the
east, the Bay on the south, Tecumseth
and Garrison Creek on the west. This
church gave St. Anne’s a part of its
parish, St. Mathias’ another part, and
is the origin of the whole of St.
Philip’s. St. Mathias’ church began
from a Sunday school and miss‘on held
on what is now Claremont street, and
which were handed over by St. John's



LANDMARKS OF TORONTO.

31

to the professors and students of Trin-
ity College, and finally organized into |
a successful and flourishing parish.
The attendance at St. John’s is very |
good, especially at the evening service.
There are boys’ and girls’ guilds and
the ladies of the parish are energetic
workers. A parish monthly is pub-
lished under the vrector’s editorial |
supervision and has a circulation of |
400, There are about 175 communi- |
cants, and the income is $1,50) yearly. |
Strangers are most cordially treated
and are made welcome to the best
seats. The service is in the old English
style, the organ accompanying the |
monotone. The people respond heartily |

i

]

)
|

and sing well, congregat onal singing
being especially encouraged. The music

ST. JOIN’S CILURCIH,

The matter wiil be delayed only until
a_sufficient amount of money is
pledged towards the new building.

. . . .

- »

From 1880, the date treated of in the
preceding portion of this sketch of St.
John’s, until 1892, is not a great space
of time, and yet it sufficed for great
changes to take place in St. John’s.

The church, which had been erected
thirty years previously, was only a
frame building, thoagh of churchly de-

, sign, and naturally began to show signs

of deterioration and decay. Some spoke

i of it as a discredit to the city and a

disgrace to the congregation. while to
others it had become dear. There were
associations connected with it which
could never be forgotten, and they

PYORTLAND STREET.

sclected is of simple character so as
not to be beyond the reach of the peo-
ple. The Sunday school has an average
attendance of 350; the rector is gen-
eral superintendent, and is assisted
(1887-88) by A. J. Williams and D. M.
Hirman; two schools are held, one in
the church and one in the school house.
A special feature is a children’s ser-
vice and catechetical instruction by
the wector after the school hour.
“It is felt that the old church has'
largely outlived its attractiveness, and |
t is nokv in contemplation to erect a
more modern and more convenient edi-
fice at the cormer of Portland street, |

felt unable to leave their church home
so long as its timbers would hold to-
gether or its roof afford a shelter.
But the time had come for a change to
comething better, and at the vestry
meoting of Kaster, 1892, a move was
made towards the erection of a new
church, with the result that a build-
ing was erected at a cost of $16,000,
twecording to the plans of Mr. Eden
Smith, of Toronto, and those who are
competent to judge have expressed the
opinion that it is a remarkably good
example of a church built atia com-
paratively small cost, and yet contain-
ing all the comforts and conveniences
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modate about 600, in addition to a
choir of sixty voices. Adjoining the
sanctuary is a commodious clergy !
vestry, wbile in the lofty basement |
there is a large, light and airy room
for Sunday school a_chapel for daily
or weekly services, when the congrega-
tion is less than a hundred, two choir
vestries, a lavatory and a well-arrang-
ed room for a library. The buildin
is heated by two furnaces, one for ho
air.. the other a combination of hot
air and hot water; and both heating
and ventilation are most satisfactory.

The removal from the old church to
the new was marked by special ser-
vices, the closing services in the old
being held on the 30th day of April,
and conducted by the present rector
and the first curate. On this occasion
the building was crowded by an inter-
ested congregation, many of whom had
been old worshippers in St. John’s, who
desired to avail themselves of the last |
opportunity of worship in the old de-
caying church, where many well-
known men had worshipped. The min-
ute book of the vestry gives us hrief |
notice of some of these, such as Vice- |
Chancellor Spragge, John Duggan, |
Stephen Oliver, %3 M. Carruthers,
Archibald Cameron, George Monro,
Lewis Moffatt, Wm. Gamble, and
others, who in their lifetime helped on
this parish in its earlier days.

There are three memorial tablets in
St. John’s church, one on tha southern
wall of the chancel, removed from the
old building in memory of Rev. Thos.
Bmith Kennedy. This is of marble,
and is surrounded by the armourial
bearings of the deceased. The second
is a brass about 20x15 inches, erect-
ed by the officers, non-commissioned
officers and men of the Infantry School
- Corps, in memory of Arthur J. Wat-
son. a private in “C” Company, who
¢7as_killed in action at Fish Cireek,
April 24th, 1885, during the North-west
rebellion, and Herbert Founlkes, a bug-
ler of the same company, who fell at
Cut Knife May 2nd, 1885. This brass
is on the eastern wall of the southern
transept. In the northern transept is
a marble tablet in memory of William
Postlethwaite, who was drowned at sea,
July 11th, 1891, The flagon and chalice
of sterling silver, used in the Holy
Communion, are mementoes of Colonel
and Mrs. Mountain, who presented
them to the church when the Colonel’s
duties recalled him to England.

The chancel contains several fine
stained glass windows, one in memory
of the late Samuel! Bickerton Harman,
erected by his four sons; another to
the late Captain Prince; two more in
remembrance of members of the Risley |

of a modern building. "It will accome- [

. evangelist

family; and a fifth placed there by
Mr. E. T. Lightbourne. They represent
the Savicur with St. John and St.
Mary on either side, the apostle and
St. Matthew, and Christ
blessing little children.

On May 4th, 1893, the new church
was opened for divine service, the band
of the R. R. C. I. (since abolished)
assisting in the service. The choir, male
and female, all arrayed in surplices
for the first time. was largely aug-
mented by outside help, the service be-
ing fully choral. The Bishop of Toronto

| was the preacher.

The following have been the officiat-
ing clergy at St. John’s since its foun-
dation:

Rev. Thomas Smith Kennedy, from
the formation of the congregation in
old St. Andrew’s Hall to the time of

. his death in 1862: Rev. John Herbert

Plowman, 1863 to 1865; Rev. Alexander
Williams, appointed in 1865, is still in-
cumbent.

During the incumbency of Mr. Ken-
nedy he was assisted by Rev. A. J.
Broughall, who was promoted to the
incumbency of St. Stephen’s, Toronto.
The vacancy thus created was filled
by Rev. G T. Carruthers, who remained
in connection with the church till the
death of Mr. Kennedy. He was after-
wards a chaplain in the East India
gervice, from which he retired after
25 years’ service, and is now living in
England, but taking only occasional
duty (1898).

The churchwardens’ list is a long
one, and includes some well known
names. It is as follows:

1858-1859—G. W. Houghton, G. H. Lane.
1859-1869—Arcl$m1d Cameron, David B.

Read.
1860-1861—Archibald Cameron, Stephen
Oliver.
1861-1862—Geo. Mours, Stephen Oliver.
1862-1864—J. Thorpe, Stephen Radcliffe.
1865-1866—E. M. Carruthers, Col. Moun-

tain.
1866-1869—E. M. lCarruthers, ‘William
mble.
1869-1870—James H. Morris, John Maug-
h

an.
1870-1871—John Maughan, Wm. Hope.
1871-1874—Thomas W. Shortiss, Colin
W. Postlethwaite.
1874-1875—George B. Kirkpatrick, Colin
W. Postlethwaite,
1875-1876—Thox:r(xla.s G. Bright, George I.

rden.
1876-1879—C.s W. Postlethwaite, Samuel

haw.
1879-1880—G§orze D’Arcy

Boulton,
oah Barnhart.

At
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1880-1883—Dr. E. W. Spragge, Thomas

G. Bright.
1883-1885—Dr. E. W. Spragge, Peter
) Clarke.
1885-1887—Dr. E. W. Spragge, E. T.
Lightbourne.

1887—D. M. Harman, R. L. Barwick. !

1888—James Wilson, D. M. Harman.

1889-1891——. Weir, W. Ex D. Tighe.

1891-1899—C. W. Postlethwaite, James
Wilson.

CHAPTER VIIL
CEMETERY CHAPEL.

The Predecesser of the Present 8t Peters
—HMHow the Work was Extended.

On land hallowed by the memory of
the just dead, and not desecrated by
that of the unjust, if th: remains of
any such be buried within the pre-
cincts of the cemetery of St. James,
stands the Cemetery Chapel, other-
wise known by its dedicatory name of
the Chapel of St.James the Less. The
handsome little sanctuary, enshrined
in a grove of low-growing oaks and
maples and flowering shrubs, stands
in a space made by tha branching into
two avenues of the road from the large
gates of the cemetery. From these
gates the chapel is distant only 100
yards or so.

Its doors face the west.
outside its appearance
turesque. Its architectural style is
Elizabethan. The building is of grey
stone, in places ornamented by most
choice carving. A tower strongly
broad at the base and tapering grace-
fully to a thin spire stands at the
south-west angle. To the south ex-
tends a small transept. A large grat-
ed door in the heavy stone foundation
of the rear and eastern end of the
chapel opens into the ante.chamber of
the dead house. Past the heavy oak
doors is a gloomy crypt whose roof is
supported by heavy masonry columns.
Here on shelves ranged along the
walls, while the frosts of winter hold
the ground, lie the coffins and hodies
of departed men, women and children.
When the warmth of spring breaks
the icy chains of the soil ths willing
grave without receives the ghostly
freight of the vault. The north side
of the chapel is the plainest in ap-
pearance, though herein massive cor-
nices and other ornamentations of the
stonecutter’s art are to e seen at
their perfection. Over all the build-
ing spring twining Virginia creepers.
From the base of the tower the parent
vine, a very tree in girth, shoots leaf-
covered branches to where the spire
begins its slanting climb. To the

From the
is most pie-

couthern. walls, where the sun beats
warmest and longest dvring the day,
like verdure clings lovingly. ‘The
transept end is screened, as it were,
artistically. And over ths entrance to
the temgporaxy resting place, the vine
branches droop. On the north wall is
no vine. All about the chapel, except
to the south, are graves and tombs,
and, as might be supposed, as being
nearest the gates, these are the graves
of bodies longest buried.

A broad gravel walk at the head of
a few steps terminates in a broad
stone flag. This in turn leads to sev-
eral stone stairs flanked by heavy
stone balustrades with iron guards.
The gloomy wooden porch bears the
brown rust but not the decay of many
years, and has been pictured often by
artists, whose pencils have for theme
the rortrayal of soma English coun-
tryside chapel house. It is barred at
its entrance by heavy wooden gates,
breast high. ',[{vo pairs of stout oaken
doors close the way to the chapel.

And why all these bars? Within,
the comely austerity of the house is
poftened only by the quiet lLight plaf-
ing from without through the small,
coloured trefoil windows to right and
left and painting shifting pictures on
the matted floor. The massiveness of
the masonry and doors is thus ex-
plained;,—In the old days the bodies
of the dead were carried through the
chapel and let down to the vaults
through a trap door in the floor of
the chancel. This trap got out of or-
der. Other reasons there were why
the place of worship should not be
connected directly with the dead
house. The trap was closed and the
outer entrance, already described, con-
structed. So the heavy doors and so-
lid walls were set up to bar out ghouls,
not worshippers.

Within, the chapel is a cathedral
jnolel. Its low vaulted roof is arched
with heavy brown-black rafters. On
either side run rows of stiff-backed
benches, capable of seating from 250
to 300 people. The walls are of smooth,
though unornamental, brick, and are
pierced on each side with three or
four spade-shaped orifices tapering
funnel wise to the little trefoil win-
dows before pointed out. The transept
is lighted by three larger coloured win-
dows. 8o, too, iz the chancel an art-
ist’s study in soft browns and greys,
and where the light of the large orna-
tnental windows in the east end plays

on the crimson upholstery of the
altar, in reds, changing to all
the colours in heaven’s arc.
Here stand on each side a single

row of scats for the choristers and
a small organ. On the handsome
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THE CEMETERY CHAPEL,

wainscotting to right and left hang to the Honour of Almighty God and
framed translations of the ILatin in- | His Son Jesus Christ, the Author of
scription, borne by a black-lettered | Eternal Life, for the perpetual use of
brazen tablet under the large win- | the faithful in the performance of the
dows. This is what the translation | burial service and the other public
BAyS i— i rites of the Church of England, was

i

THE DEDICATORY DESCRIPTION o happily completed in the Year of Grace
This chapel, built over a temporary | 1861

resting place for the dead, dedicated John Strachan, Doctor of Divinity,

under the name of St. James the Less | being Bishop.
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Henry James Grasett, Bachelor of
Divinity, being Rector.

Thomas Dennie Harris and Joseph
Davis Ridout, Cathedral Wardens.
Frederic William Cumberland
William George Storm, Architects.
But to be appreciated the paradoxi-
cal passing beauty of this plain inter-
ior must be clouded over by nothing
more than the shade of the great walls.
The outside world must smile. The
sun must shine. Else the spirit of the
worshipper or visitor already from the
nature of his surroundings predisposed
to gloom will sink within him. Such
was the experience of the writer. After
a lengthy walk through drizzling rain
he found himself in the chapel, dimly

and

lighted at organ, reading desk and pul- |

pit with three brightly burnished

lamps.

and dusk of many a perfect day. All
was now a dull brown except where
the unchanging light through the win-
dows and from behind the thick clouds
cast fixed images on the floor. Atout

on the benches were scattered a few |
people, men, women and children. The |

church goer seated himself far back
and prepared to resign himself to wor-
ship under the most cheerless condi-
tions.
six-year-old men of the world who
looked cheery as one who would say,
“To-morrow X will shine.
I not enjoy to-day’s rain?’ Fre-
quently he dropped his copper on the
floor and climbed down after it and
back again with a famous clatter of
heavy soled toots, Wo one minded him.
Bless his great heart! {His content
had in it more worship than the de-
vout downheartedness of the older
men about him. A drenched sparrow
out in the vines around the tower’s
base chirpad dolefully and the rain
pattered softly on the roof.

The door leading to the single little
vestry to the south of the chancel
opened and the minister appeared and
knelt in prayer. At sight of his fine
cheery old countenance when he turn-
ed and faced his flock, gloom vanished.
The small boy again dropped his coin
and hardly suppressing a whoop went
down under the seat after it. The
small congregation responded with
fervor in the grand old service. Its
voice rose, indeed a. grateful incense,

with that of the sweet toned
organ. The s$ervice was finish-
od and the minister charged

his people. He spoke on Romans xv. {—
*For whatsoever things were written

'There was no longer the play ;
of soft colour seen before at dawn, noon |

In front of him was one of your,

Why should |

|
aforetime were written for our learn-
ing, that we t{hrough patience and
comfort of the Seriptures might Lave
hope.” And stoutly did he defend and
| earnestly did he plead for his Mas-
;ter’s Book. His was the sermon of a
{ thoughtful, scholarly man, with a
mind tempered by the experience of
many years of devotion to his cuuse.
He spoke in the choicest languaige to
i the hearts of his hearers. His fatherly
benediction at the close was one of
those tangible blessings which, alas!
one 100 seldom carries away from wor-
ship. The small boy dropped his cop-
per just before the plate reached him,
and captured it on the roll while the
steward waited. While the people ex-
changed greetings in the porch the
clouds lifted a little and the sun shot
a cheery beam on the lad as he
whistled to the sparrow chirping in
| the road, and scurried off for home.
The chapel is strictly extra parochial;
the cemetery in which it stands being
in charge of the rectors and church-
wardens of St. James. It was origin-
ally intended for use as a mortuary
chapel only. But in 1863 Rev. Samuel
J. Boddy, then and for 17 years there-
after the chaplain of the cemetery,
and now Toronto’s Archdeacon, enter-
ed on the conduct of public service.
| His congregation soon Increased large-
ly in size, and a Temoval from the
little chapel over the dead house he-
came necessary. Then was established
the parish and was built the church
of St. Peter. Rev. Mr. Boddy, as sooa
a3 his new church building was com-
pleted, discontinued the services in the
chapel among the tombs. Then for up-
wards of twenty long years the voice of
the worshipper was not heard in the
chapel except at services over the
kodies of the dead. Then, some four
or five years back, the people at St.
James' found it expedient to send up
their curates to minister to the
| spiritual wants of the growing Epis-
| copalian population of the district.
' Rev. Dyson Hague and Rev. R. W. E.
iGreene, the latter of whom is now
i living In Orillia, conducted regular
Sabbath morning and evening services.
. The students of Wycliffe College as- °
. sisted. In March, 1826, the incumbent,
| Rev. Wiiliam Grant, M.A., B.D., was
appointed. A few months later the par-
ish of St. Simon was established, and
arrangements for the erection of a
new church were completed. Thus it
is that from the extra parochial chapel
of St. James the Less has gone forth
the nucleus of two full grown parishes,
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one of which is, and the other prom-
ives Lo be, as flourishing 23 any in
Toronto. When St. Simon’s church was
opened the chapel was closed for regu-
lar public worship.

The last minister, Rev. William
Grant, M.A., B.D., was ordained by the
Bishop of Lichfield in 1848, and has
been engaged  since 1839 in minis-
terial work in the Liocese of Toronto.
For years he tended the flock at the
Jittle church in Tullamore. Canon Du
Moulin appoinied him to his position
in March, 1886.

He was a perfect type of the old
sctiool English church preacher, cheery,
ruddy-faced and bright-eyed. His ser-
mons were careful, scholarly, thought-
ful and. earnest expositions of the
Word.

CHAPTER IX.
ST. PETER'S.

The Origin ef the Chureh—VWhe Orig nated
the Building--The First Members.

This well known church is on the
north side of Carlton street, east of
Sherbourne, at the corner of Bleeker
street. It is a modern English Gothic
church with such proportions and off-
gets that it is rather picturesque in

T 1

appearance. It partakes of the clean- .
liness and peatness of that section of

the city in which it is located. There
is an assimilation of property and peo-
ple, always observable, that deter-
mines the architectural condition of
living. Neat, cleanly and cultured
people will have homes and surround-
ings correspondingly superior. The
same rule applies to churches, so
that even the outside appearance of

a church edifice is, to a very large

extent, indicative of the kind of people
who attend it or support it. There is
an organic fitness of things that pre-
vents too rude a transition from one
extreme to another in this respect. St.
Peter’s church illustrates this prin-
ciple. It is built upon a gentle rise
and surrounded on all sides with a
beautiful green sward. Neatly-laid
-walks lead from the two streets to
all parts of the huildings and a low
iron fence surrounds
The buildings—by which is meant the
church proper and the school house—
at first sight present an almost strag-
gling appearance on account of their
low walls, transepts, annexes and
porches. But this impression is dissi-
pated by a longer study of their ap-
pearance; then the harmony and pro-

LANDMARKS OF TORONTO.

the property. ,

portion are seen to relieve the expan-
slve and cutreaching characteristics.
They are red brick buildings with
white brick relieving lines and orna-
mentation. The church stands east
and west on Carlton street, with a
handsome porch on Bleeker street and
a turret above it in which is hung
a bell. Entrances afford admission into
the porch from both streets, and the
vestry is approached from the south-
east corner.

\Vlt‘hl_n the porch are bulletin boards
containing such announcements as ap-
pertain to the service and work of {he
church, while collection boxes are con-
veniently at hand to receive money
for the poor. Should there he any dis-
appointment in the appearance of the
church externally, it will be entirely

, removed when the interior is seen.
| There is enough of the cathedral style
’ah_out it, with an amount of decor-
ation and ornamentation that gives
! the auditorium a very handsome ap-
pearance, Variegated scriptural mot-
{ toes adorn the wails. The chancet,
especially, is highly decorated, the work
of Joseph Topling, but with such an
agreement of colour and finish that none
ot the decoration is florid or profuse.
The interior walls are white brick with
red brick interlaid to vary the mon-
oteny of colour. A beautiful rose win-
dovw i3 1nserted in the facade, above
the porch, and dormerlets pierce the
roof on each side. The northern and
southerrn transspts are cosy, comfort-
able looking places, decorated in har-
mony with the nave, and lighted
from brackets. Two immense gasaliers
amply illutninate the church at night.
The iwo aisles are covered with car-
pets, but the pews are furnished in
red. Consequently, while all of them
are cushioned and carpeted, there is a
diversity of colour.
i The ceiling of the chancel is pan-
elled in dark tlue with gilt stars, and
wainscotted with carved wood. Choir
. seats are arranged on either side at
- right angles te the communion table,
and the Dbaptismal font stands
in front of the desk where
the service is read. The organ
chamber is on the northern side,
and the pipes of the instrument
are delicately painted in light and
pretty colours. An open arch in the
northern transept is filled with pipes
connected with the side of the organ,
an arrangement greatly conducive to
the tone and expression of the instru-
ment. The sound, instead of heing
smothered and buried in the chamber,
is thus gllowed vent, and the organ
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has opportunity to reveal 1ts power
and sweoiness. The tendency to cover
the walls with mottoes reaches all
parts of the chancel. On the middle
panel of the reredos is ome, “Till I

come,’” and immediately below it an- ;

other, “This do in remembrance of
Me.” There is a brilliantly painted
triple lancet east window above the

holy table, and it is a bright
and Dbeautiful piece of work-
manship. Above the arch' is

with clouds, and every eye shall see
Him.”
the altar is inscribed, “Glory to God
.in the Highest,” and on another op-
posite, “On Earth Peace, Good-will to
Men.’l

The congregation of St. James’ cem-
etery chapel met in vestry, at the resi-

dence of Mr. Frank Richardson, on'

Carlton street, on March 28th, 1864,
Rev. S. J. Boddy presiding, when it
was decided to purchase a lot of land
on Carlton street, or elsewhere,
the purpose of erecting thereon a new
church.
held on April 11th, 1861, the plans sub-
mitted by Messrs. Gundry & Langley
were approved, the church to seat
about 400 people, at a cost of $5,700.
The land upon which the church is
built was bought in 1864 for $700;
from Mr. A. Mclean Howard, later
an additional section on Bleeker street
was purchased for $320. Subsequently,
at a vestry meeting, held Nov. 10th,
1864, it was resolved to erect a plain
church building, capable of seating 400
persons, at a cost of $3,7008, 82,000 less
than the original estimate. By the
liberality of a few friends and the
procurement of a loan on a mort-
gage, the officers were enabled to
erect the church. It was named
“St. Peter’s Church” by the incumbent,
Rev. S. J. Boddy. The corner stone
was laid in the summer of 1565, and the

church was opened for scrvice June -

10, 1866, by Bishop Strachan. The after-
noon service of that day was conducted
by Rev. S. F. Ramsey, of Newmarket,
and the evening service by Rev. H.

J. Grasstt, then rector of St. James’

Cathedral. The rapid growth of that
section of the city enlarged the con-
gregation, and so much increased the
attendance that it was found neces-
sary to increase the capacity of the
church. The transepts were then
added, in 1872, and eight years later
further alterations were made, so that
now there is a seating capacity of (0.

In 1868 a small
erected east of the church on Carlton

B S I

a |
motto which rcads, “Behold He cometh °

On a banner at one side of

for |

At the adjourned meeting,

school-house wasg |

street, at a cost of about $2,000, one-
balt of which was provided by the late
Samuel Platt, ex-M.P. But it was
found to be too small for the incoming
numbers, and then the present school-
houso, north of the church, on Bieeker
street, was built in 188), at 2 cost
of $6,000. It is entirely szparate from
the church, and is an admirable build-
ing for its purposss. In 1883 it was
addilionally improved by the erection
of an annex for the infant school and
by an enlargement of the ladies’ par-
lour. The main room is cut off from
the latter, which is on the north, by
 folding glass doors, and similarly from
a large Bible cl:83 room oa the south.
A quaintly constructed gallery runs
ialong the western end of the room,

and its front is made of wood carved in
! various designs. This gallery is reached
| by stairways from the vestibule.
A long hall separates the room from
“anterrooms on the east; at the end of
. this hall is the parlour or ladies’ work-
room, as it is sometimes called. It is
| a very capacious room and affords the
benevolent ladies of St. Peter’s needed
scope for their charitable work. The
| organization of the large number of
successful. and efficient church and
charitable associations resu!ted from the
erection of the school house in the first
place. The large amount of work done
by the ladies made the recent addition
absolutely necessary.

At the east end; of th: building may
be found Lhe {a.uturies and witchens,
furnaces, storage rooms and all other
appurtenances recessary for the con-
duct of extensive church work. The
improvements cost about $3,000.

There were in 1886 two Sunday schools
connected with the church. containing
about 40 officers and teachers and 432
. scholars. The morning school has 128
' scholars enrolled, and the afternoon
school 304; a large Bible class is held
immediately after the afternoon session;
of the teachers some do not belong to
St. Peter’s church. The income last
year was nearly $200. Besides this, the
children raised more than $200 for char-
itable objects.

. The parish was constituted as the
. Cemetery Church Parish in the early
| part of January, 1863, and comprised a
' part of the north-eastern portion of the
i city sast of Sherbourne street and north
of Carlton street. Subsequently the
western boundary was extended to Jar-
vis street. and the northern boundary
| was brought down to Wellesley street.
Rev. Samue! Johnson Boddy, M.A., of
! 8t. John's College, Cambridge, was the
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‘first incumbent. He was ordained by |
the Bishop of London in 1830, and after

filling positions in Bethnal Green, in

the east. and Islington, in the north of

London, England, became one of the as-
sistant ministers of St. James’ Cathed-
ral in 1858, of which he was curate five

years. In 1880 he was appointed Rural |
Dean of Toronto, and in 1881 he succeed- |

ed the Venerable Archdeacon Whittak-

er, M.A., Provost of Trinity College, as '

Archdeacon of York.

-sionary

ed with this organization, and proves
taken with large faith. The results,
a great blessing to its members. There
are 70 names enrolled, and some of
the members live two and three miles
from the church. Thz Parochial Mis-
organization raised in 1895
$150 for the support of foreign and
domestic missions. Five minor or-
ganizations complete the working
forces of this energetic church. There
are many score of members of St.
Peter’s C.E.T.S, and many niore mem-

The Cemetery Chapel was allowed to | bers of th» Band of Hope.

be used as the church of the parish, .
and the first service was held therein '

by the present incumbent on Sunday,
January 26th,1863. The first vestry
the following evening in Mr. Frank

" Richardson’s house, when churchwar-

¥ens were elected and other business
was transacted. The Cemetery Chapel
having been foun dinadequate and in-
convenient the members of the con-
gregation at the DFHaster vestry
meeting, March 26th, 1834, authoriz-
ed the churchwardens to purchase
land for the site of a new church,
and the history then went forward as
already detailzad. The territorial
limits of the parish are not large, but
they embrace a densely ropulated sec-
tion of the city, and ona for which St.
Peter’s seems admirably adapted. At
all events it has been a most successful
church in every way, and it enjoys a
just and widely extended reputation
for charitable work.

There is a church Women’s Asso-
ciation that works for the poor,
wherever found, and the various
charitable institutions in the city,
the settlers in Alzoma and church
missions generally. The Dorcas So-
ciety, the most flourishing one in To-
ronto, meets every Tuesday afternoon
during the winter. It is careful never
to neglect a deserving case of char-
ity; in six months over 600 articles
of clothing were made by this society
and distributed among the various
charitable institutions of the city; and
then many poor have been assisted,
both in the parish and out of it. In
1885 14 large boxes of warm clothing
and Christmas tree articles were sent
to the families of destitute settlers in
Algoma. The Girlg’ Sewing Class is a
large one; it is designed to teach girls
from eigﬁxt to fourteen how to sew.
The Mothers’ Meetings is an institu-
‘tion to enable its members to buy
‘material at cost price and pay for the
same by small weekly instalments. so
‘that with comparative ease, they can
get clothing for their families, and
this, too, at a time when the cost of
fuel and want of work are apt to press
heavily. A lending library is connect-

In addition to giving efficient and
liberal support to th: services ol the
churchand Sunday schools. these chari-
table organizations have fromr time to .
time sustained and paid for the fol-
lowing :—A female medical missionary
to ths Zenanas o° India; an evangelist
at Cirivada In India; two azed women
in the Aged Women’s Home, Toronto;
a portion of the stipend of a mission-
ary to the Sioux Indiams, in the North-
west Territories; the support and edu-
cation of an Indian boy at the Shing-
wank Home; one-half of the expense
of educating the son of a missionary
belonging to the diocese o2 Algoma;
one-half of the expense of the “Faith
Cot” in the Hospital for Sick Children;
granis of clothing to various charities
and poor families in the city of To-
ronto. besides sending to various poor
parishes in ‘Algoma and the North-
west Territories boxes of clothing and
gifts and other articles for Christmas
trees.

The pews in this church are rented,
and brought in, in 1897, $2,766; the
offertory was $2,000. Besides this,
$2,600 was received from other sources.
These sums, taken with the contribu-
tions for missions, make the yearly
income nearly $8000.

The average Sunday offertory last
year was $24, while the envelope offer-
tory was more than $13 per Sunday.
This naturally suggests the matter of
frec pews or otherwise, but it does
not lie within the scop~ of this article
to debate the matter. It is maintain-
ed by advocates of both systems that
each is the better for the financial
success of o church. An impartial ac-
countant, taking the averaze of all
{he Toronto Church o° England par-
ishes, finds no difference in final re-
sults. The one scems as successul as
the othar. It must be said. however,
that the free pew system is much more
acceptable to and much more profit-
able among poor p ople than the rent-
ed pow system It resoives its>1{ large-
ly into an affair of social considera-



tions. The free pew system, where all
church financial receipts depend upon
the ofertory, is one that must be
in the casz of several large and flour-
ishing parishes, abundantly justify
the faith. Another remarkable feature
about the case is that the ritualistic
churches of the city, where a superior
and more cultured service is rendered,
are free churches. And in those is
heard the sweetest music, the most re-
fined and artistic celebration of the
beautiful and always impressive Church
of England service.

out St. Peter’s has a happy medium,;
while the paws are rented, yet at the
evening scrvice they are 3Jl free, and
a bulletin placed outside the Carlton
street entrance so declares, with a
welcome to strangers attached. Even
at the morning services courteous
sidesmen will cheerfully show visitors
and non-subscribers to eligible seats.

Pérhaps, after all, the rental system °

is only nominally such; practically it
makes no difference, except in the

cass of some exclusive people who de- :

sire to have special privileges.

While this parish is avowedly and
unquestionably loyal to the Church of
England. it is yev rigiddy evangelical
in the use of the Prayer Book. The
morning congregations are larger than
those in the evening, while in free pew
churches the reverse is the case gen-
erally, and yet this yeversal does not
effect the income one way or the other.

The vencerable Archdeacon Boddy has
been St. Peter’s only rector, and to
his personal devotion and interest in
all its movements is its success due. .

A call upon the rector in the cosy
and semi-secluded rectory on Win-
chester street and a Lrief chat about
the interests of his parish left a good
impress on of the cordial and gentle-
manly spirit of the minister. The halls
and rooms of the vestry resounded
with the hum and buzz of conversation
carried on by several ladies. It hap-
pened to be the day for the meeting
of the Dorcas Socizty and the gentle
and yet enthusiastic talk ran over
bales of goods, the cut of aprons, the
fashion of garments, the style of sew-
ing, and all the intricacies of hem-
ming, stitching and plaiting in a way
perfectly bewildering to the mascu-
line mind.

One of the “institutions” connected
with St. Peter’s is the Sunday after-
noon Bihle class for teachers and oth-
ers conducted by Mr. Samuel H. Blake.
It is a very large class and is well at-
tended. Mr. Blake introduces his
subject and then the matter 1s fully
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discussed, everyone present being at
liberty to express their views one way
or the other.

In addition to the sum mentioned
as contributed to missions, both foreign
and domestic, large sums are also
raised among the ladies of the con-
gregation for charitable purposes, the
amount of which does not appear in
the published accounts.

As has jbeen stated, the archdeacon
has been the only rector of St. Peter’s,
and until within the last few years
has done his own work in a_great de-
gree, without extraneous aid, except-
ing from the lay element of his congre-
gation. Latterly, though, a curate has
assisted Mr. Boddy.

The churchwardens of St.
have been:—

1863-67—F. Richardson, J. E. Ellis.

1867-68—F. Richardson, Henry [Pellatt.
1868-69—Henry Pellatt, F. Richardson.
1869—72—B. Homer Dixon, Henry Pel-

latt.

1872-73—8{1e§€ff Jarvis, Henry Pel-
att.

’18\73-74—8}1erif£ Jarvis, C. E. Blach-
ord.

18‘74--75—(}% }%1 Holland, C. E. Blach-

ord.
1875-77—G. B. Holland, Richard Thorne.
1877-—W. J. Coates, Richard Thorne.

Peter’s

. 1878 80—Capt. J. T. Douglas, J. Her-
! bert Mason.

- 1880-81—Francis Marriott, J. Her-
| bert Mason.

| 1881-83—Francis Marriott, John Massey.
 188386—C. C. Dalton, R. H. Tomlinson.
;1886 88—Thomas Hodgins, J. R. Me-

Caffery.
1888-89—E. P. Pearson, J. R. McCaffery.
1889-90—E. P. Pearsom, E. T. Carter.
1890-91—E. P. Pearson, F. J. Stewart.
1891-92—F. J. Stewart, E. T. Carter.
1892-93—E. T. Carter, W. A. Geddes. /
1893-94—W. A. Geddes, E. T. Malone.
1894-95—E. T. Malone, R. O. Montgom-

ery.
1895-96—A. E. Gooderham, R. O. Mont-
gomery.
1896-97—Til;160mas Marshall, E. T. Car-
T
1897-.98—Thomas Marshall, R. O. Mont-
gomery.
1898-99—Alexander Dixon, R. O. Mont-

gomery.

The assistant tlergly of St. Peter’s
have been Reverends Cecil C. Owen,
now of Winnipeg: L. E. Skely, now of
Merriton; R. Robinson, now of Fergus; .
and the present assistant, T. Beverley
Smith.

The organist and cheirmaster (1898)
is Mr. R. G. Stapells.

On MKaster day, 1898, the sum of
81,200 was collected by the ladies of
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Bt. Peter’s towards the liquidation of
the church debt. This left the parish |
practically free from pecuniary incum- |
brance, there being less than $1,000
owing on the whole of the buildings.
In 1897 the lighting of St. Peter's
church was by the kindness of Mr.
Henry Pellatt, changed from gas to
electricity, which has added greatly to
the comfort of those who worship there.

CHAPTER X.

CHURCH OF THE REDEEMER.

The Second Yorkville Church—These who
Bullt It—A Long Pasferate.

The parish of the Church of the Re-
feemer was described in 1887, in the
foilowing terms. With very few altera- '
tions, it is now republished:«—

~In 1861 the present St. Paul’s church
already described, was built on Bloor |
street east. Before that a long, low, !
barn-like wooden building was used '
and then was moved to what was known
as Potter’s Field, or “The York Gen-
eral or Strangers’ Burying Ground,”
at Bloor and North streets. There it
served as a Sunday school and chapel
of ease to St. Paul's, and it was de-
signed to call it St. Sepulchre. Prac-
tically this name was never adopted,
but it was known as OLd St. Paul’s.
The congregation gradually enlarged
itself, so that the necessity for es-
tablishing a new parish soon manifest-
ed itself. Tha first formal vestry mect-
ing of Olil St. Paul’s was held April
6th, 1853, and the first printed record
was presented the following year. From
this record it appeared that there
were about 30 pewholders and the
total income was $1,230.83. April 23rd, |
1867, it was resolved to divide the |
parish of St. Paul’s and make Yonga |
street the divisional line. The next |
step was the purchase of a new site fur- |
ther west, and that most desirable
piece of property on Bloor street, at
the corner of Avenue road, was)
bought for less than $10,000, from Mr. |
Alcorn. The lot measures 157 x 280
feet, and formerly contained a beau-
tiful garden. {

“The Church of ths Redeemer” was
the name chosen for the new parish,
steps were at once taken to build a
handsome and commodious edifice.
The corner stone was laid in 1878 and
the new church opened for service
June 15th, 1879. It is a pure Gothic
structure, in the early English styls,
built of Georgetown stone and Ohio
gtone facings* the interior is of white
brick with bands of red brick bv way !
of ornamentation. At the southern
end is a gallery seating 800 persons, |

| and in the east transept a galler

seating 80, while the main floor will
accommodate 800. Thera are three
entrances from the facale on Bloor
street, and a turret there contains a
bell. The chamcel, on the north, is
very large, and contains room for a
choir of fifty voices, with tha organ
in the north-west corner, pipes of
of which are visible from ths audit~
orium through an open archway, thus
enlarging the instrument’s capabil-
ities. The ceiling of the church is up-
held by ornamented brackets. Sup-
porting the transept on either side is
a handsome pillar with a shaft of Bay
of Fundy granite.

Back of the church and at a right
engle to it is a large school room,
one of the most capacious rooms in the
city. It hag a gallery and a number
of communicating rooms comfortably
furnished with all things necessary
for the improvement and ease of the
chiliren. The church is also thoro-
oughly complete in all its appoint-
Goents, and is an architectural orna-
ment in its beautiful surroundings,
presenting a happy combination of
massiveness and grace in its propor-
tions. On Bloor street, east of the
ghu,rch,_is a large rectory, the finest
in the city. The site of these buildings
is one of the prettiest and most valu-
able locations in Toronto, and the
rapid enlargement and improvement of
the city in that direction contantly
augment the value of the property.
The land alone is now worth about $18,-
000, the church $25,000, the school house
$10,000, and the rectory $2,000. There
\0738 remains upon it all a debt of $26.~

The slight opposition at first exist-
ing to the division of tbe old parish
soon gave way in the face of the re-
markable growth of the new parish.
Rev. Septimus Jones, M.A., was the
curate of St. Paul’'s, on Bloor street
east, and he became minister of the
new parish, and has been its only reo-
tor. July 1st, 1886, Rev. Arthur K.
Griffin became the assistant minister.
It is owing, therefore, to the devotion
and zeal of its rector that the Church
of the Redeemer has attained its pre-
sent position among the most prominent
ohurches of the city. The parish lim-
its were Cottingham street on the
north, Yonge on the east, St. Joseph
on the south, and St. George on the
west, Bir Adam Wilson, Hon. S. C.
wood, R. G. Dalton and many other
prominent citizens have been attend-
ants at the church. Thaere are about
175 pewholders, and all the services are
largely attended. The service is
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plain Church of England service, with | 1886 there were 230 participants and 28
en anthem by the excellent choir in | candidates were confirmad.

the evening and, on special occasions, The total income for 1885-86 was over
in the morning. The choir is composed | $9,000. Of this sum the offertory yield-
of 40 members, and was led by Mr. E. | ed $2,781.36, and the pew rents were
W. Schuch; Mr. J. C. Arlidge is the ' $3,563.34, and the Sunday-school receipts

4
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COHURCH OF THE REDEEMER, AVENUE ROAD AXD BLOOR STREET.

organist. These gentlemen and the | over $300. From this statement it will
three leading singers are paid for their | be seen that the Church of the Redeem-
services, while the others volunteer | er is arrayed on the pew-renting side
their singing. The church wardens are | of the income question and with the
Messrs. Alfred Wilson and F. C. Hod- | most marked success. The class of peo-
gins, At the FEaster communion in i ple to which it ministers is such that
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the free pew system would doubtless
prove a failure there.

Their Sunday school in 1886 was sup-
erintended by Mr. E. C. Acheson, and
is also in a very flourishing condition,
numbering about 400, with an average
attendance of 270. There are seven of-
ficers and 34 teachers. A Mission Asso-
ciation is connected with it, and the
average attendance at its services was
450 last year.

A mission room is kept open on Dav-
enport road, and week-day service is
held there with encouraging results. It
is hoped that a plain and commodious
church will soon be built there to ac-li

commodate a demand for the Church of

B 51
o
E g /\.v_
et

expenses were provided for, thus show-
ing a healthy financial condition.

The rector, Rev. Septimus Jones, M.
A, is a gentleman widely known
throughout the city, especially in con-
nection with its educational interests.
His learning. his practical knowledge,
his experience, and his independence of
of that conservatism in education which
retards progress and true development
in the unfolding of the human mind,
eminently qualify him {or a close and
vital relation with the educational wel-
fare of the children and youth.

Mr. Jones was born in Portsmouth,
England, and was educated in London
and Lennoxville University, Quebec.

l}llr.ql'

Wiy

"
{

S

Za

m AP

In i

B i i Y

S e A 41y

74l - |~£‘~r&—:‘a’; ;J'”‘ﬂlumm“_

EE'—“,(«W‘WL“"‘A t“ —=—¥N
7 =\ 7

VIEW OF INTERIOR OF TIIE CIIURCH OF THE REDEEMER.

England service in that section of the
city. Among the auxiliary associations
within the church there are the \Vo:
men’s Mission Aid Society, Mothers
Meetings and the Girls’ Sewing Class.
The latfer is established to teach girlsto
make their own clothing, and is open
every Saturday afternoon from Qctob—
er to April of each year; there is an
average attendance of 30. J
This collection of facts and figures
shows a remarkabls flourishing parish
with a beautiful church, a united peo-
ple and a hopeful outlook. From 1879
to 1886 the collections and pew rents
very nearly doubled, and over $2,000
was paid on the debt after all current

He was ordained deacon by Bishop Ful-
ford in Montreal, priest by Bishop
Mountain, in 1855. His first rectorate
was in Capa Cove and Percy, Gaspe;
then he was the incumbent of St.
Peter’s, Quebec, and subsequantly be-
came Trector of the Church of the Re-
deemer, Philadelphia, Pa. He was then
called to Christ church, Belleville,
which chuich was built for him, and
since 1&71 has been rector of his pres-
ent parish. For many years he has
been a successful teacher in Wycliffe
College, and is yet connected with its
stafl. :

Mr. Jones has attained marked prom-
inence as a member of the Anglican
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Synod, has served on its principal
cominittees, been a member of the
Mission Board and a delegate to the
Provincial Synod. In the Synod he in-
troduced a measure, which was passed,
relative to the superannuation of the
clergy, and was complimented with a
vote expressive of appreciation for the
latour he bes.owed upon the subject,
and the courtesy with which he con-
ducted the matter. The chnurech of
which he is now the rector is a monu-
wment to his ability and usefulness.
* L ] * * * -

Though ten years have elapsed since
the preceding portion of this account
of the Church of the Redeemer was
written, there have been few changes
in the time. The following is a com-
plete list of the assistant ministers:
Rev. Arthur K. Griffin, 1889-1890; Rev.
Heber J. Hamilton, 1890-1891; Rev.
Gus Adolf Kuhring, 1890-1895; Rev.
Louis G. Wood, 1895-1896.

The churchwardens of the Church
of the Redeemer have been these:
1871-1872—G. D. James, Wm B. Evans.
1872-1873—W. B. Evans, S. uzl Thomp-

son.
1873-1874—Edward Burch, W. H. Tacka-
., bury, George Scovell.
1874-1877—Edward Burch, Geo. Scovell.
1877-1880—Edwd. Burch, James Harris.
1880-1881—Edward Burch, Geo. Musson.
1881-1883—Geo. Musson, James Harris.
1883-1885—Geo. Musson, W. J. Battin.
1885-1887—Geo. Musson, H. W. Evans.
1887-1888—Alfred Wilson, Frank J.
Hodgins.
1888-1889—Alfred Wilson, Joseph Har-

ris.
1889-1891—Henry J. Wickham, Joseph
Harris.
1891-1892—Robt. Parker, Joseph Harris.

1892-1893—Robert  Parker, William
Monkhouse.

1893-1895—D. T. Symons, Dr. Thomas
Millman. -

1895-1896—Dr. Thomas Millman, W. P.
Torrance.

1896-1897—W. P. Torrance.
1897-1899—F. J. Campbell, D. T. Symons.

CHAPTER XL
ST. LUKE'S.

The First Frame Church and 1ts Successor
—A Presperous Work.

The church of St. Luke, situated on
the south-east corner of St. Joseph
and St. Vincent streets, is one of the
very few ecclesiastical edifices in the
city, whether the property of the
Anglican or any other religious de-

 handsome

nomination, which is entirely free from
debt or pecuniary encumbrances.

The church is not remarkable for its
external beauty, as it has somewhat
the appearance, especially when viewed
from St. Vincent street, of being but
a portion of an incomplete building,
which change apparently, it is de-
signed to complete at some future
period.  The interior of the church,
though, is far more pleasing to the
eye than the exterior. The style of
architecture is Gothic, with open tim-
bered roof. The materials used are red
brick with sand stoue dressings, the
total dimensions of the building being
115 x 64 feet. The chancel is a re-
markably fine one for such a com-
paratively small church (its utmost
scating capacity not being for more
than 600 people, and, has on the northern
side the oragn, a very good instru-
ment, by Messsrs. Lye & Son. On the
stone steps of the chancel stands the
lectern, a remarkably handsome piece
of work, and on the northern side, fac-
ing the west is the pulpit about which
there is nothing very remarkable. A
brass rail separates the
compartment in the east end of the
chancel—sometimes known as the sanc-
tuary—where stands the communion
table, from the s2ats on the north and
sputh sides of the chancel, whsre sits
the choir. Th2 holy table is covered
with a handsome ¢loth, whereon is
embroidered the monogram I. H. S,
while it is over-mounted by a brass
cross, and at tha back is a heavy dossal
or curtain. The clergy vestry is in the
south-east corner of the church, and
the robing rooms for the choir imme-
diately beneath them in the base-
ment. In this last named portion of
the church thare is als» a small chapel
Evlﬁx\e occasional sarvices are oftep
eld.

The originai church of St. Luke was
the frame roughcast building now
used as a school room, to the south-
east of the church, on St. Vincent
street, and it was opened for divine
service on Lecember 4th, 1870, the in-
cumbency of the then embryo and
somewkat chaotic parish being vested
in the Rev. John Langtry, who in 1898
still remains in charge.

Dr. Langtry is a native Canadian,
having been born near Qakville, in the
year 1832, He was educated privately
and at Trinity University, and he was
the first graduate of Trinity admitted
to holy orders. On his ordination, two
days after he had attained the can-
onica! age of 23, he was appointed tra-
velling missionary in West Simcoe and
East Grey, itinerating in the country
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lying between Cooksiown and Mea-
ford. After three years of mission
work, amid a very pioneer condition
of things, he settled in Collingwood,
wherc he remained till his removal to
Toronto. I'or several years he assisted
the Rev. Saltern Givins in St. Paul’s,
until, with his rector’s consent, he
undertook the organization of St.
Luke’s parish.

Among others who have been asso-
ciated with Dr. Langtry as assistant
clergy at St. Luke’s have been Revs.
A. I’ Ford, Charles Whitcomhe, James
Mead, J. A. Read, Henry W. Davies,
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§T. LURKE'S CHURCH, CORNER ST.

church was opened for divine service
on the first Sunday after Easter in
the following year. It was consecrated
and free from debt- on October 18th,
1890, wher the following statement
was issued :—

“The foundation stone of this church
was laid on Ascension Day, 1881. It
was opened for service the Sunday
after Easter, 1882. The church and lo§
on which it stands are to-day frée
from debt.

“The entire cost of the land, church,
moving of the school house and fit-
tings has beer about $27.100. The bal-

.‘

[

VINCENT AND ST. JOSKPH STREETS.

H. A. Manning, J. H. C. Mockridge,
and the present sssistant minister, the
Rev. C. 8. Goodman. (1898.)

For nearly ten years after 1870 no
effort was made by the congregation
of St. Luke’s to erect a better build-
ing, but in the latter days of 1880
the rector, ably seconded by the late
Mr. Wiiliam Plummer and Mr. Alfred
Patton, persuaded the people to move
in the direction of building a better
church, and the present edifice was
the result. The.foundation stone was
laid on Ascension Day, 1881, and the

ance due on this expenditurd, about
$10,600, was all subscribed during the
past year.

“Owing, however, to death, faiiure,
refusal to pay, or inability to pay yet,
and to the diminution of income while
tLis was being collected, there re-
mains a mortgage on the school house
and lot of $2,500.

“The average annual income for ths
nine years has been about $6.200, or
for the whole nine years, $55,800. The
! average annual contribution for the
| extinction of the debt has been about




$2,606, or $23,9% for the nine years,
making the average annual contribu-
tions of St. Luke s congregation lor
all church objects about $8,8356, and
for the whole period of nine years,
879,794,

“The congregation has not exceeded
500 regular attendants at any time.
It has never had but one member (and
that only for a short time) who has
not had to earn an income. It has
never had more than five members at
any time who have not had to practice
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economy to live, and yet these results

have bee:. attained. Shall we not Lhank
God for His grace given, and take
courage "’

At the coamsecration services the
preachers were the Bishop—at the ser-
vice itself —~ Archdeacon Boddy and
Canon DuMoulin at morning and even-
ing prayer respectively.

It may be mentioned incidentally

that St. Luke’s was the second Angli- -

can parish church in Toronto where a
surpliced choir was introduced. Dr.
Langtry must have made comparisons
in his own mind between the services
as conducted at St. Luke’s, his first
rectorial charge, and those he had
known as a boy and youth in Oakville
some thirty years earlier.

Unlike so many other churches in
the city, St. Luke’s, in the twenty-
eight years it has been opened, has
had great and constant changes in the
office of churchwardens, no less than
thirty-one gentlemen having filled the
position. In some of the Anglican
congregations the wardens hold office
for many consecutive years. The fol-
lowing is a complete list of the war-
dens:

First vestry meeting held December
27th, 1870, then were elected these:
—Rector’'s Warden, Clarkson Jones;
Peopie’s Warden, Captain Stupart.
1871-72—Clarkson Jones, Captain Stu-

part.
1872-74—J. T'letcher, — Bickerstaff.
1874-76—James Henderson, — Tizard.
1876-77—(apt. Hooper, I'rank Wootton.
1877-78—W. H. Howland, i‘rank Woot-

ton.
1878-79—J. Broom, Clarkson Jones.
1879-80—Wwm. Plummer, John Ilague.
1880-83—Alfred Patton, Edmund
Wragge.
1883-84—A. M.  Patton, Walter Taylor.
1884-85—Walter Taylor, A. M. Patton.
1885-86—Walter Taylor, 1. J. Brown.
1886-87-—~Walter Taylor, Dr. Burritt.
1887-88—C. T. Whitney, Geo. Chillas.
1888-89—C. T. Whitney, F. W. Holme-

ste
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1889-90—F. W. Holmested, L. H. Bald-
win.
W. Holmested, F. W. Har-

; 1890-91—F.
court. .
1891-93—F. W. Harcourt, R. Russell
Baldwin.
1893-94—R. Russell Baldwin, H. E.
Caston.
1894-95—H. E. Caston, H. J. Caulfield.
1895-96—J. H. Burns, J. T. Symons.
1896-97—John Macoun, J. T. Symons.

1897-98—C. S. Pettit, G. De W. Green.
1898-99—Llewellyn Robertson, G. De W.
Green.

CHAPTER XII.
ALL SAINTS.

An Offsheet From 5t. Luke's and Hely
Trinlty—A Large Coengreention.

It seemed as if the natural world
were in harmony with the great spirit-
- ual world that had decorated its altars
and shrines for the celebration of
Easter Sunday. The sun never shone
more briiliantly, the returning war-
blers never caroled spring’'s advent
more lLlithesomely and the whole life
of nature never seemed more exuber-
ant and more promising than on that
beautiful day when Toronto’s thou-
sands of church-goers crowded its
streets and avenues on the way to the
churches garlanded with emblems of
Easter gladness and joy. Just as the
natural world seemed to re-act from
the long sleep of winter and to set its
pulseless life into bounding activity,
so the long and saddening Ienten sea-
son was gladly closed and the joyous-
ness of the resurrection season hap-
pily welcomed. Even the faces of the
people seemed to reflect this universal
Joy; the merry sunshine brought
brightness to the eye, elasticity to the
step and smiles to the faces of the
great crowds thronging the city thor-
oughfares. Not a little of the buoy-
ancy and happiness was arcused by the
conseciousness on the part of many that
the milliner and tailor had artistically
added to personal adornment. Fair
young maidens were sparkling and
 bright with the beauty of spring at-
; tire, while many a *“Prince Albert”
- was decorated with the white rose em-
blematic of Easter. To see the
brightly dressed people on the streets
last Sunday one might almost imagine
that there are no very poor people in
this city; but they are not! to be found
where there is brightness and )oy;
they gathered about the hovels and low
tenements of the aileys and side streets
in a guiet. way, sensible of the beauty
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of the day but not keenly alive to its
spiritual Joy; but, for that matter, how
many of the rich were?$

For the purposes of this article its
writer mingled with the crowd finding
its way to All Saints’ church, at the
south-east corner of Sherbourne street
and Wilton avenue, Easter Sunday
morning, 1886. It was not yet time for
the service, but every seat was found
occupied, and the obliging sidesmen
were bisuly engaged carrying chairs
along the aisles and making use of
every available foot of space to accom-
modate the incoming people. The ves-
try doors were thrown open, the rear
spaces were full and the crowd over-
flowed out into the porches, and there
patiently stood during the entire ser-
vice. While the decorations were not
very elaborate, they were chosen and
arranged with excellent taste: the al-
tar was covered with lilies, while pot-
ted plants surrounded the reading desk
and two bkeautiful calla lilies with
graceful vines decorated the pulpit
front. The baptismal font, a large stone
structure in the northern transept,
was entirely covered with a bank of
variegated flowers, and surmounted
with a dcuble arch out of which sprang
a floral cross. This piece of work was
especially admired, and it was not only
beautiful in appearance, but it was
very fragrant, sending great waves of
perfume on every side. The choir of
15 men and 18 boys wad augmented on |
this occasion by an orchestra of fifteen |
string and wind instruments.  After |
a short prelude on the organ the sing- |
ers and players entered from the choir |
vestry, followed by Rev. A. H. Baldwin, |
the rector; Rev. Street Macklem, the ,
curate, and Rev. Dr. Scadding, who as- |
sisted in the communion office. The |
choir was not surpliced and occupied
the usual place in the chancel, with the
organist in the centre, Mr. Percy V.
Greenwood, organist of the church, pre-
siding at the instrument and leading !
the music, while Mr. Vale conducted |
the orchestra. i

The unsurpliced choi:x seems an an- |
omaly in a true Church of England
service. The vestry has been petition-
ed to grant surplices, but from a con-
servative spirit has declined granting
the request so far. The choir is a fine !
one and contains some very'excellent
boys’ voices; the orchestra is composed :
of gentlemen who are connected with |
All Saints’ church. Considerable atten- !
tion is given to music in this church !
and Sunday school, and most enjoyuahie
ooncerts have been given during the!
winter to immense aadiences, the pro-

| touching in its simplicity.

ceeds of which went to the building
fund. g

Rev. A. H. Baldwin conducted the
service, and he evidently caught the
full inspiration of the occasion. He is
a gentleman of fine presence and ad-
dress, with considerable nervous en-
ergy that infused all his utterances
and gave them a sort of magnetio in-
terest. He intones the service in a
musical voice with a sonorous vibra-
tion that is pleasant to the ear. The
chanting of the “Yorkshire service’” in
this church is done in the key of G,
and is done without any monotonous
drawl or unmusical intonation. The
harmony of the organ, the orchestra
and the choir was well sustained and
generally true. But everybody seemed
so glad and so heartily entered into
the festal joy of the day that no room
seemed to exist for close criticism. The

,serviqe lgeg‘ana with an Easter hymn, in
| the singing of which the immense con-

gregution joined, and the responses by
the people were hearty and universal.
And all kinds of people were there,
rich and poor, high and low, gaily
dresseC. and otherwise. The seats of
All Saints’ are free to every one; no
pew can be sold or rented, and the
principle of “[irst come first served’”
holds good in this respect. No distinc-
tion was observable on account of dress,
as has been noticed by the reporter

i in certain other churches, but every-

one was cordially welcomed to a seat
until no more seats were available.
Evidently the purposes of the origina-
tors of the free pew system have been
well carried out here, because a con-
gregation of various classes of people
fills the chnreh at every service, so
that extra chairs are constantly in de-
mand; in this respect the name of the
church is well taken.

In this connection” an incident occur-
red that, to those who saw it, was
novel and interesting. Two little girls, °
one about five and the other three.
strayed up the centre aisle and found
seats on the steps of the chancel, where
thev presented a picture that wasvery
They were
evidently sisters. and. of very affection~-
ate natures. ¢ inging to one another
during the entire service; they were
commenly dresced and wore old win-
ter skull-caps, btut they had re-
fined features. beautiful blue eyes
and sweet faces. During prayer they
buried their faces in their hands.
and during sinzing the elder stood
with her arm adout the shoulders of
her little sister, while the contrast of

.
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their humtle appearance with the
beauty of the decorations acd the rich
dresses of other children near them
made them more conspicuous. One
could not help but think of that gentle
Saviour who once looked down into
the sweet faces of litife children
whom doubtless He pressed to His
loving heart, and who was the central
object of devotion on this dzy and how
kindly He left a loving message for
every little child the broad world over:
“Suffer them to come unto Me.”” The
naivete of childhood was well illustra-
ted when the elder sister, not know-
tng what to do with a book she lheld in
her band, deliberately went up to DMr.
Baldwin and told him all about it.

Fortunately at that moment the choir !

was singing, so he very kindly leaned
down to her, listened to what she had
to say, smiled pleasantly into her face
and told her what to do. Many a

minister would have had his clerical

dignity terribly shocked by this un-
usual break %pon the solemnity of a
service, but Mr. Baldwin had the grace
and coolness to grasp the situalion at
once and dispose of it at once. The
little sisters were very devout, and
when they lcaned their faces together
and held their hands clasped. the old
caps and plain dresses and svell-worn
winter coats were entirely forgotten
in the sweetness of the picture they
unconsciously made., When the offi-
cers passed by with the silver plates
ladened with FEaster offerings these
two little children stood up and each
dropped a penny upon the plate—than
which no gift was more acceptable to
the Giver of every gift,

After the first lesson, the combined
choir and orchestra sang and played
the Te Deum in ¥, by Dykes, and it
was excellently executed. The com-
mingling of the pure, fresh voices of
the little boys with the clear tenor
and musical bass of the men, and this
interwoven with the mellow flow of
the instrumnents that twined about it,
the web and woof of inspiriting mel-
ody made the eye sparkle and ths
cheek flush and the heart throb with
ithe exultation of the resurrection joy.
And the same spirit of tremulous glad-
ness characterized the entire service
which from beginning to end was con-
ducted with that dignity and rever-
ence paculiar to the Anglican as well
as to the Roman Catholic church. The
sermon was preached by the curate,
and was a brief outline of the central
fact of the observance fittingly ex-
pressed, At the offertory the anthem

“Why seek ye the living among the
dead ?” by Hopkins, was sung, follow-
qd by another hymn, making the
fourth hymn that was sung during the
' service,

.To one whose aesthetic taste is cul-
tivated it was a delightful service and
an uplifting one. The sunshine bath-
ing the world in gladness and casting
fiftful glearhs athwart the Easter gar-
lands as its beams found their way
through the brightly coloured win-
dows, the rich melody filling chancel
and nave with sweet sounds, the beau-
tiful chant of a beautiful service ris-
ing and falling in musical cadence—
jall this made it an ideal service and a
most becoming tribute to the world’s
great Kaster celebration.

It was felt some time before this
church was originated that the Church
of England should have a parish in
' that particular part of the city as the
cathedral, St. Peter’s and St. Paul’s
were the only churches in the eastern
section. But the contention of High
and lLow church which at that time
so seriously troubled Anglicanism was
i found to operate more or less de-
| cidedly against any new movement. A

meeting was aprointed to inaugurate

it, but Messrs. Geo. Allen, A. McLean
[Howa.rd and Rev. Saltern Givins were
j the only ones present, and the matter
then fell through. Subsequently it
was in contemplation to buy a small
Methodist frame building on Parlia-
ment street and begin in that way,
r but this also failed. A petition to the
bishop, signed by 150 residents of the
teighbourhood, praying for the es-
tablishment of a new parish, and the
agreement of a few gentlemen to see
that the offertory for the year should
reach $800 at least led tothe formation
of a new parish. Its geographical
 boundary extended from the south side-
! of Carlton to the north side of Queen,
and from the east side of Sherbourne
to the Don. The appointment of Rev.
Arthur H. Baldwin was requested and
a committee named to select a site
for the church. Ths lot on which All

Saints’ now stands was bought by Mr.
Allan McLean Howard, who laid $5C0¢
cash down for it; ten minutes after-
ward a gentleman came and offered
the owner inducements for it, but he
I was too late. This was in 1871; a small
frame school house was built facin
Wilton avenue, and when first use
was unplastered. Mr. Baldwin’s ser-
vices having been secured the parish
at once began a remarkably success-
ful career, which has steadily improv-
ed every year since. The little build-
{ ing was soon found to be too small and
i was enlarged towards the south:; but
the congregation was actually crowded
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out of this, and then the present huild-
ing at the cormer was erected.

From the start it was the intention,
and an intention faithfully followed
ever since, to make it open and free
for all alike, rich and poor; no distinc-
tions were to be made in any way,
and this cosmopolitan spirit even
pervades the service, which is always
designed to be in medias res, the mode-
rate cours2, and to do no violence to
any sentiment. Doubtless this accom-
modating spirit is one of the factors
in its universal success. And, then, a
population of about 20,000 has settled
in that section of the city within the
last 15 years, and that fact has also

The building is constructed of white
brick, with red brick decorations, after
the early English pointed Gothic ctyle,
according to plans prepared by Win-
deyer & Falloon. The walls, 18 feet
high, are surmounted with a hammer-
beam roof, giving a height of 46 feet
to the ridge. An unfinished tower,
wiht the middle age octagon staircase
and to be crowned with three pinnacles,
rises from the north-east corner. The
nave is 96x36 feet: the transepts on
the north and south sides are 10x48,
each ome resting underneath four
heavy arches. The organ chamber is on
the south side of the chancel, the choir
and clergy’s vestries are on the north

ALl SAINTS' CI{URCH, WILTON AVENUE AND SHERBOURNE STREET.

accounted for the immense congrega-
tions. St. Bartholomew’s has since
been set off from it as a separate par-
ish, and was given the territory all
east of Parliament street; for several
years it also received $400 annually
from All Saints’. It is now designed to
have two more new churches, one at
Spruce and Parliament and one at
Sherbourne and Howard.

An interesting historical incident is
connected with the land on which All
Saints’ is built. Before the year 1800
it was owned by Solicitor-General
White, who, on the eve before his
duel in which he was killed, made his
will in which this parcel of land, as
part of his estate, was disposed of.

side. The open timber work of the
roof is stained a dark yellow, and
eight heautifully illuminated dormer
windows are cut in the latter. The
walls are unplastered apd may per-
haps give the interior a rather cold
appearance, but for all that, it is a
beautiful building, prettily ornament-
ed with red brick, trimmings and
painted mottoes running around the
enitre room, while inscriptions and
monograms decorate the corbels. It is
a comfortable room, of good acoustic
property, capable of seating 800 peo-
ple, and that capacity is not now suffi-
cient to satisfy the demand.

The audience chamber conveys pretty
accurately the eathedral idea, especi-
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INTERIOR OF ALL SAINTS’ CBURCH FROM WEST FRONT DOOR.

ally the chancel, which has a dimen-
sion of 23x32 feet. The bishop’s throne
is to the left of the altar; a beautiful
reredos is hung above the altar and
above this is an artistically wrought

window, costing $700 and containing
an illuminated centre-piece represent-
ing Jesus and His twelve disciples. It
is an unique building internally, but
the apparently inharmonious combin-
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ations of colour and decoration after
all unite to make it symmetrical and
aesthetic. RExternally the structure
has no attractive features save that its
proportions and angles are well kept.

The school room, on Wilton avenue,
is a detached building, modelled after
the same plan as the church, and is
a very handsome structure, most ex-
cellently adapted to its_ purposes. It
seats 600 persons, and is probably the !
largest and finest of its kind in the |
city. Attached to it are class rooms,
finely furnished, a large infant class |
room, and a good library. Pretty win-;
dows admit an abundance of light; in-
scribed on those above the platform
at the eastern end is: “Auscultate Deo
et Parentibus,” which means “Hearken
to God and your parents.” A scrupu-
lously clean kitchen, amply supplied :
with culinary articles, gives opportun- i
its for social tea preparations and
other festivals where refreshment is.
served. The caretaker of these build-
ings is evidently one who abhors dirt
and dust and practises cleanliness and
order.

The first service in the little frame
school house was held June 16th. 1872,
and the present school house was open-!
ed Nov. 29th, 1874. Rev. Arthur G'i
Baldwin, M.A., the popular and genial
Tector of All Saints’ is the key to its
phenomenal success. He is a native of
Toronto, and pursued & course of study
at Upper Canada College,-but is a
graduate of Oxford, England. After
graduating he became curate of Luton,
Bedfordshire, and then came to Canada, !
settling at Belleville. Being called to
organize this Toronto mission he ac- |
cepted the appointment. Five hun- |
dred and eighty-six members have been
coanfirmed since his incumbency, and he
has now a class of more than 50 to be
ronfirmed on the fifth Sunday after
Easter. He is a gentleman entirely
devoid of clerical porposity, is ob-:
liging, genial and pleasant in ‘man-|
ner, and is popular, not only among
his own parishioners, but throughout
the city wherever he is known. 1lis
whole-hearted consecration to _his
work, his intense sincerity and modify-
ing spirit,

a spirit that well conserves
the unity and interest of All Saints’,’
deserve this merited public recognition.

Mr. Baldwin is ably seconded in his
ministry by his curate, Rev. Street.
Macklem, a young man who 18 very
kindly spoken of by the congregation
and who is doing his work acceptably
He is the afternoon superintendent of
the Sunday school, Mr. Willoughby
Cuinmings presiding at the morning
session.  The school numbers about
400 scholars and 30 teachers, and meets
twice every Sunday, and raises about

at All Saeints,

$450 a year. The financial condi-
tion of the parish is of the
most encouraging charcter. It is
true there is a debt of $14,000 resting
upon the church, but it is being re-
duced at the rate of $1,500 a year.
The free pew system in some respects
militates against the income of any
church. but in this case such disad-
vantage is largely overcome by the
liberality of the offertory, about $102
being contributed every Sunday. The
income, aside from thz debt fund, from
all sources is about $7,000 yearly. The
assets o° the parish are $40,000 for the
land and buildings, and $1,500 for the
organ; it i3 now contemplated to re-
place the latter with a larger and
more improved instrument.

In every respect this review of All
Saints entities it to prominent men-

i tion among the city churches. and its

future is full of possibilities that shall
lend additional credit to its history
when other pens shall hereafter por-
tray its good work.

L] - * - - L]

Since Easter {n 1886. when the pre-
ceding portion of this article was writ-
ten, there have been some interesting
changes made in the services at All
Salints’ church. The choir has bheen
habited in surplices, and the old organ
has been replaced by a new one. 'T1e
black Genevan gown used in the pul-
pit has disappesred aud if the teach-
wng remains th> same in 1896 as it was
ten years earlier, the services have
been brought up to what is now all
but universally considered the true
model for the Anglo-Catholic church-
goer.

Reverend A. H. Baldwin has all but
completed his quarter century’s work
and there are still
some surrounding him in his work who
were there when “he put his hand to
the plough.”

Tho assistant clergy at All Saints’
have been—

1€82, from Juna to December—Rev.
J. B. C. Beaubien.

i835-1887—Rev. T. C. Street Macklem.

1887 1885—Rev. E. C. Acheson.

1880-1891—Rev. Ernest C. Saunders.

1892-1895—Rev. J. R. Shields Boyd.

It may also be mentioned that since
All Saints’ was huilt Rev. Henry Scad-
ding, D.D., now (1898) the oldest Angli-
can clergyman in the Province of On-
tario, has constantly assisted in the
services, he and ths rector being
brothers-in-law.

Of the rest of the assistant clergy,
the Revs. J. B C. Beaubien, E. C.



Acheson and Ernes: C. Saunders went
to the United States for the work of
the Episcopal church there. The Rev.
J. R. Shields Boyd, who married a
daughter of the late Robert Baldwin,
left (anada in ihe closing days of 1895
to undertake missionary work in
China. The Rev.. Sireet Macklem be-
came rector of St. Simon’s, on Howard
street.

The churchwardens of All Saints’
have been the following—
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rived ten minutes later, THere several
Roman Catholic girls got aboard in°
order to attend vespers in the city.
and the writer deliberately strolled
along the narrow wooden walk to the
beach, passing numbers of persons who
had come over with laby coach and
luncheon to spend o. day inhaling the
pure, fresh lake breezes. They were
spread out on the grass in reckless con-

fus'on, regardless of app arances, and

1872-1875—Allan McLoean Howard, Alex- .

ander Marling.
1875-1877—Hon. G. W. Allan, Columbus
H. Greene.
1378—C. H. Greene, Robert Edminson.
1878—C. H. Greene, Charles Unwin.

1879-1881—C. H. Greene, Robert Good- .

erham.
1881—Ho:nry Allen to June 6th, Charles
Unwin, Robert Gooderham.
1882-1888—Geor(;e Gonlding, E. H. Kert-
land, .D.
1888—Geo. Gou.ding, Thos. J. Jermyn.
1889-1892—G=0. Goulding, F. A. Thayer.
1892-—Geo. Goulding, E. Perryman.
1893—George Goulding, ¥. A. Thayer.
(F. A. Jermyn was appointed to fill

yet not & single harmful word or a
single wrong action was observed. Offi-
cer No. 46 was patrolling that part of
the Island, but bayond caution as to
crowding and hurrying on the boat
had nothing to do.

The campers, in tent and cottage,
were fully enjoying the beauty of the

' day, and abandoned themselves to that

|

Mr. Goulding's place on October 16th,

owing to the death of Mr. Goulding.)
1894—T, J. Jermyn, F. A. Thayer.

1895—R. C. Le Vesconte, Wm. Logan.
1896-1899—Wm. Logan, Samuel Trees.

CHAPTER XIIL
ST. ANDREW’S.

The Summer Church en the Island-Its
Ministers.

It seems strange that a person
should go away from Toronto in order
to go to cbhurch, and yet that was the
writer’s duty in order to place before
his readers an authentic description of
a church that, while not in the city
proper, still has a place among the
city churches, On the southern side
of the Island, between Mead’s and
Hanlan’s Point is St. Andrew’s Angli-
can church. To wvisit this church the
reporter embarked on the little ferry
boat Arlington, from Church street
wharf, one Sunday afternoon at three
o'clock. streets of the city were
comparatively deserted, but the boats
leaving for the Island were crowded
88 they always are on Sunday.

The people aboard were, so far as
eone could tell by their appearance,
conversation and manner, of the work-
fng classes. After some interchange
of pessengers thoe little steamer puff-
ed her way to Mead’'s, where she ar-

enjoyment with an enviable freedom.
Very many were rowing about the la-
goons, or allowing the boat to glide
whither it would, while the rower list-
lessly watched the rippling waters.
Along the beach, upon which a magni-
ficent surt was beating, little bare-foot
childrem, and some not so little, were
gaily wading and merrily running
from the white horses that seemel al-
most lifelike in their play. Across the
waters and rising above the boom of
the surf, came the monotonous and
doleful ring of the bell from the sway-
ing buoy, just beyond which a little
steam Jaunch was pertly bowling
along. White wings glistened clearly
against the dark blue of the waters
far out on the horizon, and take it alto-
gether it was an ideal day along the
shore.

The little church was reached at 4
o’clock and a seat in thel last pew af-
forded the writer good vantage ground
from which to make observations. The
first thing noticeable was the uncon-
ventional style of dress characterizing
many persons there: the latest fash-
ions were not seen. One lady had on a
magnificent black silk dress, tastily
and richly decorated; she came late.
The others were plainly, but very neat-
1y, and, under the circumstances, pro-
perly dressed. The young ladies fore«
swore those villainous high hats, that
disturb a man’s sight and temper in
church as well as at the theatre, and
generally wore pretty plain, straw,
low-crowned hats tastily trimmed. The
white dresses brought out the brown-
ness of the complexion very clearly;
low shoes were the rule. Young men,
both in the choir and among the com-
gregation, wore yachting costumes,
It was & new and strange
sort of surplice, .but since it
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is the thing to do” let it be done— | taken from Philippians: “Let this micd

. no matter about the taste. Several
gentlemen were there without coats,
and they were envied by the writer.

he in you which was also in Christ
Jesus.”
Prof. Boys, who preached, was &

Perhaps the most picturesque of the | man of scholarship and culture, but of

congregition were the little fellows
Jauntily dressed in

This variety of dress, taken with the | torical.
plainly furnished chapel, the open win- |

dows, through which the breezes came
laden with vigour and health, the
sound of the surf on the shore and the
gay laughter of little children play-
fng on the sand made the room pleas-
ant, cool, airy and bright.

The church was well filled; it will
seat 210, and 180 were present, count-
fng the children, and there were very

¥

Y

. the

no very great physical power anl con-

sailor’s costume. | Séquently more intellectual than ora-

But the sermon was excel-
lent, and when the speaker became
thoroughly - enwrapt with his thought
his delivery was impressive. The lan-
guage was well chosen and the ideas
‘made attractive on that account, as
well as more impressive. Referring to
the alarming amount of unbelief in
world the sermon asserted that
another more alarming thing was the
cold, practical unbelief of the Chris-
tian church. The majority of mem-

ST. ANDREW'S EPISCOPAL CHURCH, TORONTO ISLAND.

many little children — nice, well-be-
bhaved children.

The choir consisted of a lady or-

nist, four young lady singers and

ree young men. The service was
the nsual Church of England Evening
Prayer, which for dignity and beauty
and the revival of pure feelings and
elevating sentiments is only surpassed
by the same Catholic service enlarged
and additionally beautified. The peo-
ple all took part, and the singing and
responses were hearty, enjoyable and
helpful. Three hymns were sung 1n
gonnection with the service, and a
twenty-five minutes’ sermon was
preached by the Rev. Prof. Boys, of
Trinity College, who also had read
prayers and lessons. The text was

bers adhere to the Kingdom of God
as taught in the formularies of the
church; but the Bible has certain com-
mands, and the large majority of Chris-
tians live a8 if they had never been
delivered.

There are grades of commandments)
of more or less importance, and some
may be neglectad—at an incalculable
loss, but yet one may be a true be-
liever. Some commandments bear on
the formation of life in the soul, and
if they are not fulfilled the. soul is
uot developed and cannot obtain hea-
ven. The text is one such command,
and asks that the believer shall have
the same opinions as Jesus, and en-
gﬁgtain the views he held about every-

ing.
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The Christian missionary is the Chris- | livered extemporaneously, the speaker
tian man. A winning tone and splen- | standing at one side of the lectern in
did character is the force that carrie® | the centre of the chancel. 1t was evi-
on the Kingdom of God, because it is | dently appreciated by the attentive
the mind of Christ in us. And the ! congregation.
reason of the slow progress against; Service is held in the church every
the world is the want of this disposi- . Sunday :}fterpoon at four o’clock. The
tion. d - i Comsmnunion is administered the first
The mind of Christ is necessary to | Sunday of the month at 11 o'clock
salvation. The idea that it does not | Services are held from the last Sun-
&natter much how we live 20 that Just s day in June to the last Sunday in
before we die we have our sins for-; geptember. Bishop Sweatman ywho
given and go to heaven is an abomin-| jigey in the rectory, which adjoins th
able idea. Of course forgiveness of | qpuxer” o i1 v{é,st T Joxﬁ e
sins is necessary; but going to heaven !¢y ooy Ao b S 'f‘s I ‘i arge,
ureans to live with Jesus, and if we ! <t g Allr gﬁlms 18 frequently offi-
are to live with Jesus it is_necessary | 13 l?"t e A services are glven
that we here learn to conform our | gratuitously. The current expenses
views to His; the unimportance of the | ar¢ paid for by the offertory, about
present life is a wrong idea. If any | 3150 per season, and the $150 rent paid
man gets to heaven by living any other | by the Bishop for the use of the rec-
way than in conformity with the mind ' tory. But the Communion offertory is
of Christ he will soon be turned out. donated to The Lakeside Home for Sick
In every earthly so:ieti there is a  Children. The building is a rough-
tone, an esprit decorps that pervades | coated frame one, built upon piles, in
it, a;ad if a.man is not in harmony with | carly English Gothic style, and is a
it he is uncomfortable and his peace | neat and attractive structure, though
in disturbed. Heaven is not a state | making mo pretension to any orna-
of promotion but of blessing. The | mentation of an elaborate character.
saisery of this world is the mixing | The gakle faces the lake on the south,
of evil with good; but the misery thus:and a little vestry forms an I on the
vceasioned here will not go on there, [ west. A belfry rises from ihe front,
and there will be a rigid exclusion but contains no bell. It is topped with
{gggl heaven of those who have not its a ifmlal of tsg. Andrew’s cross. ‘the
; . ! recof is painted red, and the outside is
The text is a mark of salvation. It i s
is important to know who an! what sl()l;(é(i]oe‘clo;ilaigligck st:w:resse.qtsAaélcfg}e
you are. There is much diletteante Eh IR lg d LS -lg“is
Christianity in this day, because reo- rougil M ?t ST L0y :ha,ovc S e
ple do not grapple with the question |2 502 altese cross. There zare five
of who they are. By what test shall b‘gttresses, painted chocolate colour.
we disco’er on which side of the line | UPon the whole it is a rather pie-
you are? There is none better than | turesque building, taken with its sur-
those expressed by the words “mind | Toundings, It is locg.ted_ on Cherokee
of Christ.” You cannot have the mind | avenue, and was built in 1884, at a
of Christ and not be a believer. If | cost of $£2,000. dyr. A. R. Denison was
you recognize your deficiencies then | the architect.
you may know you are a heliever and The building is 25x 45 feet, with a
can rise up anlt walk as a Christian | ckancel of 16415 feet. The windows
should. Now, in this life we can have | are of ground glass with coloured bor-
this mind, and it will deliver mankind | ders and a pretty lttle rose window
from the sins that oppress it. Annoy-|is inserted above the porch. The walls
ance, that shortens physical life, will | yre stuccoed. The ceiling, pierced hy
be saved, and anxiety as to results | four dormers, is vertical jointed sheef-
will not be favoured. He who has the | ; ey unlint anae s
mind that was in Christ will be an trﬁg' P hale eaﬁ pqtr,in{,d AT n
honest man in his business regar.dless “]e nh' Iy o miade. ofipin MLRE
of the profit side of his ledger. As "S‘l REEY & P lf 1darfa_t;na et(z_ e 3l 3
we obey the words of the text we find | 11518 18 carpe (: 1“1 LRl tllng,h:m la
the worries of life melting away-and | G2k red Brussels coyerls il 50 e
only a residuum left that does not | Brilliant and heautiful windows, in
affect happiness. Christian life may triplet form, made of brightly illumin-
seem irksome or its duties may be un- ated painted glass, adorn the, px:ett';y
performed because the yoke is heavy, | little chancel, ~d are very artistic in
but the mind that was in Christ ea:es | appearance and rich in design. The
the yoke and then the burden becomes | teniral des’gns are Christ in the atti-
lxg}lter every day. tude of talking, with the words “I am |
he above extracts will show the | the vine, ye are the branches,” below.
teaching of the sermon. It was de-| Above is the design of a pelican pierc-




54

LANDMARKS OF TORONTO.

Ing her breast in order to feed her
young with her own blood, thus re-
presenting the quality of self-sacrifice.
The design is well intentioned, but it
is not true to nature, becausa the be-
lief that a pelican feeds her young
with her blood is only a legend. The
pelican has a pouch hanging from the
lower bill, in which are deposited the
fish it catches. The young are fed from
this pouch; and the legerd arose from
the fact that the bird presses. her -l:jl]l

e

of fishes, and above this a chalice.

A small but neat oaken communion
table, two chairs, an organ, a font,
seals for the choir, lectern and ser-
vice desk compléte the furniture of the
chancel. The choir is volunteer, and
Mrs. Sweatman is organist.

The church has no vestry or dis-
tinctive organization as a parish; but
it is ecclesiastically connected with St,

VIEW OF CIIANCEL, $T. ANDREW 8 CHURCH, TORONTO ISLAND.,

tishes, the red tip of the bill appear-
ing like a blood spot oxa the white
feathers. !

Alove this design is another, the
suspended dove, representing the bless-
ing of the Holy Spirit. The window
on the left has a monogram comgposed
of the Greek letters Alpha and Omega,
and below this a picture of Christ
stilling the tempest and the design of
. font. On the right window is the
monogram I. I. 8., “Jesus the Saviour

of Men,” with a picture of the draught |

by pcople of all faiths, and everybody
is heartily welcomed, no matter what
his special religious predilections. 'The
property is vested in the name of the
Bishop, a most eithusiastic Islander,

tee. of which Mr. John Massey was
seeretary. Y

In 1882 gervices were beld in Mr.
G. Gooderham's cottage, and the in-
terest grew and magnified itself in so
many directions that steps were soon
taken to build a° church. The Bishop

James' Catkedral. The seats are ei-
tirely free, and this most commendalilo.,

A

institution of the Island is patronized

who holds it for the Building Commit- "
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and Mr. George Gooderham were the
most energetic workers in the move-
ment and the largest contributors. Of
course, the land is leasehold land. The
rectory and church t(ogether cost
about &3,500, and enough was raised
by subscriptions and socials to go for-

ward with the work. There is a
mortgage on the rectory, but the
church is paid for. The expenses are

abcut $40) yeariy. The chancel fur- |

niture, communioa sarvice, hymn books
and the stained glass windows were
the gifts of friends and supporters
of St. Andrew’s.

Even in the Island church many
changes have occurred since the pre-
ceding portion of this sketch was
written.

The church was enlarged In the
spring of 1895 to double its seating
capacity by lengthening both the nave
and the chancel and the services have
been increas:d from the original after-
noon service, to both morning and
evening s:rvice, with midday celebra-
tions of the Holy Communion on the
first Sunday in the month, and early
celebration on the third Sunday., and
afternoon Sun”ay school. The usuval
Sunday morning attendance during the
best part of the scason of 1895 ranged
from 250 to 800, and ths evening at-
tendance from 100 to 150. The offer-
tories when IToly Communion is cele-
brated are given to Th> Lakeside Home
for Sick Children, and amounted in the
summer of 1895 to $62. The balance
of the collection in the Sunday school
was given to the same object, amount-
ing to $3.46. 'The ordinary o’fertories,
which amounted in 1895 to $330.62,
were devoted to the maintenance of
the services, and the reduction of the
mortgage debt. The enlargement of
the church was pra-tically provided for
by subscription and by special collec-
tion. Mr. Richardson, lately choir-
master of St. Thomas’, was the organ-
1st during the scason of 1895.

Professor Foys, referred to in the
first part of this article. died in 1887.
He was one of tha stalf of professors
belonging to Trinity College. The
duty at St. Andrew’s during the sum-
mer months is shared by the Bishop
and clergy of the city.

CHAPTER XIV.
ST. BARTHOLOMEW'S.
A ) Rast End Rectery in & Quniet Nelzh
bourhood.

St. Bartholomew’s Church, situated
on the east side of River stre~t, ex-

actly opposite the southern extremity
of Wilton avenus, is a rough-cast
frame building of no great architec-
tual beauty or of imposing appearance,
externally or internally. It is in the
midst of an esg2ntially poor neighbour-
hood, there being no wealthy residents,
few even comparatively well to do yeo-
ple, in its locality. The interior of the
church, though, is pleasing to the eye;
there Is no ornate ornamentation cer=
tuinly but everything is neat and in
gool taste.

‘There is one aisle and from this long,
pine seats run to the walls, giving a
seating capacity of 400. The walls are
tinted and fanciful mottoss curve them-
selves above the windows. The chancel
has seats for the choir and a pretty
little pipe organ stands in its north-
east corner. The altar is a very fine
piece of handiwork and. contrasted
with the surroundings, is particularly
distinguishable. Above it are three
beautiful lancet-shaped, stained glass
windows, very rich in colour and ornate
in decoration containing church sym-
bols. This was the gift of "Mr. Allan
McLean Howard, who was one of the
chief instruments in the building of
this church. The school room back of it
will easily seat an audience of 200 peo-
ple and is plainly but comfortably fur-
nished.

St. Bartholomew’s church was built
in '1874-5 by Anglican citizens living
in the eastern end. The vroperty is
worth about $3,000. Connected with the
church have been some well known
citizens, among whom may be men-
tioned Mr. Frank Smith. Rev. J. Mo-
Lean Ballard, now of St. Anne’s, was
the first rector, and he was succeeded
by the present rector, Rev. George
{g%in Taylor, who assumed charge in

Mr. Taylor is a native Canadian, and
a graduate of Trinity College. He was
rector at Perrytown, in Brock town-
ship, where ie built two churches, and
then came to St. Bartholomew's. His
ministry here has been quiet but effec-
tive, and the most harmonious and
pleasant relation exists between him
and his people. In that section of the
city .a congregation will naturally be
composed of mainly poor p_eople, but
those of this church are liberal and
much interested in the parish inter-
ests. The service used is monotone in
character and the congregations par-
ticipate with great heartiness and
sympathy and appreciate its beauty and
penefit. There are about twenty-five
members of the choir.

The services are largely attended,
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especially Sunday evenings. Thereare
pearly 100 communicants, and the Sun-
day school, of which Mr. Grant Helli-
well was for many years the superin-
tendent, numkers about 200 chifd.ren.

In the twenty years that Mr. Tay-
lor has been rector of St. Bartholo«
mew’s he has, with the exception of
the services rendered by Rev. R. C.
Caswell, practically worked single-

handed, but seldom having had cleri-
cal assistance except during sickness
He possesses

or absence from home.

7

i

i
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mew’s parish is barely $1,000, for the
suppart of the church, choir, clergy,
and all other purposes. It should be
added, though, that the rector derives
a portion of his income from extrane-
ous sources, namely, the St. James’
Rectory fund and what is known as
the Commutation fund.

There is an active branch of the
Woman's Auxiliary to Missions in the
parish: they in 1897 raising, in a mem-
bership of 23, the sum of $102.90.

The wardens of St. Bartholomew’s

ST. BARTHOLOMEW’S CHURCH, RI1VER STREET.

a unique record, too, in one other re-
spect, he being the only rector of all
the Anglican churches in Toronto, who
has seen active service in the militia.
As a private in the Trinity College
Company, Queen’s Own Rifles, he was
resent in June, 1866, at the fight at
idgeway, being next to Ensign Mec-
Eachren when he fell mortally
wounded.

The annual revenue of St. Bartholo-

since 1874 have been as follows:—
1874-76—Henry Alley, Thomas Allen.
1876-78—H. A. Harvey, John Patterson.
1878-79—Robt. Davies, Thomas Allen.
1879-80—W. R. Over, C. K. Unwin.
1880-83—James Stewart, C. K. Unwin,
1883-84—W. E. Hart, C. K. Unwin.
1884-85—W. McGear, W. Dowding.
1685-86—C. K. Unwin, J. Haliburton.
1886-91— W, Hawthorne, C. Martin.
1891.93—F. Chesman, E. L. Barston.

PR ———



LANDMARKS OF TORONTO.

57

1893.04—E, L. Barston, T. L. Bucklse.
1884-96—T. L. Bucklee, R. H. Stewart.
1896-97—R. H. Stewart, J. Metcalfe.
1897-98—R. H. Stewart, W. J. Moore.
1898-99—R. Postans, W. J. Moore.

During the rectorate of Mr. Taylor
the church of St. Augustine, on the
north-east corner of Parliament and
Spruce streets, was built, but un-
happily that building has now (1898)
ceused to belong to the Anglican body,
owing to financinl reasons, It was dur-
ing the period that services were held
in St. Augustine’s that the Rev. R.
C. Caswell was associated with Mr.
Taylor in the parochial work of St.
Bartholomew’s.

CHAPTER XV.
CHURCH OF THE ASCENSION.’

A Down-tewn Parish — In Memory of
Canen Baldwin.

The Church of England has divided
the city of Toronto into a number
of parishes, in order the more effec-
tively to prosecute its mission work.
The territory of these parishes is well
defined and agreed upon, so that no
congregation can encroach upon an-
other’s district. It is not meant that
the Church of England people living
ewithin the boundary of a certain par-
ish have no right to attend a church
outside of that boundary; but the
division is made for the purpose of
covering the entire city, and of pre-
venting unnecessary encroachment.
The parish of the Church of the Ascen-
gion, situated on the south side of Rich-
mond street, west of York, extends
from the south side of Queen street
to the lake, and from the west side
of York street to the east side of John
street, including thes> sides. Perhaps
there is no more unfortunate section
of the city for the purpose of church
missionary work than this. Com-
paratively there are few permanent
residents in this section. The water-
front and public buildings and fac-
tories, together with other churches
located there, and the large number
of tenement houses, with their tran-
sient population, all militate against
it as a fertile fisld. The location of
this church is unfortunate, not only
so far as its territory is concerned,
but also on account of its immediate
surroundings. The street is an un-
pleasant one. There are factories in
the rear, with the prospect of another
being built there: it is too near York
street, with its unsavorv reputation,
and too mnear the notorious Adelaide

street; in fact, a more undesirable
locality for a church of its kind is
hardly conoeivable. And yet, notwith-
standing these outward disadvantages,
the Church of the Ascension is one
of the most (lourishing and important
of the city churches, both as to ma-
terial and spiritual interests, a fact
which the data here collated will fully
establish.

Externally the building of of no
special architectural value; it is a
modified Gothic structure of white
brick with stone dressing, having a
tower at the north-east cormer. Above
the main entrance is inscribed—
“Church of the Ascension, Canon Bald-
win Memorial Church.” A fine toned
bell is in the tower, and it was peal-
ing its sonorous music out over the
house-iops and mingling its jangling
notes with other metal tones that
made the air vocal on the Sunday
evening in the early spring of 1886
when the writer took his seat in the
last pew for the purposs of taking
notes of the service. A congregation
of 450 people was ass:mbled. It was a
“mixed” congregation; that is, there
were a few rich, many of moderate
means, and a number of poor people.
This criticism is drawn not only from
the dress, but from the general habit
and style—a mode of estimate that sel-
dom fails to accurately locate people
in this respect. The ushers were very
attentive. A genial smile and & grace-
ful little bow greeted the entering
young lady as she was deftly piloted
to the safe haven of her pew; the
older ladies were supposed to have suf-
ficient experience to pilot their own
way. while the young men, of course,
could tack down the aisle alone until
the desired pew was reached. While
standing, as the first hymn was being
sung, the writer felt some trivial com-
motion at his heels, and he looked
down to see a manly little fellow,
about ssven years old, creeping into
the pew, above which his head was
Larely visible. He deserves mention
here becausz he was alone, and was
a worshipful little fellow, and suffi-
cieptly intelligent to find the lessons.
and responses, and to reverently follow
them, his lips moving through every
part of the service. There was nothing
trivial about him. In vain did nis
neighbour try to win his acquaintance
with many smiles; he was serious—
too serious for one so young.

Possibly there is no other congre-
gation in Toronto where the responses
on the part of the people are so full,
so general, and so free: everybody
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seemed to fake part in the service,
and the mingling of so many voices
of different tones in one universal ut-
terance made & beautiful harmony.
No one was allowed to bz without a
book; that spirit of religious hospi-
tality so characteristio of our city

sponsible., While a sidesman was pas-
sing the plate for the collection it was
turned over, and the silver, the pennies
and the envelopes showered them-
selves over the fluor; of course every-
body was amused and many laughed;
Just why it {s hard to understand, but

'
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CHURCH OF TIE ASCENSION, RICHMOND STREKT, WEST.

churches prevails in this church very[ the laugh went around all the same.

fargely, and makes a stranger feel at
home, not as if he wishad he were
there. There was one other disturb-
ing incident. but it was an accident,
for which no one seeiucd directly ve-

The olher sidesmen seemed to be the
mo=i ~mused of all, whether from any
cpreitl feeling towards their unfor-
 tunate co-tax-gatherer, or from mo-
tives o self-congratulation {1s not

% (R
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known. They clustered behind the
wriler and had a hasty, laughing con-
sultation, then two of them pulled

themselves together, smoothed out the |
lines of laughter, and put on a digni-

fied and solemn asp.ct as they marched
down the aisle to carry the offerings
to the chancel, where they were re-
ceived by the minister and placed upon
the altar.

/ihe service in this church is em-
phatically of the “low church’ or
modernized Anglican form. The Book
of Commion Prayer is closely followed,
but beyond that there is nothing of the
ritualistic, except the bowing of the
people’s heads when the name of Jesus
is pronounced in the Creed. There 1s
no processional hymn; a short volun-
tary on the organ, and the two minis-
ters entered; a hymn was sung and
then the ordinary service followed. ‘The
hymn was announced, the organ’st
played the tune, then, while the minis-
ter read the first stanza, the choir
arose, the congregation rising when-the
fast stanza was read. The sermon, half
an hour in length, was delivered by
the Rev. R. A. Bilkey, the assistant
minister of the church. Mr. Bilkey
wus formerly the pastor of Christ (Re-
formed Episcopal) church on Simcaoe
street. He i3 a gentleman of wide ex-
perience and scolarship, and has the
unusual bnt happy faculty of giving
to the people sermons distingushed for
thought, beauty of expression, and
ettractiveness of delivery. He com-
bines just enough of the dramatic with
the sacred to make his delivery very
fmpressive; his sermon last Sunday
evening was a gem in this respect. It
was a lesson on the power of cons-
cience, drawn from the story of Joseph
and his brethren, based upon Genesis
42, 21 and 22. Words can scarcely de-
scribe the thrilling expression made
by Mr. Bilkey’s oratorical portrayal of
“the whip of conscience ” as it lashed
Joseph’s brethren. In well-chosen lan-
guage, with gesture and intonation
that became alwost tragic, he painted
a word-picture (hat was masterly in
its production and in most excellent
keeping with the practical lesson he
drew from the old Scripture story. His
description of the shameful barter and
his delineation of the sordid motives of
the betraying brethren all through
their different phases were so start-
Engly real as to prove fascinating to
o sympathetic listener.

Some of the expressions used are

5@ 1—
“Substantially conscience is the in-

,'born sense ol the right or wrong of
} moral conduct. What it says must be
| In accordance with the admitted laws
i of life. It is not always an infallible
guide, but needs education according
to the rule of right.

*Is there a conscience in all men?
Few seem to show it, Originally all
were gifted with it, though it has been
neglected and abused. if it is true,
ag scientific men teach, that some are
born with no moral sense and no oapa-
city for anfy, Lhat is to be classed with
insanity, and left to God’s compassion
and mercy. Two general considera-
tions show that all men had con-
sciences originally; first, the Word of
God appeals to all indiscriminaisly,
and if all men are not in a position
to receive these blessings it is a mock-
ery to offer them at all; second, the
best and wisest pagans saw from ob-
servation and experience a conscience
in each man.

“The conviction of deserved punish-
ment when we have done wrong (s
within us; injured self-respect, tears
of remorse, the blush of shame, these
are the immediate internal accusation
of wrong-doing.

“My younger Learers will never be
worse for the blush of shame till it
mingles with the wrinkles of old age.

“The tormenting claims of conscience
are all the hell we need believe in,
and that already legins here in part.

“Cicero truly said: man’s own
crime takes away man’s soundness of
mind.’

“There is no perdition deeper and
darker tham the loss of honour, of
self-respect, of innocence and purity.

“So long as conscience and memory
last in the coming world sins unre-
pented of will still be our avenging
companions.

“Life is full of chances, and we never
know when we shall strike up against
one and find what it can do for us.
Conscience is too great a power to be
subdued; there are surprising con-
junctions which awaken it; sins of
years ago will come back. The time is
coming when there will be no more
chances and we shall stand before One
whom we have wronged.”

The sermon was amplified with illus-
trations takan from the Bible story
out of which it sprang, and was a
most excellent production in every
way.

The organ is a two-manual, sweetly-
toned instrument, capable of great pow-
er, Its case is of oak and walmut, the
| pipes being gracefully arranged and
beautifully ornamented, giving the in-
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strument a rich appearance. [t is
walled up in a chamber to the right
of the chancel, and its tones seem to
be smothered in there; they lack re-
sonance and fullness and distinctness
on account of the enclusure.

The Church of the Ascension in an
outcome of the tumultuous history of
the Anglican church in Toronto when
the two factions, High and Low, vig-
orously contended for the establish-
ment of their respective views, and
when the Thurch Association was a
strong power in evangelical circles. A
number of people whose sympathies im-
pelled them to a simpler ritual and a
more evangelical system of Anglicanism
met, in the year 1875'in Rice's large
upper room on King street opposite the
Rossin Hougse. The first meeting was
held on the 4th of July, the late Can-
on E. RPaldwin officiating, although the
general movement towards the estab-
lishment of a new congregation was
under the fostering care of the late
Dean Grasett. On account of the fail-
ing health of the first incumbent, Rev.
George W. Moxon, of the cathedral
staff, had charge until his appointment
as rector of St. Philip’s church. In 1876
the Rev. J. G. Baylis, of Montreal,
became the rector. His eloquence
and the excellent singing attracted
such a large comgregation that the
room had to be enlarged to accommo-
date it. Mr. Baylis was compelled to
withdraw, on account of i1l health, and
Rev. S. W. Young became the next pas-
tor, and continued such until the' time
of his resignation in 1879. The} present
rector, Rev. H. Grasett Baldwin, was
ordained by Bishop Sweatman, Decem-
ber 21st of that year, and then be-
came the incumbent. He is a son of
Canon Edmund Baldwin, and a natijve
of this city, although he was educated
at St. John’s, Cambridge, England. Mr.
Bilkey became his assistant in July,
1884. To the rector’s pastoral over-
sight, the assistant’s eloquent and
scholarly .sermons and the choir’s
splendid singing is due the present ef-
ficient and prosperous ccndition of the
church. These three elements combined
have entirely overcome the terrible
disadvantages of location and sur-
roundings.

The land on which the churchis built
cost $9,500, and measures 131 feet on
Richmond street and 208 feet south to
the dividing line between Richmond
and Adelaide streets, together with
the right tc use a lane 20 feet wide
on the east. The tuildings cost about
$27,000, and the improvements recent-

Iy made will swell the amount to near-
ly $30,000. Building operations were
begun in the spring of 1877, and the
church was entered upon on Advent
Sunday, December 2nd, 1877. The land
was occupied by tenement houses pre-
vious to the erection of the church. The
late Samuel B. Smith discounted the
subscription list for the mew build-
ings, and was a most generous donor
himself. But for his generosity the
church would be hopelessly encumbered
with debt. When he died the entire
debt of $30,000 was cancelled, accord-
ing to the provisions of his will. A
plate on the organ states that the
instrument was presented by him
in May, 1881. To the left of the
chancel is a memorial tablet erected
as a token of grateful remembrance on
the part of the comgregation for this
“faithful member and munificent bene-
factor.”

Back of the church, at a right angle
to and directly connecied with it, is
a capacious and well-proportioned

‘school-house, with a gallery for the in-
| fant class and 4 communicating, well-

furnished Bible class room; at the east-
ern end is a large stage with a con-
venient ante-room on one side and a
kitchen fully stocked with culinary ap~
purtenances of every description on the
other. Besides the large organ in the
church there are two upright pianos and
two fine cabinet organs in the building.
The conveniences, rooms and all attach-
ments for religious and social church
work are ample and commodious.

The congregation includes within it-
self a number of Toronto's prominent
citizens, who are closely identified with
its activities, Prof. Goldwin Smith be-
ing among the number. Messrs. J. E.
B. Smith and R. H. Temple are the
churchwardens. The property is vest-
ed in the trustees, for the congregation,
and is so held independently of the
general church synod. There are no
less than ten subsidiary organizations,
properly officered and conducted, that
carry on the general' church work.
Most excellent monthly concerts were
given during the winter by the Tem-
perance Society; they were largely at-
f%rllded. much enjoyed and very profit-
able.

The Sunday school has had a phe-
nomenal growth. At the first meet-
ing, July 4th, 1875, there were ten
children present; now, in 1886, the
school numbers about 700, withi a Bible
class whose average attendance is 200,
and that of the infant class 125, The
school raises about $450 a year, while
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the income from all sources in the gen-
eral church work is about $10,000.

The unattractive exterior of the
Church of the Ascension gives no in-
dication of the magnificent interior.
It will seat about 900 people, and is
most comfortably furnished through-
out; there are three heavy archways
on either side opening into modified
transepts. The chancel is a very ex-
tensive one, and accommodates about

sion of an ordinary observer is ons of
bewilderment as to the particular
style according to which this church
is decorated. Mr. Frank Darling in
1884 designed the decorations, which
were executed by Mr. Hovenden, the
painter, the whole costing $1,000. Mr.
Darling has preserved the true princi-
ple of artistic work in every depart-
ment, the principle that establishes a
general rule or law of decoration, and

ORGAN, CHOIR AND ALTAR,

CHURCH OF THE ASCENSION,

& hundred. The furniture is plainly or-
namented, but very neat and attrac-
tive. A large stained glass window
above the communion table is decorated
with monograms and various devices,
while the table itself is of the simplest
construction. The central aisie and the
entire chancel are covered with heavy
Brussels carpet; appropriate mot-
toes are inseribed at the f{ront
and rear, and the whole room is neat,
clean and artistic. The impr

bends the detalls of the work to that
rule. Some of the details may be defi-
cient, but so long as the general har-
mony is preserved, artistic taste is not
violated. The walls, arches and ceil-
ing are all painted according to a de-
sign that may best be expressed by
the word unique. It is a style of deco-
rative art, partaking of the Moresqus,
freer than the antique, with sugges-

tions of more modern Orientalism; per-

- haps [t falls in with the Renaissance
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proper; at all events it is exceptional,
and very impressive and rich. How-
ever fanciful any details may be they
are not so violent as to mar the beauty
and symmetery ol the general style.
Perhaps it impinges too much upon
the sombre, and yet the introduction
of more brilliant colouring would ren-
der the general idea grotesque. It is
an artistic piece of work, and as such
merits examination and approval.

With this beautiful building, prac-
tically free of all debt, with a Sunday
school second to none in the city, with
its sermons and music and well organ-
ized work and free service and general
culture the Church of the Ascension
desz2rves a prominent place among the
churches of the city.

- . - - - -

On January 1st, 1896, Rev. H. G.
Baldwin, who had been in very lad
health, and unable to fulfil his duties
for many months previously, resigned
the incumbency of the Church of the
Ascension, to the great regret of the
members of the congregation, though
it had been seen for some time previ-
ously that this step was only a ques-
tion of time.

The clergy of the Church of the As-
censmn since its commencement have

een :—

July. 1875, to February, 1876, vari-

[Febr'ua.ry, 1876, to September, 1876,
Rev. J. G. Baylis.

October, 1876, to January, 1877, Rev.
Jas. Williams.

January, 1877, to July, 1879, Rev G.
W. Young.

August, 18" 9, to January, 1880, Rev.
Saltern Givens.

January, 1880, to March, 1896, Rev.
H. G. Baldwin.

Bucceeded by Rev. G. A. Kuhring,
who was appointed in April, 1896.

The wardens have been these:—

From 1887 to 1892, R. H. Temple, J.
E. Perkelzy Smith.

From 1892 to 1894, Thos. Langton, Q.
C., J. B. Fitzsimons.

From 1894 to 1896, C. E. Ryerson,
J. B. Fitzsimons.

From 1896 to 1809 T. D. Delamere, |
J. B. Fitzsimons.

CHAPTER XVI.
ST. MATTHIAS.

A Typleal High Church Service and Cen-
gregation.

On the east side of Bellwoods avenue,
near Queen strest, stande a low set,

long, narrow brick building, known as
the ¢ Church of St. Matthias " A quaint
and even rude little belfry, whose finial
is a eross, riszs from the ridge of the
sharply-pitched roof and a mers shed
roof covers the only entrance from the
street towards which the gable of the
church stands. Running out into a
large vacant lot on the north side is
a frams extension used as a Sunday-
schoo! and weekly service room. There
is nothing whatever architecturally
attractive about this strange looking
! Church of England building and yet
in a respect to be noticed further on,
it is the most remarkable church in the
city of Toronto. It is located in a
poor section of the city and its ex-
ternal appearance is in keeping witk
the general character of the section.
There are mo fime residences out in
that west emd, no nicely laid lawns and
flower beds, such as are secem in the
north-eastern part of the city, no im-
posing buildings. On the contrary, it
is evidently the section of the poor
man’s home, and the houses ‘correspond
with the circumstanczs of their in-
mates. In such a section as this is
St. Matthias' located, and there it is
doing excellent work in a systematic
and sympathetic way.

Nor s there very mmuch to be said
about the inside of the church., al-
! though it is much more attractive than
the outside. The purlins and timbers
supporting the steep roof are darkly
outlined against the white—coated ceil-
ing. The low sides of the church are
| built of red brick, with white brick
| intermingled to relieve the monoton-
ous appearance, as the walls are not
plastered. Half way down the church
an immense gothic arch of timber-work
spans the nave and is cut into a small-
er arch on either side. The floor is
bare save for a strip of matting down
the centre aisle, and the seats are of
plain, unpainted pine, reversible, while
common wooden chairs are ranged
along the side aisles. Ten small win-
dows admit light by day and simple,
unadorned gas pipes furnish light by
| night. Above the main entrance on
- Bellwoods avenue is a ross window
| with a cathedral glass window on each
| side. A little vestibule about three
' feat wide forms a sort of porch; In-
slde of this is a box. on gne side for
the “Altar Fund.,” and one on the other
slde of the door, for the “Poor Fumd.”
In the north-west corner a stone mem-
orial tablet is sunk into the wall com-~
memorating Thomas Kearton Morgan,
"ome of the first churchwardens, and
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Thos. Dent Groves, a Sunday school
teacher. These young men died by the
terrible disaster which befel the yacht
Sphinx on Lake Ontario. Sept. 14th,
1873. In that year a very handsome
and complete solid siiver communion
service was presented to the church asa
memorial of these prominent members.

Bulletin boards are hung at conven-
fent places announcing the services for
the day, while printed placards may
be seen which read; “The seats in this
church are entirely free and unappro-
priated. Strangers are invited to take
a seat near the chanczl and take pari
in the service. All expenses are de-
frayed so'cly by the offertory,” closing
‘with a request that every one will
“assist in mnintaining a proper spirit
of devolion, anl reverent demeanour ”

About one-third of the building, at
its eastern end, is s:t apart as a chan-
cel and is divided from the nave by a
panalled partition of cherry wood. Just
outside of this is the pulpit desk
covered with a beautiful silk frontlet
with a cross and 1. H. S. worked thera-
on in silk floss. Three steps admit one
to the chanc:l; on either side of the en-
trance are ranged at right angies to the
nave, long pews for the choir, while
a small organ, with gilt pipes and

oaken case i3 set on the mnorthern
slde. This organ has only 12
and yet it is an ex-

stops, .

cellent Instrument, combining great
power with considerable sweetness of
tona. ‘This floor is also uncarpeted ex-
cept along the centre and up to the
altar, which part is entirely covered.
Two long low windows are screened
by red curtains hung upon brass rings,
while sthere is one pretty stained glass
window on the south. Two steps fur-
ther rise to the sanctuary proper, and
three more to the altar. On one side
is the Bishop’s chair, an ornamentally
carved oaken chair, and on the other
are three stalls. In the south-east cor-
ner is a neatly-covered table contain-
ing two silver salvers for offertory
use, bearing the motto: “God Loveth
a Cheerful Giver,” and a highly polish-
ed brass book rest with the altar ser-
vice book, enclosed in a rich velvet
case, resting upon it. Let into an
arched recess in the wall is the corner
stone containing the inscription: Anno
Domini MD XIII. Here was seen
the altar offertory plate with the in-
scription ‘“ Freely ye have received,
freely give” on it. The wall of the
sanctuary is covered with a darkly-
figured paper relieved by gilt beading
and a series of pine mouldings. The
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ceiling is pure white, and the eastern
wall 1s simply red brick. A magnifi-
cently illuminated window, in friple
form, rises from back of the altar and
adds immeasurably to the beauty of
the chancel. On one side is a silken
banneret with a cross and I. H. S.
wrought upon it, while one opposite
has the Greek Jetters Alpha and Omega
intertwined with the cross.

A' magnificent altar is that of St.
Matthias’ church. On the:lower step
are two tall wooden candlesticks to
hold the wax candles or “Gospel
Lights.” The altar jtself is an orna-
mental one made of dark wood, and
was carved and built by the divinity
students of Cobourg for the parish.
There the church in which it was
placed was feloniously entered by
some Protestant persons, the orna~
ments were all swept from the altar
while it was cut and hewed, and gen-
erally defaced by axes in the hands
of zealous Protestants who thought
it the vehicle of Popery. The marks
of this defacement are yet distinctly
vigible in its beautiful carvings. It was
stored away in a barn. for a while aud,
after being restored, served its sacred
purpose in the church at Weston. Before
the rector there, Rev. W. A. Johnson,
died, he presented the altar to Rev.
Chas. B. Darling, cuxate of St. Mat-
thias’, and he in time gave it to this

| parish.

In the centre, below, is carved I.H.S.,
with ladder and spikes on the left and
hammer and pincers on the right,
while below is the motto: *“ My flesh ig
meat indeed and my blood is drink
indeed.” Its various parts are covered
with rich and elegant cloths brilliant-
ly wrought in gold bullion and a beau-
tiful variety of bright colours, while
a velvet frontal has the inscription
“I am the true vine.” In the centre
is a dark velvet, gold lined square,
with the “letters 1. H. S. inscribed,
while large and small vases, all highly
ornamented, with bright and fragrant
flowers, add to the general splendour
of it all. There are two candelabra of
five sconces each for the *vesper
lights,”” and two large brass candle-
sticks for the “pucharistic lights.” In
the middle, with a dark blue velvet
curtain in the background, is a mag-
nificent brazen cross inlaid with bril-
liants, while pretty burnished cups are
at the sides.

The reredos is In perfect keeping
with this splendid piece of furniture;
it consists of panelled gothic wood-

! work, extended at each side by heavy
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blue silken curtains most elaborately
and elegantly wrought and hanging
from burnished rods in the usual style
of portiere adornment. These curtains
serve to enclose the altar and to en-
hance its magnificence.

A large and beautiful stone baptis-
mal font, the handiwork and gift of
Mr. Mollington, concludes a descrip-
tion of the furniture of the church.
The school room is very simple in its

land, excited considerable curiosity in
the mind of the writer, and he was
very anxious to see and understand
it all. As he left Queen street and
turned up Bellwoods avenue the im-
pression was not favourable so far as
the locality is concerned, and when the
humble and unadorned church itself
was first seen the impression already
received was strengthened. The homely
and almost rude interior was regarded

P St I .

CHURCH OF ST. MATTIIIAS, BELLWOODS AVENUE.

furniture, though a magnificent little
altar recess is to be seen there, with
an altar whosa decorations are rich
and beautiful. Communication is had
with the church proper by large doors,
and a cosy and neat little vestry opens
from it back of the organ.

The reputation of this church for a
service that on its introduction was
unique in the Church of England, at
least in Canada, though not so in Eng-

with astonishment, oonsidering the
fine reputation enjoyed by St. Mat-
thiag’ for ritual ; naturally one expects
to find a building corresponding with
the elevated character of the service.
But it was cool and pleasant in the
church, and a seat was taken well for-
ward where the first sight of the mag-
nificent altar at once chained the at-
tention. It was not much after ten
o'clock, and oniy a few .people were

s
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present, and these were devoutly
studying their prayer-baoks. By and
by a few omore entered, and
just before going into the pew

some bent the knee towards the altar
or made a slight courtesy in that
direction. A little boy entered from
the school-room, took down the end
of & Tope and rang the little bell, about
forty persons being now present. A
surpliced organist entered and play-
ed B brief voluntary while the priest,
Mr. Harrison, entered from the vestry,
stood momentarily when opposite the
altar and bowed towards it, then pass-
ing across the chancel began the usual
morning prayers. The entire service
was intoned; there was no choir, as this
was only a preliminary service, but the
people all intoned the responses, led
by the very pleasant and resomant
voice of the minister. Whenever the |
Gloria was said many of the congrega-
tion either bent the knee or bowed“
the head, and at the end of the Creed
many signed the cross on their £ore-|
heads and breasts. And in the hymns |
that were sung whenever the name of
Jesus was mentioned there was a low
bending of the body. The chanting
and singing were very fine, and it was
at once evident that the musical cul-
ture of this congregation was of a su-

rior nature to that usually known
in Protestant churches. The usual
Church of England morning prayer was
followed rigidly; in fact, the entire ser-
vice was exclusively within the rubric
and was more faithfully followed, ac-
cording to that rubric, than is done
elsewhere in churches of that denomin-
ation. At the conclusion of the ser-
vice, which lasted forty minutes, the
priest remained in silent prayer 4 min-
ute or so before the altar, and then
withdrew, the people still being upon
their knees.

At 11.15, a large congregation being
present, a surpliced boy came out and
rang the bell a few minutes, while an-
other went to the altar with a taper
and lighted the gas jets above thecur-
tains and the wax candles on the steps
and on the altar. After the little bell
ceased its ringing the sound of chant-

ing was heard in the distance, the large |

doors of *he school-room were thrown
back, the sound of the musical sym-
phony grew nearer nnd directly the
choir entered singing the processional
hymn. It was led by two little boys
whose faces just reached above the tops
of the seats and then graded until it
was ended by several men, the bass
and tenor singers. There were eigh-
teen boys and men, each one clad in
white surplice and black cassock.
the whole followed by Revs. C. B.

Darling, the curate, and R. Harrison,
the rector, anil officiating priest on this
occasion. The hymn ‘was beautifully
sung, and the reporter was thereby as-
sured of a fine musical treat, nor was
he disappointed in the least. Slowly,
reverently and with dignity the pro-
cession wended its way to the altar,
two by two, where they bowed and then
separated so that half of the choir was
on, either side of the chancel. Immedi-
ately preceding the choir was a cross-
bearer; after entering the chance! the
large, brazen cross was stationed to
the left. where it remained. The offi-
ciating priest stood at the steps of the
altar until the last stanza of the hymn
was being sung, the congregation mean-
while standing. and then he ascended
to the altar standing face towards it
until the hymn was concluded. It
was an impressive beginning of what
proved to be an elaborate and very
beautiful service.

The service was the Communion or
| eucharistic office, and was begun with
i the Ten Commandments, all recited in

monotone, the effect of the boys’ and
| men’s voices joined with those of the
{ people, who seemed to understand the

music and intelligently sang it, was
most delightful and pleasing. The
i epistle, a very short lesson, was read,
i and then, preceded by a short choral,
the gospel for the day, the congre-
| gation rising and the choir facing the
altar. These lessons were read by the
priest, standing at one side of the
eltar. At no time, save in administer-
ing the communion, did he leave that
place. And his vestments were more
than are usually seen in a Church of
England service; in addition to the
usval Surplice there was a richly
wrought chisubles, an ornamented stole
and a handsome maniple. There was
no impropriety 1n this rick vestiture
compared with the brilliantly lighted
sltar and the splendonr of its adorn-
ments; indeed, an ordinary vestment
would have destroyed the aesthelic
| effect of the service as well as its
woral force,

Perhaps the most impressive part of
i the service occurred during the repeti-
| tion of the creed. It was intoned by
 the entire congregation while the

organist played a running accompani-

ment that wove the sweetest melody
i in and about the solemn declarations
' of the life, passion, death and triumph
| of the Incarnate Lord. ‘When His

Lumility and snfferings and death
were spoken of every one spoke slowly,
in a low and tender way; even the
organ, wiili its subdued tones, seemed
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to catch the holy meaning of the words
and added to the impressiveness of
their delivery. At the end of the creed
tbe people and choir signed the cross
oa their breasts. It was the most culti-
vated service it has been the writer’s
privilege to witness outside of a Roman
Catholic church, where, of course,
special stress is laid upon the artistic
execution of an elaborate and ornate
ritual.

And a most remarkable fact in con-
nection with the service was the silent
adoration on the part of the people.
In fact, the order was so gool and
the attention so intense'y concen-
trated that the moments of silence
were almos: painful in their nature.
And it is always so in this church. The
average atlendance is five hundred,
and yet there is never the slightest
infraction of good order o: of that
devout spiri: that should characlerize
Cbristian worship. And this is more
remarkable when the locality and the
coussquen’ character of its audiences
are caonsiderel.

Rev. . Hurrison intoned the ser-
vice with naturalness, grace and a
voice remarkable fo- resonance and

purity He was absolutely free f-om an
indication of that artificiality charac-
terizing ‘'so many ministers of this
order, and it is a musical pleasure
to hear his easy and natural delivery
of the service. He made a short ad-
dress from the words ‘‘God meant it
for good.” and in it he gave helpful
and practical siggestions as to a
Christian’s daily life and conduct..
After the sermon the offe to-y was
received by two oificers, carciel to the
curate, who deposited it upon the large
plate. which he then carried to the
officiating minister, and he, after ele-
vating it above the altar, placed it
ihereon, all the others, including a
ckoir boy, meanwhile standing in a
pictures yue position. And this little
incident was characteristic of every-
thing done; the artistic and aesthetic
efie~ts were always strictly regarded. |
During the prayer of consecration, the
bread and wine having been presented
to the priest by his attendant, the
elements were elevated by him, and
he then knelt before the altar while
administerin% to himself, the choir '
singing a beautiful selection in a
minor key. The people then came for-'
ward and knelt before the altar.
There were forty communicants at:
this service, the greater part of the'
congregation having communicated at
the eicht o'clock service. After all
bad communicated, the usual prayer-

 of the surplice.

book servize followed; the chalice and
bread were covered, the book removed
from the altar, and the choir organ-
ized for withdrawal. A recessional
hymn was sung, and the iwo priests
and cross-bearer took their station,
one behind the other, while the choir
slowly passed by the altar, bowing to-
wards it in the passage and sweetly
singing the Nunc Dimittis, Too much
praise cannot be given the excellent
singing of this choir. The musle is
all of classical selactiod, and Lthe hymns
sung are of the mo:t dignified and
worthy nature. The who'e serii e, from
the beginning of matins, was two
hours in length: but even that time
seemed short, cousidering the novelty
and beauiy of it.

The reason of the observance of these
peculiarities is given so (nat readers
may have an unprejudiced and honest
1epresentation of this unijue service.
Oa the matter of the priest turning
the same way in prayer as the congre-
gation, it may be said that the duty
of the minister in church during
prayer time is to lead the congrega-
tion in prayer, and thus to act as he-
ing a member of the congregation
himself, So he do2s exactly l'ke the
mayor o° a towyn who goes u» with
the coryporation and the citizens te
present an address to the Queen. He
stands facing the Queen, with his
companions ranged behind him, and
reads the address in that position. He
never thinks of turning round and
reading the address to them. The
prayers in the Prayer book are ad-
dressel to Go:l. and not to the congre-
gation ; and so the minister who reads
them must do so in a way to prevent
the congregation from forgetting what
they are reallv engaged in doing, and
fancying, as they often do, that they
have come to Jlisten to the nrayers,
instead of joining in them. When the
minister “turns his back’” on the peo-
ple, he is behaving as their equal;
when he turns his face to them, as he
does in preaching, it is as their su-
perior, to whom they are bound to
listen. The former is. therefore, the
humbler and less self-confident posi-
tion.

The principle of a special dress for
the minister is found in the Old
Testament and is granted everywhere
in the Church of England by the use

As the Holy Com-
munion is the chief service more so
than morning and evening prayer, it
is well to have some way of marking
the difference of rank and dignity. A
general does not wear the same uni-
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form as a private, nor does the juidge
in court dress like a barrister. On
great occasions, such as a state re-
view or the public entry of judges into
an assize town, handsomer dresses are
worn by officers and julges than their
usual professional clothes. And when
. the Queen gives a public reception
every ome must go im court dress.
which is quite unlike any other dress
worn by (ﬁadies and gentlemen. It is

INTERIOR OF CHERCH OF ST.

dom, and has come down from the
days of Christ and the A-~ostles for it
is, in fact, their old e:stern dress, en-
riched and ornamented, and used in
niemory of 4 religion having come
from the Holy Land neirly two thou-
sand years n%c and no‘ having been
| invented in England in modern times.

Lights are used on the altar, be-
cause of their brightness and beauty,
1n the same spirit that prompts people

A

aTatalal

MATTHIAS.

right and proper, then, that the chief
act of Christian worship, the only one
ordained by Christ himself, should h ive
equal respect shown to it. The reason
why the particular dress called the
*veatments,’ is worn, rather than an-
other, is, first, because it iz the dress
commanded by the Prayer-Book, which
is the law, to be worn. This dress is
worn, with very slight lo>:l difference,
in all the ancient churches of Christen-

to illuminate their houses or their city.
They are to remind the church that
Christ is the true light of the world ;
by using them in daytime, contrary to
the natural order, significance is given
to the supernatural character of the
sacrament. And they illustrate the
ritual of Heaven, where seven lamps
of fire are renresented zs burning be-
fore the Golden Altar.

On the opposite page of the prayer
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book, at morning prayer, is the ‘Orna-
ments Rubric,” which decrees that
such ornaments as were in use in the
Church of England, by the authority
of parliament, Tn the second year of
the reign of King Edward the Sixth
shall be retained and used. This year
was 1549, and the prayer book of that
year specifies the precise ritual now
used at St. Matthias’ church, Toronto.
Upon the altar of many parish
churches in England lights are used
constantly; at St. Paul's Cathedral
they are used daily and the custom
prevails at Trinity church. New York
Ci'y, the largest and weallhiest Episco-
pal church in Americ:. [t appears,
therefore, that St. Matthias’ is thus
thoroughly loyal to the Prayer-Book;
that it is doing an exceptional amount
of good cannot be doubted, whatever
may be said of its ritual.

In 1873 a number of prominent
Church of ZEngland people, whose
pames are given below, found that to
keep up with the needs of the
living round Trinity University a
place of worship was necessiry, and R.
A. Harrison. Q. C., afterward Ch'ef

Justice of Ontario, D. B. and J. B.
Reed, brothers, and both eminent law-

ers, John Carler, organist of St.
ames’ Cathedral (and a member of
the famous musical family of that

name), T. K. Morgan, J. F. Cross, F. |

D. Graves and others, while the staff
of Trinity University gave every help
and encouragement, met on the 24th
February, 1873 (St. Matthias’ day) when
the plan took shape. The first services
were held in a room
street. Afterwards a site was procur-
ed on Strachan avenue and a school
house built on it, the Rev. C. B. Dar-
ling, son of the well-known clergyman
of that name, was appointed to the
charge on January 4, 1374, and the neat
building opened. The previous Christ-
mas a day, or parochia., school had
been started in connection with the
mission, and was carried on for a time
very successfully. In April, 1874, a sur-
pliced choir was instituted, and from
the first found favour and proved a
great help in the services. In 1875 the
Rev. T. B. Ford was chosen locum ten-
ens owing to the illness of the incum-
bent, as lus name was a guarantee
that the catholic spirit and duties of
the parish would be faithfully car-
ried on. In 1882 the Rev. Charles Dar-
ling became, assistant, and from this
time prosperity settled on the parish;
1885 Rev. R. Symons was assistant,
being replaced in 1890 by Rev. G. H.
Webb, and Rev. W. Norgatt, 1889. Hav-

people

on Tecumseh |

ing moved to present location, Bell-
i wood’s avenue, oppesite Trinity Col-
{ lege, the TRev. R. Harrison being
| rector  sinca  1875. The vparish
| suffered greatly in numbers and in-
| come by the erection of the parishes
of St. Thomas, St. Margaret’s, St. Bar-
| nabas and St. Mary Magdalene, the as-
sistant at St. Matthias, Rev. C. B. Dar-
};rﬁg becoming rector of the latter par-

ish,

In 1895 Rev. F. G. Plummer was as-
sistant, and later the Rev. J. McKee
McLennan and Rev. William Carter
were the assistants.

In his inquiry into the history of St.
Matthias® the writer found closely con-
nected with it the hospital conducted
by the Sisters of St. John the Divine.
It is not a parochial institution, but is
tocated at Robinson street and Euclid
avenue, within the parish limits and is,
therefore closely associated with the
church. The Reverend Mother Super-
" jor most kindly greeted the writer,
though she was cgmpelled to receive
him in the hall of the hospital, her of-
fice being converted into a sick room.
This is an institution organized for cor-
poral and spiritnal works of mercy
| among the poor. A dispensary is con-
 nected with the hospital where, for one
hour on Saturdays and Wednesdays,
free treatment is given to poor women
i and girls. The hospital is exclusively
! for the treatment of women. There is
| a, free ward for those who are too poor

to pay anything, while those who can
. afford to pay a little may do so. at
the rate of $3 per week. Working
girls who are tco poor to pay much are
frequent patients; and recently several
serious surgical operations have been
successfnlly performed. There are
rooms for private patients, and the en-
tire establishment has a cosmopolitan
character on this account. The sisters
themselves, none of whom are paid,
are members of the higher classes of
society who have sacrificed the world
in this sublime devotion to duty and
mercy. Their house is quiet, cool and
pleasant, d¢nd a mere visit to it is a
benediction. There is a gentle patience
and consideration in all the movements
and words of these noble women that
alone conduces to rest.

The hospital has not been opened two
vears, and has had 140 patients, about
two-thirds free. There are ten beds,
and these are generally full; frequently
temporary beds are put up for extra
numbers. The institution is partly self-
supporting, but there are good friends
! at hand to support it, and no anxiety is
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felt as to its continued success. Four
physicians are upon active duty at the
institution. The present quarters are
found to be inadequate for the bene-
ficent work of the sisters, and a new
site for larger buildings is now about
being selected.

The sisters also support and minister
to the Home for the Aged People on
Larch sireet, in St. George's parish,
where there are two buildings and 11
inmates. ‘And another excellent work
being done by these heroic women is
$he reclamatijon of straying., but peni-
tent girls who are taken in and helped
back to virtue and usefulness. They
contemplate the erection of a Shelter
of Mercy for such homeless and outcast
girls. The residents in the parish speak
highly of the visitation and ministra-
tion of these gentle sisters among the
poorest classes, where they nurse wo-
men and children, by night and day, at ;
the sacrifice of every personal consid-
eration. )

After a long illness the Rev. Richard !
Harrison, the rector of St. Matthias’
church, died in 1896, and was succeed-
ed in the duties of his office ny the
Rev. N. B. Norrie, who had for some
time before the death of Mr. Harrison '
been assisting in the parish.

It» must be borme in mind by the
reader that this sketch of St. Matthias
church and its services was written
partly in 1888 and the latter portion
in 1898. There has not heen anv change
n the services up to the Iatter year.
The wardens of the church have been !
the following:

1873-1874—T. K. Morgan, D. B. Reed.
1874-1875—C. C. Foster, D. B. Reed.
1875-1876—~W. A. Fowler, John Way.
1876-1877—R. H. Brown, H. Moodie.
1877-1878—Dr. Dean, W. A. Fowler.
1878-1879—Thos. Bailey, W. Peacock.
1879-1880—P. Beverley, G. Y. Tims.
1880-18%3—G. Y. Tims, L. Tomlinson.
1883-1885—W. Smith, T. McCleary.
1885-1886—W. Smith, W. Thompson.
1886-1887—G. W. Verral, W. Thompson. !
1887-1888—G. W. Verral, A. H. Light-

bourne.
1888-1889—G. W. Gander, W. J. Thomp-

son.
1889.1800—P. Dykes, . J. Prior.
1890-1891—P. Dykes, G. Gowanlock.
1891-1893—Dr. Pepler, I. Sampson.
1893-1894—V. E. F. Morgan, E. Simpson.
1894-1897—John Carter, John R. Davis. !

CHAPTER XVIIL
ST. THOMAS.

A Prospereus €engregntion Formed Frem
Small Reginnings.

This church forms one of a cordon
of six English churches, ranged at
proper distances from each other, in
the line of Bloor street. It is situated
on the south-west corner of Sussex
avenue and Huron street. Mr. Frank
Dariing, architect of this city, with
his thorough skill in church architec-
ture, was the designer of it. It is per-
fectly ecclesiastical in all its details,
and tinted and kalsominped, is internal-
ly surpassed by no church in the city.

The present parish of St. Thomas is
smaller than formerly—the services in
St. Alban’s cathedral sunplying the
spiritual needs of the north-west part
of the parish. The church was former-
ly on Bathurst street, but the trustees
thought it prudent to move it to its
present site. This was a wise step, as
the cathedral of St. Albans is built
within a stone’s throw of where the
church formerly stood.

The church passed through the vari-
ous troubles of a missionary church.
It was erected by the subscriptions of
churchmen, principal among whom
was the late Wm. Russell Bartlett, of
Davenport roid, who contributed large-
ly to the building fund. It was built
about 1874, and was moved to its pre-
sent site in 1882. The seats in it have
always been free, and will always con-
tinue so. It has nothing to support it
but the free-will offerings of those
who worship in it. There is a debt of
$2,450 on it. A site for a schoolhouse
18 excavated at the west end, and it is
hoped next year to complete this

| necessary adjunct to it, without which

the right arm is wanting.

The services are hearty, warm and
cheerful in character—the congrega-
tion is asked to join as the Church of
England requires, and it does resrond
as a congregation should; the choir
simply leads the worship, and in no
way attempts to supercede the audible
devotions of the people. The choir is
surpliced and the services in the
morning are partially choral: in the
evening they are full choral. The tunes
used are Gregorian, these being con-
sidered most conducive in the public .
worship of God. The hymn book is
Ancient and Modern, and the singing
is well sustained by the surpliced choir
of men and boys. The services are at
11 a. m. and 7 p. m.; Sunday school
at 3 p. m.; week day service, Wednes-
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p. m.; practice of choir each
Friday at 7.30 p. m.

The rector of the parish is the Rev.
J. H. McCollum, A. M., a graduate of
“Trinity College, Dublin, and A. M. of
‘Prinity College, Toronto. Mr. McCol-
Jum in 1£¢74 commenced holding services
won the cormer of Bloor and Bathurst
streets in an old house belonging to
Mr. Howland. From this weak legin-
ning the church started, and St.
Thomas’ church and St. Alban’s Cathe-
dral now occupy the ground.

The nave of the church is 60 feet

Mr. John Payne, with his sidesmen,
manages the financial affairs of the
church; zealous and careful in all
pecuniary matters connected with the
office of warden, yet spirited enough
to sanction and engage in any outlay
which might improve the church and
make it more attractive.

The building is an old, frame, rough-
cast structure, rather quaint in ap-
pearance wilh a suggestion of the
picturesque. The gable faces Huron
street, and there is one entrance from
this street into a transept on the

"Qﬁ.
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CHURCH OF ST. THOMAS, SUSSEX AVENUK AND HURON STRENT, AS IT WAS.

long by 34 feet wide, the chancel 33 x
96, and the seating capacity is about
3°0. The recior's woi:ty for the last
year of the Toronto rectory surplus
was $i15. St. Thomas' has had more
than its share of difficulties, .but'lt
has emerged out of all, and with its
attractive services, solely and purely
Church of England in all the compre-
hensiveness of that noble Christian
office, it has a bright future hefore

it. Mr. George Furnival has been the !

organist for many years, a faithful,
punctual and conscientious musician,
raining or shining ever at his post.

|

north, that is, it is a transept ex-
| ternally, but not internally. The other
entrance is in the rear, on Sussex
avenue. The chancel is built in the
eas'ern gable, and is a beautiful
model. with a handsome reredos and
substantial furniture. ‘The Fbuilding
exiernally shows its age; the shingles
are well worn under the he:st of many
summers and the storms of many win-
ters and, in fact, the bhuilding bears
all over itself this evidence of age.
From the middle of the sharply-point«
ed roof rises an odd-looking tower or
projeciion, called a ‘fleche, that in-
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tensifies the peculiarity of the struc-
ture. An enclosed porch contains the
entrance from the north.

Put this antique external appearance
is not balanced by an equally ancient-
looking interor; for this is very neat
and pretty. The flcor is bare save for
a strip of matting along the central
and only aisle; the chancel is entirely
carpeted. Loug seats extend from each
side of this aisle to the wall opposite
and each one contains a bcok rest and
a foot rest. I'our polished gasaliers
are pendant from the ceiling, and
these abundantly illuminate the room
at night. In the eastern gable are lan-
cet form ‘gothic windows and a small
wheel window, while the other win-
dows, on the north and south sides, are
swung upon hinges. There are ventil-
ating registers in the roof manipulated
by Iong cords. A little hell whose
tones seem diminutive and of not the
most musical character, swings aloft
and is rung by the caretaker standing
directly at the entrance to the chan-
cel. The organ is placed in the vestry
to the south of the chancel.

A very pretty picture was made that
Sunday evening in this organ recess;
there is a narrow opening between it

fst iUs plainly visible to the congrega-
tion. This officer is an old gentleman
with silvery white hair and a full
white beard; a light suspended above
him, but not visible, threw its radiance
down over his snow-white bhair and
fell in shiznmering beauty upon the
folds of his white surplice, enwrapping
him as with a halo and presenting
the whole as a framed picture that
seemed artistically appropriate to the
sublimity of the service.

To hear this service, the writer found
his way tu St. Thomas’ church oue
Sunday evening, passing thitherward,
the usual crowds of people that throng
the avenues and streets of the city
every Sunday evening. As the less
densely populated portion of that sec-
tion is approached the crowd is less
dense and partakes more of a strag-
gling character, moving through
Queen’s Park and over the commons of

th» rorth-west in divergent lines. But

not all of the crowd is going to church;
the less clearly lighted portions of the
park attract many who had better be
at church. Although the cool damp-
ness of these September evenings set-
tled about the trees and made the
avenues chilly and uncomfortable, this
state of things did not deter certain

.

. shipper

loiterers from occupying the seats until
a very late hour.

A tramp through the little ravine
to the north, a stumble up over a
hill terraced with the roots of trees
laid barc by the tread of many feet,
an unccremonious introduction to the
sharpest rail of the fence in an en-
deavour to find some egress, and un-
looked-for plunges among the hillocks
and holes of a common at last brought
the little church within sight. After
the devious detour amid the trees and
fences, for the sake of a ‘“short cut,”
the light so brightly streaming from
the various windows was a welcome
sight.

Jmmediately upon entering, an atten-
tive usher met the writer and accom-
modated him with a seat and a book.
It was early then, and but few people
had ectered. Away up the aisle, direct-
ly in front of the chancel, was placed
an invalid chair, containing a wor-
who doubtless found great
strength in her weakness from the in-
spiration quickened by a service so
pure and beautiful.

The little bell rang out its invita-
tion, the lights were turned up, and

. far in the distance was heard the voice

of prayer with the “Amen’ chanted

and the main room, so that the organ- “in response. Then the organ sounded

the key-note of the processional hymn,
and the singers entered, led by two
very smali boys, followed by two a
little larger, and so on until the en-
tire choir of ten boys and, K two men,
followed by the rector, marched into
the chancel, the congregation mean-
while standing, and took the places
assigned.

The membership and the Sunday
school of this church are small now,
gince St. Alban’s has been organized,
and Lho congregations are, consequent-
ly, not so large as formerly. Only
forty persons were present Sunday
evening, and ihey were nearly all
young people ; only one or two old per-
sons were there. As every church de-
pends for its perpetuity upon the chil-
dren and young people, St. Thomas’
gives promisse, in this way, of becoming
much stronger than it is at present.
But every one seemed deeply interest-
ed in the service: even the talkative
girls became quiet, and gave serious
attention to the ritual. Indeed, it
could not well be otherwise, for the
beauty of the service and the dignity
Wwith which it was executed will at-
tracl any one. One great advantage
of a liturgical service is this, that
cvery person having a book to follow
the ritual for himself is given a direct
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perconal interest in it, and so has his | while playing a subdued refrain that
attention enchained. was a fitting adjunct, and made the

The service was full choral, the choir | utterancez much more impressive and
being surpliced, and it was most ex- | heartful. The chanting of the Lord’s
pressively sung, the pure, clear young | Pruyer after the absolution was an-
voices of the boys mingling delicately | other heautiful gem in the setting of
with the men’s heavier tones in a ! the whole service. So also was the

VIEW OF INTERIOR OF ST. THOMAS’ CHURCH.

most musical manner. The Confession I repetition of the Apostle’s Creed, when
was first intoned, sentence by sent- | the low, sweet tones of the organ wove
ence, by the officinting minister, and | melody in and about the solemn declar-
then chorally repeated by the choir | ution of faith{ as it fell in choral
and congregation, the organ mean- l numbers from the lips of the reverent
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worshippers. What made this part still
moro effective was the turning of the
choir towards the altar, and the in-
clination of the heads of the people
when the name of Jesus Christ was
uttered.

Five hymns were sung during the
evening, including the processional and
recessional hymns, and the tunes
selected were those befitting the
artistic nature of the entire service.
Indeed, there seemed to be a sort of
contradiction between the exalted art
of the celebration and the humble ap-
pearance of the building, at least ex-
ternally. We generally associate a
building of wunattractive appearance
with a service corresponding. It is a
most agreeable surprise, therefore, to
go inlo a homely-looking, time-worn
church and there find a pure and cul-
tivated ritual observed, such as gen-
erally goes with magnificent church
architecture and ' all the embellish-
ments of ecclesiastical art. The latter
is more than compensated for by the
beauty and bharmony of a choral sor-

vice : indeed, interest in such a service ,
loses sight of exlernals altogether and

carries an appreciative soul on the
pinions of sweet music up to the very
gates of heaven.

Mr. McCollum, the rector, is a gentle-
man of well developed physical power,
and possesses a resonant voice, that
is well adapted to the choral celebra-
tion. He is a man in middle life, full-
beared, wearing glasszs, and is of good
presence in the pulpit. The building
is rather small to accommodate the
volume of his voice. He is an earnest
speaker, pleasint and cordial socially,
and is not puffed up with any vain
conceit of his office.

He preached an interesting sermon,
of half an hour’s length, from
Ephesians, 6th chapter, 13th verse—
*“Take unto you the whole armour of
God, that ye may be able to stand
in the evil day and having done all

to stand.” Thcse are extracts from the .

germon—

Christian life is a struggle, the
Christian is a warrior; from cradle
te grave is the “evil day.”

We must not form a too gloomy
view of life. Death is not the gift of
Cod, but life is. It is great with en-
joyment and blessings, and full of
grief and anxiety.

.Our sorrows are lighter than our
gins,

Temptation is the sweetener of life
and perfect character.

We cannot select the weapons for
life’s warfare ourselves, lest they be

| carnal weapons. We must have the
panoply of God; the girdle is truth, the
breastplate is rightcousness, the hel-
met is salvation, tha shoes are the Gos-
pel of peace, the sword of the Spirit
is the Word of God, the circumambient
shield is faith to ward off tha darts of
the devil.

The offertory was received while a
hymn was being sung. Then the rector
stood facing the altar and delivered a
short prayer; at its close he turned
and facing the congregation pronounc-
od th@ benediction with uplifted hands,
kneeling, thereafter, in silent prayer
before the altar, while the congrega-
tion also knelt, and there was a fow
moments’ absolute silence. Then as
the organ began the recessional
hymn, the people rose, the choir slow-

1y and reverently marchwl ou! while
singing the last stanza, untii tha ves-
try was reached, when a few words of
audible prayer by ‘the minister, a
choral Amen by ths choir, andl then
a minute’s wait on ths part of the
people, concluded a most interesting
and enjoyable service.

* * » - L] L]

The foregoing account, re-published
with but very few alterations from
{ when it first appeared, describes a
thing of the past, tha St. Thomas church
therein described having been super-
seded by a new and more commodious
building. It is considered the most
advanced ritualistic church amonz alt
the Anglican churches of the city, and
is at the same time one of the best
attended—at evening service when
worship begins rarely can a seat be ob-
tained.

The Rev. J. H. McCollum is still nom-
inally the rector, but in 1890 he re-
| tired to a great extent from parochial
| resjonsibility, the Rev. J. C. Roper be-

ing apro.nted by tha Bishop of the Dio-~
écese, Dr. Sweatman, as his co-adjutor,

and he became de facto, though not de
| jure, the rector.

| © Mr. Roper was a churchman of the
schosl of Pusey, Keble, Liddon, Low-
der and Machonachie, and it may here
be remarked as an interesting fact in
the history of the Anglican church in
Toronto, that the appointment of a man
of his stamp to any Anglican church
| would, forty years since, have been
| practically impossible, so  deter-
| mined were the great majority
! of the clergy and laity of those times
to oppose anything and everything that
savoured of what was then termed
“Puseyism.” The term has now be-
| come obsolete, few of the present gen-
eration know what it meant or what
it signified, and the services at St.
' Thomas’ are heartily accepted and en-
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Joyed by all those who worship within
its walls.

The present church stands on the
eastern side of Huron street, about 100
yards north of Sussex avenue, and was
opened for divine service on January
17th, 1893. The architect was Mr. Eden
Smith.

The land upon which the church
stands cost $10,000, the building $10,-
000, and the organ by Warren, $3,000,
making a total of $23,000.

The musical portion of the services
at St. Thomas’ are somewhat ornate,
in addition to the organ and choir of
sixty voices is an orchestra varying
from eight to ten performers, who oc-

versity. As a parish visitor Mr. Roper
was indefatigable, and every detail of
his work was attentively studied and
performed. As a preacher he had little
pretence to eloquence, but his sermons
were clear and practical. He set forth
what he believed to be jhe teaching
of the Master in language that could
not be misunderstood; he had no con-
ception of watering down any of the
old do trines, and he viewed with horror
any attempt to tamper with the book
of Common Prayer, as it has been ac-
cepted by the Anglican body since the
Reformation.

Mr. Thos. A. Reed is organist of St.
Thomas', and the Rev. F. G. Plum-

CHURCH OF ST. THOMAS, HURON STREET, 1898.

cupy places assigned to them in the
chancei. clo:e to the organ. There is
eaoch Sunday. an early, as well as a mid-
day celebration of the Holy Communi-
on, and there is also a celebration on
All Saints’ days and church festivals.
Duaily prayers are said throughout the
year, and the church is at all times
open for private devotion.

Reverend J. C. Roper, the minister
in charge until 1896, was an Oxford
man, where he graduated B.A. in 1880,
and M.A. in 1883. He was ordained
deacon in 1832 by the Bichop of Chiches-
ter, and priest in the following year.
He came to Canada in 1886 and was
until his appointment to St. Thomas’
one of the professors at Trinity Uni-

mer, one of the clergy attached to the
church, is choir master.

In 1897 the Rev. J. C. Roper was
appointed to a scholastic post in the
United States, and was followed in his
work at St. Thomas’ by the Rev. C. H.
Shortt, M.A., formerly rector of St.
Cyprian’s, Toronto. Under Mr. Shortt
the services and work of the parish
have been maintained in the highest
efficiency, and the conﬁregation ro-
mains one of the largest in the city.

The wardens since 1889 have been
as follows:

1889-1890—-‘?‘. D. Gwynne, J. T. Swal-

ow.

1890-1892—W. D. Gwynne, R. Green-
wood.
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—

1892-1893—W. H. Perram, R. Green- |

wood. |
1893-189-1—-Ri. (zreen\\'ood, W. A. Med-t
and. |
1894-}898—“{. D. Gwynne, W. A. Med- |

and. i
1898-1899—W. D. Gwynne, Thomas Mer-
ritt.

CHAPTER XVIIi.
GRACE CHURCH.

A Charch Fermed From Iloly Trinlty
Congreantian.

On the southern side of Elm street,
sbout midway bhetween Teraulay and
Elizabeth streets, stanls the church
building known as Grace Church, the

church r’ses from east to west, while
at the eastern end is a narrow dais
whereon are pulpit, lestern and, prayer
desk. The organ, which, by the way,
is an excellent instrument, is in the
south-east corner of the church, the
choir seats being arranged at right
angles in front of it. The church is
well lighted, but owing to the large
amount of cubic space in the interior
of the building, it is a somewhat
difficult matter to heat it in winter.

The basement, about half of which
is underground, is a large room, and
shows by its appearance that it has
been well used. The immense turnace
and its flues radiating in many differ-
ent ‘directions, can not be said to add
to the room's attractions. In the
tasement are two infant class as well

GRACK CHURCH, ELM STREFT.

g_?tsent rector of which is the Reav. J. ‘ as Bible class rooms, both separated
1

Lewis, M.A,, (1898)

The church is built of red brick, 1n
gothic style, and has little to recom- |

from the principal room by a glass par-

tition. This latter apartment is used

for the Sunday school, which numbers

mend it in an aesthetic sense, though | about. 570, or possibly, even 600 pupils.

it has much from a utilitarian point |
of view. Both entrances to the build-
ing are from Elm street, and the east- |
ern end presents a most unattractive |
gg ance. The nave of the church is

£ from east to west, with a width
of 55 feet. There are north and south
transepts; lighting the former is a
handsome Catherine wheel window,
while in the latter are a pretty group
of lancet windows. The floor of the

are at 8

The services in the church on Sunday
am. 11 a.m., 3 p.m., and
7 p.m. There are also numerous week-
day services. Of parish organizations
there are the rector’s Sunday afternoon
Bible class, the Guild of the Good
Shepherd, the Wiomen’s Auxilia the
Brotherhood of St. Andrew, the Yo

People’s Association an’ dthe Coal Club.

The rector of the church, the Rev. J.
Pitt Lewis, was then described by a
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writer in the columns of a Toronto
paper in 18“8. The description being a
most faithful one, it is only right here
to reproduce it. It reads thus:

““ The principle of self-sacrifice which
underlies all true poliieness is emi-
pently characteristic of Mr. Lewis, and
it is this devotion of self to his work
and the many claims it makes upon
him that has not only signally blessed
his ministry in ‘the building up of a
fine parish, but it has endeared him
to his people. On all sides he is kindly
spoken of, and in terms of affection.
He impresses a stranger as a man
whose naturally strong feelings are
kept under control by the domination
of the higher, inner, spiritual life that,
after all, really determines what a
man is. He speaks in a mild tone of
voice, but it is not hard to imagine
that back of the kindly and gracious
manner there is a reserve fund of
power that, should occasion arise,
would be found to be very positive
and decided if not totally immovable.

“Mr. Lewis is a native of Ontario,
and received his preparatory training
in the Newmarket Grammar School and
from private tutors. After attending
Victoria College he entered the min-
istry ; before this, however, he devoted
three years to the study of medicine,
intending, at that time. to become a
practising physician. His inclinations
led him to theology, and his first
Church of England settlement was in
Chatham, where he was most happily
situated and strongly entrenched in
the esteem and affection of his people.
The peculiar exigencies of Grace church
peemed to demand his services in To-
ronto. The field was larger, more ma-
terial was available and greater op-
portunities of doing good were neces-
sarily at hand. He assumed the re-
sponsibilities of this parish in October,
1878, and certainly should feel grati-
fied with the wonderful success that
has attended his ministry, notwith-
standing the circumstances that sore-
ly tried the church and almost perilled
its very existence.”

Grace church was projected in the
first{ place as a protest against the ul-
tra ritualistic tendencies supposed to
be dominant at ithe neighbouring church
of the Holy Trinity, but this spirit scon
subsided ; there was good work to be
done without encroaching on the work
at Holy Trinity, and to this work the
clergy of Grace church set their minds.

The corner stone of the present
church was laid in 1875, but some time
before this the congregation had wor-

shipped in a small frame building in
the neighbourhood, Formerly used by
the Presbyterian body. The first rector
of the parish was the Rev. W. H. Jones,
M.A., who worked there from 1874 until
1876. He was succeeded by the Rev.
O. R. Matthes. For a short time the
Rev. J. P. Sheraton had clerical charge
of the parish until Mr. Lewis assumed
rectorial charge in 1878.

] Among others who have from time to
time assisted at Grace church, have been
the Revs. C. C. Kemp, now of Cleveland,
Ohio; J. G. Lewis, now of New York;
John McCarroll, at Detroit; C. H.
Rich, at Weston, and the present as-
sistant clergy, R. J. P. Roberts and
A. Newham.

The churchwardens for 1897-98 were
Messrs. J. S. Barber and H. A. Taylor.
Among past and present active lay
workers occur the names of Messrs.
H. C. Fortier, T. R. Clougher, W. C,
Hall, J. H. Mumford, F. W. Elliott,
John Shields and E. T. Campbell.

\

CHAPTER XIX.
ST. PHILLIP'S.

A West End Partsh with a Pleasing
Record.

The following description of this well
known west end church and parish was
first published about 188C. It is now
repr‘inted with several additions.

- " L ] - x L]

The religious life of Toronto is char-
acterized by a multiplicity of churches
which for magnificence of architecture
and luxury of appointments challenge
the admiration of all visitors. These
splendid monuments of dislinctively

.denominational character, as well as

of the generic religious life of the city,
have risen according to that principle
of evolution which underlies and en-
ergizes every realm of nature and of
human activity. There has bheen a
germ from which thess churches have
developed until they reached the fru-
ition of that development in some glori-
ous cathedral or some graceful and
beautiful structure not less pleasing
nor less an object of pride. And the
growth has been, as all true growth
is, from centre to circumference, from
the heart of the city through all the
arteries of its life out to its extrem-
ities. The upspringing of churches has
been commensurate with the expan-
sion of the city. As the residential
centre gradually moves itself away
from the mercantile and commercial
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centres, so the churches are graduaily I
growing away from ‘“down town.” In-
deed, the marvellous expansion of the |
city already begins te imperil the |
value and significance of down fown
churches, so far as their maintaining
large congregations is concerned. And
this loss will conlinue to augment
itself so long as people are denied the
privilege of riding to church. The':
demand is for churches nearer home;]
whether the demand springs from in- |
dolence or from a lack of attractive |
force in the church itself is a matter
not to be discussed here. The fact ex- {
ista that every year people become less
inclined to walk far to church. Thou-
sands will walk out to Mount Pleas-
ant cemetery to attend a military
funeral; hundreds will stroll over the
Don and out to the parks; scores will
promenade the streets mile after mile;
but they are too tired to go to church.
The churches of the city recognize this
tendency, and are now going to the
people.

The missionary spirit of all the de-
nominations of Toronto is commensur-
ate with the growth and expansion of
the population. If the demand for a
new church does not exist, this spirit
creates it, and, consequently, chapels
may be seen everywhere upon the out-
skirts, while more prelentious struc-
turey are constantly being built as the
vicinity becomes more densely popu-
lated.

The Church of England in this coun-
try is fully possessed of this mission-
ary spirit. The protest of the sixteenth °
century Reformation necessitates this
practical working spirit. No church
now can afford to rest upon its tra-
ditions for success. It may deprecate
the secular spirit, but the secular
spirit demands an accommodation of
the church to the people, and. upon
this principle rests the necessity of
work, and hard work, if any church |
is to he successful. Then the spirit
of emulation, if it may not be termed
rivalry, that exists between the dif-
ferent sects and Dbetween all these
united and the historic church of Chris-
tianity compels the latter to heroic
effort in order to enlarge its horders. !
Hence we find Romanism and the
Church of England fully alive to the !
importance of appropriating new ter-
ritory, and very zealous in its acquis-
ition. :

St. Philip’s church is a notable ex-
ample of this activity on the part of
the Church of England. The outgoing
of the city towards the west and north
created the mecessity of a church

i The church

north of St. John’s, and including part
of its territory. An organization was
effected in 1875, and the present site,
at the south-west corner of Spadina
avenue and St. Patrick street, was pur-
chased. A little cottage stood on ihat
corner, called the Tolfree cottage. At
first it was occupled by the new organ-
ization, until the pres:nt school-houss
was built. The congregation then wor-
shipped in the mew school-hous:; and
so Jittle was the cottage valued that
it was sold, and brought only $45. The
school-house was occupied in 1876; but
so remarkably rapid was the growth
of the parish that before long the
rcom was found to be entirely too
small for the congregations that as-

. sembled. It seated 350, and frequent-

ly a hundred people were turned away
for want of accommodation. The neces-
sity of a larger building thus becom-
ing absolute, steps were taken to
build a church, although $5000 was
then due for the land and the school-
house.

Jifforts were aft once put forth to col-
lect money in order to relieve the great
pressure and $7.000 was raised. The
present structure was then erected,
at a cost of $17000. The entire pro-
perty, 140 x 63 feet, is valued at $30,-
000. The situation is not only a de-
lightful and commanding one hut is
one constantly increasing in value.
is of the plain French
Gothic style. built of red brick trim-
ming and Ohio stope dressing. It
measures 101 x 6! feet, and stands with
the length runn'nz along St. Patrick

street. At the north-east corner is a
tower, extending a short distance
above the roof, with four pinnacles

whose appearance is somewhat nega-
tived by beams extending from one to

. the other in order ‘to give them sup-

port. When the spire, hereafter to

| be erected, is added the total height

will he 130 feet. The red brick gives
the church a bright, fresh, clean ap-
pearance in marked contrast with the
dingy, dirty, white brick churches so
o‘ten seen in this city. And the mono-
tony of the walls is broken by stone-
capped buttresses while arched panels
are huilt in tho farade. In the central
one Is a blue shield oontaining in-
formation as to the hours of regular
service, 1

The school house is directly attach-

;ed to the church on the west, at a

right angle to it, with two entrances

through the gable on St. Patrick
street. The church may be entered
that way; then there is a main en-
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trance through the tower in the front |on a_ line with the southern wall of
on Spidina av.nue, A ga'eway on the | the chancel; three long pews are placed
south gives entry to the little vestry, here for the choir, The floor of the
and from the latfer there isa doorway , chincel is well elevated and extending
opening into the chancel. | out over the steps; beyond the arch is

‘fhe seats face Spadina avenuc; the | the pulpit,
chancel therefore is at the east end ' The church pres:nts a massive ap-

of the church, which is the proper and & pearance growing out of the cathedral
style according to which it is built
and an ingenious arrangement of its
proportions. Six Golhic arches, spring-
ing from nent irpn columns twelve feet

the most significant location in ths
Christian cult. It is verv raraci-rs
measuring 33 x 16 feet, and opens into
the nave through a magnificent fluted

Vi
:‘}(ﬂ :

8T. PHILLIP'S CHURCH, SPADINA AVENUE.

archway 24 feet wide and extending
40 feet to the crown., In the facade of
the church ahove the altar is a triple
lancet-formed window with the cen-
tral one 91 feet high. The glass is
of ‘teautifully ornamented lozenge
artistically wrought., very pretty and
bright. The reredos is a carved and
jointed picca o oaken wo k' the alfar
its:l" is of plain pan»ls anl the organ,
o new and costly instrument. fronts

high, support the clerestory walls;
within the latter are six equilateral
windows of brightly coloured glass.
The roof of the nave is supported by
five timber principals bolted and fill-
el in with cusps and other ornamenta-
tions. The rafters are carried
upon moulded purlins bolted to the
principals, and all this open timber
work gives the nave not only a lofty
but a graceful and beautiful appear-
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ance. The dark wood is relieved by the
pale blue, pink and brown panels of the
ceiling, each one of which is prettily
decorated with stencil flowers in the
centre and at the corners. The walls
of the entire auditorium are stuccoed
in blocks divided by black lines. This
dark grey colour is relieved by the
white jambs and the plaster of Paris
label mouldings terminating in orna-

AR
;

The furniture of the nave is plain
and simple. The seats are long, pine
pews; their racks are well furnished
with prayer and hymn books. Notices
are posted stating that “The seats in
this church are all free and unappro-
priated,” a most gratifying anmounce-
ment to strangers and regular attend-
,anis. No pew or seat im this church
| can possibly be rented. “First came,

INTRRIOR OF 8T. PHILLIP'S

CHURCH, SPADINA AVENUE.

mental oorbels. There are twelve
ad windows in the sides of the
church, and two lancet windows above
the school-housa in the western end.
y windows are 8o proportioned
that they serve to enhance the massive
appearanca of the interior. It is not a
very large nave, seating only 750 per-
sons, and yet it seems to present a
much g er area.

first merved” is the rule and po distinc-
tions are made in any way.

The career of this parish for the 21
Years of its existence has been one of
great prosperity. From the very first
it was a pledged success, and rapid-
ly grew from the little Tolfree cot-
tage through the school house to the
present commodious and comfortable

structure, Undernesath is a fine large
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basement ten feet high, fitted up for
Sunday school. Underneath the chan-
cel is a cheerfal room in which Bible
classes meet.

The church was opened for service
Fanuary 27th, 1884, and those who be-
gan the work in the little cottage were
gratified to see their union and labours
s0 richly crowned with success, Among
the organizers of St. Philip's the fol-
lowing prominent men may be named:
The late Chief Justice Harrison, High
Constable J. T. Jones, Lieut.-Col. R. B.
Denison, City Solicitor Wm. G. Mec-
Williams, Lieut.-Col. Geo. A. Shaw, Col. |
C. S. Gzowski, Messrs. G. M. Evans,
Thos. Phillips, James and Philip
Brown, T. Murray and Wm. Griffith.

The rectors of the church have been
Revs. G. H. Moxon, now vicar in Sun-
don, Bedfordshire, England, and Rev.
Jas. S. Stone, D. D., now rector of St.
James, Chicago, and then the present
rector, Rev, Canon Sweeny, M. A., D. D.
'this gentleman was born in London.
England, and came to Canada in 1868.
He is a graduate of McGill University,
taking the Arts course there and a
Divinity course at the Montreal Dio-
cesan Theological College, of which he
was one of the first graduates. He
engaged in missionary work, and after
ordination became rector of St. Luke’s
parish, Montreal, which he left in 1882,
to tecome rector of St. Philip’s. The
degrees of M. A, B. D. and D. D,
were conferred upon him here by Trin-
ity University. He was made canon
in 1889, and elected rural dean in Oct.,
1895.

Dr. Sweeny is a social man, and an
exceedingly hard worker. He is ener-
gelic and zealous, both as a preacher
and a pastor.. {fhe limits of his parish
are Queen street on the south, touch-
ing St. John s, St. Patrick and Arthur
streets on the north, touching St.
Stephen s, Spadina avenue on the east,
touching St. George’s and Palmerston
avenue on the west, touching St.
Matthias’. It will be seen from this
geographical statement that the work
of the church is with a concentrated
and dense population. (Chere are about
350 communicants of the church, but
over 400 families are represented in it,
and the oversight of all these entail
upon the minister & vast amount of
parochial work.

The following very just estimate of
Canon Sweeny and his work in the
Canadian Churchman of O:tober, 17th,
1895, when the reverend gentleman |
was appointed Rural Dean of Toronto:

“We heartily congratulate the R. D.

Chapter of Toronto on their selection
of Rev. Canon Sweeny, M. A., D. D.,
rector of St, Phillip’s church, to be
their Rural Dean for the next ensu-
ing term of four years, and extend to
the Rural Dean elect our best wishes
for his success in the important office
to which his brethren have elected
him, We hail the appointment with
every satisfaction, knowing that all
arties in the church will receive fair
reatment at his hands, since we have
ever looked upon him as standing for
moderation, toleration and impartial-
ity. May the church’s interest in the

| Deanery of Toronto be well to the fore

during the next four years. Canon
Sweeny i§ the son of Col. Sweeny, late
staff officer H. M. pensioners, Mont-
real, and formerly of H. M. 83rd and
12th Regiments. Hs came to Canada
in 1869, and was educated in Montreal,
graduating at BcGill University, tak-
ing his degree of B. A. in 1878 and M.
A. in 1881. He was admitted to the
diaconate in 1880, and to the priest-
hood in 1881. For a short time he was
rector of St. Luke’s church, Montreal,
and on the 16th of December, 1882, he
was appointed rector of St, Phillip’s
church, Toronto. Taking an ad eundem
degree of ML A. from Trinity Uni-
versity, Toronto. Mr. Sweeny proceed-
ed in that university by regular course
to the important degrees of B. D. and
D. D,, which last he obtained in 1888.
In the following year the Bishop of
the Diocese appointed him an honorary
Canon of St. Alban’s Cathedral, To-
ronto. Canon Sweeny is a good active
worker in the church, and many
branches of it outside his own parish
have received and still receive his at-
tention. For a time he was a mem-
ber of the Board of Management of
the Domestic and Forei%n Missionary
Society, and has alwalys been an active
promoter of the Sunday School Asso-
ciation and of the Church of England
Temperance Society. Rev. Canon
Sweeny is the third rector of St,
Philip’s church, also the third Rural
Dean of Toronto.”

The clergy who have been associ-
ated with Dr. Sweeny as curates have
been—Rev. H. P. Hobson, Rev. F. W.
Bayley-Jones. R.N., Rey. T. R. O’Meara,
Rev. F. M. Baldwin, Rev. J. J. Hill,
M.A., Rev. F. Wilkinson.

The organist and choir master in
1806 was Mr. Erncst Pearce.

The churchwardens since the church
was established have been—
18R6-1888—G. M. Evans, H. Mortimer.
1/21-1800—Henry Smith, G. M. Evans
1830-1891—Dr. Millman, G. M. Evans
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1891-1895—Henry Smith, W, D. Mec-
Pherson.

1895-1896—T. S. Sharpe, W. D. Me-
Pherson.

1896-1897—M. Sheppard, W. D. Mec-
Pherson.

CHAPTER XX.
ST. MARY MAGDALENE.

A HMenrty Service and Ritual—A4 Well
Woerked Parish.

This may be called the grandchild
of the church of St. Johu the Evan-
gelist, for it is the outgrowth of St.
Matihias’ parish, which sprung from
the former church. The northern part
of this parish has recently enlarged
80 much that another church in ad-

dition to that on Bellwoods avenue is |

found to be necessary. The matter was
taken in hand in June, 1886, by Rev.
Charles Darling, the curate of St. Mat-
thias, and he raised £4,000 towards the
new building. A lot at the north-east
corner of Manning avenue and Ulster
street was bought for $2,600, and the
ereclion of a {emporary church begun.
The chancel only is now being built,
and the wulls will be raised fifteen
feet, when a {emporary roof will be
put on. There will he a ‘handsome
room in the basement, eleven feet high
and of the same size as the church
abeve. This room will be used for the
Sunday school. It is intended to open
the present church at Easter, if the
work can be sufficiently advanced by
that time. No foundation stone will
be laid until the nave is built. The
present building will accommodate only
about 150 persons, and will certainly
be inadequate for its purpose. But the
urgency for a new church in that sec-
tion is so great that it was deemed
best to begin the work at once, look-
ing to the liberality of the neighbour-
hood and of the church generally for
its completion. The cost of the present
buitding will be about $3,500. The
church when completed will seat 1,000
persons, and will cost about $50,000.

The geographical limits of the new
parish will be Bloor on the north, Bath-
urst o the east, College on the south,
apd Shaw street on the west. This
sectior. of the city is being rapidly
buit up, and the new church, when
completed according to the present de-
sign, will be an architectural arna-
ment to that part of Toronto. Another
feature that will make the new enter-
Prise a success is the superior music
and service that will be given. The

service will be choral, and of a style
sim’far to that used in St. Matthias’
church, and which has made that
church £0 remarkably successful and
popular. The choir of the new church
will be surpliced. It is in charge of
ir. W. P. Thompson. Mrs. Thompson,
a graduate of the Royal Academy of
Music, England, will be the organist.

Rev. Charles B. Darling, an Oxford
man, through whose instrumentality
the chureh of St. Mary Magdalene has
been organized, and upon whom has
fallen the burden of securing the
money so far accumulated, will be the
first rector. He is a son of the late
Rev. W. Stewart Darling, who has left
an enduring monument of his life and
| labour in Holy Trinity church. Just
| a3 he was the means of bringing to
!'that chureh much of its present pros.

| perity, and was the spirit that gave
1it vigour and life, so the son, Zollow-
'ing the same career, with the same
| spirit and ability, will doubtlass en-
i sure the success of this new parish
| in the north-western part of the city.
{ Mr. Darling is genial in manner and
ipopular among the people, especially

among young people. He has in him,
fin addition to this social power, that
{ 8pirit of consecration to his work that
is the guarantee of its ultimate success.

A Sunday school was begun in June,
1286, in a house on Manning avenue.
Bul it grew so rapidly that it had to
be moved twice. It now numbers 70
children. When the basement is ready
for occupancy it will probably soon
prove to be too small, so hopeful
already is the outlook for growth and
prosperity. The parish not yet having
been organized, no statistics can be
given concerning it.

The new church architecturally will
be very massive, in the late Norman
style. Tt will be 130 feet long by 50
feet wide inside the piers, with a cban-
cel 43x30 feet. All the work now being
done, except the roof, is permanent.
The only part that will be removed
when the church is extended will be
the west wall, which is of wood. There
is no temporary brick work. except
that filling up the arch which will
open into the future organ chagnber,
on the north side. The walls will be
7 inches thick, thus giving the build-
ing the solidity in keeping with the
Norman architecture. When the chan-
cel is completed it will be nearly 50
feet high.

The land stands in the name of
trustees, who will hold it in trust fer
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the Rev. Charles Darling and his suc-
cessors in office.
- * -

* L

Since the above was written, the
mission church, which was opened on
——— Sunday, 1888, was made a parish
church on March 9th, 1889, and Mr.
Darling made its first rector. Steps
were soon after taken to build two
bays of the nave. This was accom-
plished as far as the sills of the
future windows, and was opened for
divine service at Faster, 1830. Since
then ihe parish has gone on making
steady and continued progress, not-
withstanding the scanty population of
the district and great financial weak- |
pess. A site for a rectory at the cor-
ner of Buclid avenue and Ulster street |
was secured in that year, and in 1892 |

*

population carries people in greater
numbers into this district, which ad-
Jjoins the dense populations now lying
east and south of it. The next stage
of the building will be materially the
completion of the ground plan of the
chureh, with the walls carried up some
25 feet of their ultimate height, em-
bracing the beginning of the windows,
which will commence above the line of
the aisle roofs. The whole nave then
will be roofed withh a better and lof~
tier roof. The whole area of the church
to seat 800 people easily, will be thus
secured, and all at 2 ‘total cost of some
$20 050 or $25,000, or $10,000 more than
bas been expended. Subsequently the
task of raising the walls to their full
beight over, first the choir, and then
the nave, and the putting on of the

¢

CHURCH OF ST. MARY MAGDALENE, MANNING AVENUE.

an additional 20 feet of land was pur-
chased on Manning avenue, in order
to enable the full plan of the architect
to be ultimately carried out. The pro-
perty now consists of 120 feet on Man-
ning avenue, and 50 feet on Euclid ave-
nue., and a flankage of 270 feet on Ul-
ster street. In 1891 an organ, suffi-
ciently large for present requirements,
was put in and paid for. In 1894 the
temporary roof of the chancel was rais-
ed bodily, amnd the beginnings of the
seven great east windows were put in,
in order to afford greater light and
ventilation. Upwards of $10,000 has
been raised and expended so far, and,
Judging by the strong growth amid
building stagnation and many adverse
circumstances, a great future would
seem. to be before the church and con-
gregation. when the next movement of

permanent roofs, will be taken in hand,
but only as the condition of the
church’s finances allow. The rector is
a great believer in patient building,
and will be satisfied, if in his day, he
is ahle to build no more than the
ground plan of his noble church, a cut
of which is shown above.

The first churchwardens of the
church were Mr. A. Clubb, who worked
hard and earnestly for the foundation
of the new parish, and Mr. James
Perks. Since then Mr. E. Restall, Mr.
Chick, Dr. Pringle and Mr. C. B. Mur-
ray have done all they could in a simi-
lar capacity to support the reetor in
his anxious and arduous work. While
Mr. A. H. Lightbourn, the treasurer
of the Building Fund, has watehed
over the undertaking as it progressed,
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with the greatest interest and most
assiduous care.

A visit to this interesting beginning
of a great work will be amply repaid,
and the lover of good music will
delighted with the singing of thelarge
choir of 40 voices, which js acknow-
ledged to be one of the best in the
eity. Mr. Ernest Callaghan is the
choirmaster, and has deservedly won
great praise for the efficiency and
good order of this choir.

The Sunday school has grown from
10 to 200, the communicants from 35
200, the Sunday offertories from about
$8 and $10 to $25 a Sunday.

The full ritual and teaching of the
Church of England is in force, the
congregatipn is united
astic and the work is well and strongly
organized

and enthusi- |

certain parishioners residing in the
district presented a petition to the
Bishop, praying that the district be
created a separate and distinct parish.

For some two years previous mission:
services had been conducted in a
small brick building on Bartlett
avenue, near Bloor street west, by the.
Rev. F. W. Squire, B.A., Trinity Uni-
versity. Two laymen, Messrs. G. B
Kirkpatrick and H. C. Dixon (the lat-
ter since admitted to the diaconate)
for nearly two years conducted ser-
vices alternately on Sunday evenings
In an upper room of a building on
the corner of B'oor street and Dover-
court road, which was placed, rent free
at their service by Mr. Edward Dawes.

In the hope of uniting these two
congregations, the Lord Bishop of
Toronto, on the 1st of June, 1888,

L e —

CHURCH OF 8T. MARY THE VIRGIN, DOVERCOURT.

L1 . CHAPTER XXI. {; .

ST. MARY THE VIRGIN. _

A Nerth-west Parish Ferty Years Age In
thhe Feorest.

The district of Dovercourt origin-
ally formed part of the Parish of St.
Mark, Carleton West, of which the
Rgv.‘c. E. Thomson, M.A. was and
oti}l is in 1898 the rector. In May, 1888,

created the district of Dovercourt a.
separate and independent parish, and
offered the charge of it to the Rev.
Apthony Hart, then incumbent of
Grace church, Markham, and Christ
church, Stouffville, Mr. Hart accepted:
the offer, and on the 17th June made
his first visit and held his first ser=
vices i1z the new parish.

The vestry meeting was held on the.
following day. when the rector waive
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ing his right to appoint one of the
wardens, Messrs. Edward Dawes and
H. E. Eastman were elected by the con-
gregation churchwardemns. TUntil a
church could be erected, it was decid-
ed to hold the services in Mr. Dawes’
room. In September, 1888, Mr. Dawes
offered to give the site for a church,
school room and rectory, mamely, 100
feet on Bloor street by 170 along Del-
aware avenue, on certain conditions,
which were agreed to by the vestry.

The plans for a school house—to be
used temporarily as a church—and
rectory were prepared by Mr. John
C. B. Horwood, and the contract let
to Mr. S. Gregson. They were sub-
stantially built of stone and red brick,
and slate roofed.

The school house contains a light
and cheerful basement, with several
rooms in which f{he Sunday school as-
sembles. In the room above the Sun-
day services are held, and 450 people
can be comfortably accommodated.

The first sod was turned in Novem-
ber, 1883, by Mr. G. B. Kirkpatrick,
“Coolmine,” Toronto, who has been a
lay representative to the Synod of the
parish since its inception. The opening
services were held on Sunday, June 23,
1889, the preachers being the Ven. Arch-
deacon Boddy, M.A., and the Revs. Ber-
nard Bryan and John Langtry, D.C.L.,
rectors of the churches of the Epiphany
and St. Luke’s respectively.

‘The cost of the buildings and fur-
nishings was nearly $14,000.

In every way there has been steady
an« substantial progress since the
formation of the parish, when, by
resolution of the vestry and congrega-
tion in the autumn of 1888, it was
decided should be described as that of
“St. Mary, the Virgin, Dovercourt.” It
is attended by regular and steadily
increasing congregations now (1898)
averaging about 200 at each morning
and evening service. The number of
communicants has risen from 30 at
Easter, 1889, to nearly 200 at Easter,
1898. The Sunday school has a roll of
346, with ap average attendance of 240.
The income of the parish has nearly
trebled since its inception. There are
several flourishing organizations in con-
nection with the church, such as the
Ladies’ Aid, Young People’s Society,
and Company No. 23, Church Boys'
Brigade. The services are usually said
in a monotone, and are thoroughly
congregational, being heartily joined
m by all. On the great festivals they
are partly choral. Mr. H. E. Eastman
removed to British Columbia, and the
rector appointed Mr. G. G. Mackenzie

as his churchwarden in the spring of
1890. Mr. Dawes resigned his position
as churchwarden at Easter, 1895, and
Mr. G. G. Mackenzie was elected peo-
ple’s warden in his plaece. Mr. C. C.
Foster was appointed churchwarden by
the rector. These gentlemen still re-
tain their positions.

CHAPTER XXII.
S1. ALBAN'S CATHEDRAL.

‘The Cathedral Church of the
Teronte.

A Church of England Cathedral es-
tablishiment for the diocese of Toronto
had been in contemplation for many
years, although the project only toek
definite shape when Dr. Sweatman be-
came bishop. In the year 1843 Bishop
Strachan gave four hundred acres of
land for the purpose. The rents and
the proceeds of sales of this land form-
ed a fund which amounted to about
$4,000, and with this as a nucleus, St.
Alban’s Cathedral was begun. A site
was purchased east of Bathurst, above
Bloor street, consisting of 41-2 acres,
the purchase price of which was $10,~

. It was not until 40 years after
Bishop Strachan’s donation that any-
thing practical was done looking to
such establishment. The present bishep
then reviewed the matter and a Cath-
edral Chapter was incorporated by an
Act of the Provincial Legislature in
1883, From a pastoral issued by the
Bishop, it is learned that attempts were
made to secure for the establishment
a home in some one of the existing
city churches; but difficulties present-
ed themselves which were found to be
insurmountable, prominent among
these being the parochial organizations
and interests and proprietary pews. It
thus became necessary to seek an in-
dependent site for the erection of cath-
edral and other diocesan buildings,
which should be of sufficient size for
«11 future requirements. Hence the
above-named site was purchased and
the work began to assume tangible
shape. The site was bought from the
proprietors of the St. Alban’s Park es-
tate.

A necessary feature in the Cathedral
scheme was felt to be the residence of
the Bishop within the Cathedral pre-
cincts; indeed, the only way in which
it is 40 be naturally expected that the
work of the Cathedral should take
shape and develop is by starting from
the spot where the Bishop is estab-
lished, as a centre, and gradually

Dlocese of
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grouping its various forces and agencies
around that nucleus. A portion of the
Cathedral close, consisting of two
frontages of 100 feet each with a depth
between of 300 feet, was transferred
by the Chapter, deeded to the Synod
and a See-house costing $10,400 erect-
ed upon it where Bishop Sweatman now
lives. The present site is very nearly
in the centre of the presemt map of
the City of Toronto. with its suburbs
to the east and west, and at no great
diskance from the centre from north
to south.

This locality, extending eastwards
from these points, has been much buiit

available for use, while the building
progressed above it.

For some time before this a congre-
gation had beem meeting in a room
over the driving shed of a tavern at
the cormer of St. Alban’s Park. The
| people requested the privilege of using
the crypt for worship, and the request
was granted. Services were commenced
and have been continuously carried on
since then, first in a small room 40x15,
and ther in the main crypt, which has
a seatimg capacity of 300, and from
November, 1891, in the choir, which was
; then completed, having cost about $70,-

ST. ALBAN’S CATHEDRAL (UNFINISHED)—EXTERIOR OF CHANCEL.

up during the decade ending in 1895°

with for the most part a high class style
of residences, and is evidently destined
to be one of the principal residential
districts of the city.

The St. Alban’s Park Syndicate, who
most generously gave to the Chapter
one-half of the purchase money of the
site, made a further offer of $2,000 on
the condition that the choir and chan-
cel of the church were commenced be-
fore the £3rd of August, 1885.

The first sod was turned August
20th, 1885, and the corner stone was
laid by the Bishop June 16th, 1886, A
' portion of the walls was speedily built
' and covered, in rendering the crypt

000. No further extension of the bnild-
ing has as yet been begun. The choir,
including the chancel, measures about
90 by about 79 feet in the greatest
width, and comfortably seats over 300,
though more can be accommodated in
it, as was the case when the opening
service of the first General Synod gf
Canada was held at St. Alban’s in
September, 1893, at which 400 persons
were present. Besides the portion used
| for services, the building as it stands
| contains thz Diocesan, library, choir
'and ample Sunday school rooms, for
| although a Sumnday school is not usu-
ally a part of cathedral work, it has
i been found desirable to maintain one
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here, which has been done, and done
most successfully.

The estimated cost of the cathedral,
which cannot be built for many years
to come, is $250,000. It will be deco-
rated handsomely, following the early
English style of architecture. When
the naves and transepts are completed
the whole structure will be 250 feet

long. It will be built of Credit Valley !

‘stone, and it is the design of the archi-
tect to have a tower at the south-
‘west corner 135 feet high.

It may be mentioned here, though,
that the designs for the building when
‘completed have not yet been definitely
adopted.

The interior of St. Alban’s as it is
in 1898 presents a pemarkably hand-
some appearance, despite the unfinish-
ed state of the exterior.

The desire of the bishopat first—as
Bet forth in his pastoral of 1¥86—was
to complete, as far as possible, the
organization of a cathedral staff for
the purpose of assisting in diocesan
missionary work before attempting
the erection of any part of the build-
ing. And it would have been better,
no doubt, as events have turned out,
if this plan had been adhered to, but
2 very strong inducement-—one which
cvertainly ought not to have heen
ignored—was that made by the St.
Alban’s Park Syndicate for the imme-
diate commencement of the cathedral
edifice. Their offer was accepted and,
in accordance with it, the portion of
the building shown in the .illustration
was erected.

But this involved the chapter in

less some timely aid arrives, it will be

impossible to extricate itself. In a re- |

cent statement issued the total in-
debtedness resting on the building
and the property is $60,000—not sure-
ly a hopeless sum of money for a
diocese like Toronto to deal with. Still,
no adequate effort, as yet, has been
made to meet this present difficulty.
The bishop's last appeal to the city
clergy and congregations brought
forth some contributions, but not

enough to relleve, to any perceptible

extent, the grave financial difficulty.
Since the commencement of the ser-
vices, these have been from time to

'
!
!
i
!
i
|

assistant minister at St. James’ Cathe-
dral, and afterwards accepted the
charge of a parish in the State of
New York. He was succeeded by the
Rev. J. G. Waller, who left to take
up missionary work in Japan, where
he holds an important post, having at
the present time some eight assistants
working under him. The Rev. Charles
H. Shortt had the charge for some
time, retiring from it to become rec-
tor of St. Cyprian’s, which parish was
partly formed by the efforts of the
congregation of St. Alban’s. From
about Easter, 1893, the offfice has been

| held by the Rev. A. U. DeDlencier,

who came to Toronto from the Diocese
of Ontario.
The following constitute the cathe-

i dral staff in 189B.

Pishop, Right Rev. Arthur Sweatman,
JDH 05 D5 (0h g

Archdeacons—Venerables Samuel J.
Boddy (Toronto), and Thomas W. Al-
len (Peterborough).

Tishop’s chaplains—Revs. H. Scad-
ding, D.D., and A. J. Broughall, M. A.,
(examining.)

Canons, residentiary—Revs. H. Scad-
ding. 3 D.; E. A. Welch, M. A,
(chancellor), J. D. Cayley, M. A., (pre-
centor),

Canons, non-resident— Revs. H. B.
Osler, Francis Tremayne, Alexander
Sanson, C. C©. Johnson, E. W.
Murphy, R. W. E. Greene, P. Harding,
A. W. Spragge, John Farncomb, W.
Relner.

Homorary canons—Revs. J. P. Shera-

- ton D.D., J. F. Sweeny, D.D., and C. H.

time carried on by different clergy, |

wcling under the direction

of the -

bishop, as dean. Of these we may name

the Rev. James
held the office of Priest-Vicar—as the
clergyman responsible for the rezular
conduct of cathedral services is styled—
for some time. He was subsequently

George Lewis, who

financial difficulties from which. un- | Moslerieger Il IE

Priest-vicar—Rev. A. U. DePencier.
Choir masier—Mr. David Kemp.

CHAPTER XXIIL
TRINITY COLLEGE CHAPEL.

The Handsewme University Cellcge ana s
History.

Trinity College Chapel, in the east-
ern wing of the university building, is
in its interior one of the handsomest
ecclesiastical structures in .the city
of Toronto. It has been spoken
of by competent critics as a ‘“gem of
ecclesiastical architecture,”” and when
one enters within its walls this praise
does not appear in the least exagger-
ated.

From 1852 until 1884 what is now
the college library was used by the
professors and under-graduates of
Trintiy for divine service. Morning and
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svening prayers were held there
throughout the year daily, while on
Sundays many families who resided
near the University also worshipped
In its precincts. In the year 1883 it
was decided to build a chapel as an
adjunct to the college, and the funds

having been in great measure provided
owing to a donation of $10.000 from
the family of the late Mr. James Hen-
derson in the previous year, the work
was commenced and carried to a suc-
cessful completion, the chapel bein

opened on October 18th, 1884. )
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The style of architecture is later
Gothic knd there dTe some very fine
stained glass windows in the chancel,
as well as excellent examples of wood
carving in the stalls .and seats.

The chapel will comfortahly seat
rather more thau 150 worshippers,

though, except on special occasions,
it does not often happen that as
many are present at any of the

services. It is extra-parochial and the
pulpit i8 usually filled either by the
Provost or by some one of the clerical
professors. Daily prayers are said
there throughout the academical year
and the Holy Communion is adminis-
tered not only upon Sundays but upon
all holy days. The brass lectern is a re-
markably handsome piece of furniture,
while the chancel, to the south of which
is the organ, is in exquisite taste,
neither being too ornate or too severe
in its several surroundings.

A noticeable feature in the chancel
is the massive carved oak Episcopal
chair, presented by the fafnily of the
late Major Charles Jones, a distin-
guished officer in the Royal Artillery,
and brother of Professor William Jones,
now (1899) Bursar of the University. At
the back of the phair is a brass, bear-
ing the following ILatin inscription:—

In Piam Memoriam
fratris dilectissimi
Caroli Jones, tribuni militum
Cohortis regiae ballistariorum praefec-
ti, istius collegii clim scholaris
hanc cathedrein episcopaleno.
PYGE.

frater
A. D. MDCCCXCVIL.

Another beautiful adjunct to the fur-
niture of the chancel are the brass gas
standards standing respectively to the
north and south of the holy tab.le.
while upon the latter stands a massive
brass cross and chaste flower vases.

The wood carving on the stalls of the
provost and dean are exquisite speci-
mens of workmanship. They are em-
blematic of the four Evangelists, Mat-
thew, Mark, Luke and John. These
stalls are in the western end of the
chapel, directly facing the holy table.

The first Provost of Trinity was the
Reverend George Whittaker, who fill-
ed that position for exactly thirty
years. He resigned in 1881. Leaving
Canada he returned to England, where
be died about three years later.

Provost Whittaker was succeeded by
the Rev. C. W. E. Body, who held office
until the summer of 1894, when he was
translated to the professorship of Old

Testament History in the General Theo-
logical Seminary of New York.
Following Provost Body at Trinity
came the Reverend E. A. Welch, who
was, at the date of his appointment,
vicar of the Church of the Venerable
Bede at Gatesheud, England. The last
ixgéngled gentleman still holds office in
It is a coincidence: that all the three
provosts of Trinity have been graduates
of Cambridge University, belonging re-

| spectively to Queen’s, St. John’s and

King’s Colleges. Of the other clerical
professors, their numbers are almost
equally divided from among Oxford,
Cambridge and Trinity itself.

CHAPTER XXIV.
ST. ANNE’S AND ST. OLAVE'S.

The First Breckton I"lace of Worship fer
Anglieans.

On the east side of Dufferin street,
north of Dundas street, is a little
church of rather quaint appearance,
situated amid picturesque surround-
ings. That is, the surroundings are
picturesque in summer time. In the
winter though they are rather bleak
and drear, {'he property of St. Anne’s
parish lies in a depression and is com-
posed of a large lot with a small
church, a rough-cast frame school
building and an old-fashioned rectory.
The church is a rted brick structure
with a little framed porch in the front .
gable, facing Dufferin street, where-
on is a. placard announcing ‘“All seats
free at evening service.” 'A faneciful
stone belfry rises from the front and
the impression made by this little
Gothic structure is a pleasant one.

This impression is heightened when
regarding the interior. It is a pretty
nave, very suggestive of the old Eng-
lish chape! style. The walls are un-
plastered. the roof is of open timber
work pierced by neat dormerlet win-
dows. There is a spacious centre aisle
and two side aisles, and a number of
pretty lancet windows admit a sub-
dued light which adds much to the
happy impression made and serves to
increase the religious sentiment of the
worshipper. The roof is supported by
slender wooden pillars. The chancel
contains organ. seats for the choir,
and a small sanctuary. A triple lan-
cet window of variegated colours
adorns the eastern end above the
altar, ’

A handsome memorial window is in-
seried to the side of the little vestry,
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at the north-east cormer, upon which
is inscribed, *‘Sacred to the Memory of
William Murray Gooch, who was acci-
dentally shot near the Humber, March
26th, 1881, aged 16 years.”

The school-houss is entirely detached
from the church, and while not pretty
nor architecturally noticeable, yet
serves its purposa. It contains an ele-
vated platform at the eastern end,
with a reading desk, piano and organ.
A gallery at the western end, made
to communicate by a sliding partition
with the main room, is also used for
the infant class, and also contains an
organ.

St. Anne’s seems to have been sect

= o ....§.....{r":».f:w.

0

e

bers Gibson, B.A., succeeded to the in-
cumbency.

Mr. Gibson died July 22, 1872, and
was succeeded by the Rev. S. S. Strong,
D.D., D.C.L., who remained rector till
the autumn of 1877, when he resigned,
and retired from active duty, after
many years spent in the church’s ser-
vice. He was succeeded by the present
incumbent, Rev. John MclLean Ballard,
M.A.. of Trinity College, Toronto.

On June 26, 1879, the parish was

divided by the formation of St. Mark’s
parish, Parkdale, where a school house
had been built and services conducted
by the rector of St. Anne’s, with the
Maddock,

help of Prof. of Trinity

ST. ANNE’S CBURCH, DUFFERIN STREET, (BROCKTON.)

apart as a separate parish in Janu-
ary, 1863, the Rev. John Hilton being
the incumhbent, and R. L. Denison and
Joseph Church the churchwardens. The
parish was first represented in the
Synod of the Diocese in June, 1863,
R. L. Denison being the lay represen-
tative. The church was built in 1862,
but Church of England services were
held in the neighhourhood before that
date, in a private chapel erected by
Col, R. L. Denison at his residence,
then known as Dover Court, which has
since been demolished and the ground
surveyed into a new street, named
Churchill avenue, connecting with
Lakeview avenue.

On the death of the Rev. John Hil-
ton, in 1871, the Rev. Joseph Cham-

College, Mr. C. L. Ingles, then a stu-
dent at the college, and Mr. Rawlin-
son, an earnest lay worker in Park-
dale. In the autumn of 1879 St. Anne’s
church was enlarged by the addition
of an aisle on the south side, the ser-
vices for the time being held in a
school house, which had been erected
on Grove avenue, in a part of the
parish which was rapidly building up.
In 1881 the church was again enlarged
to meet the rapid growth of the
neighbourhood, an aisle being added to
the north side, with an organ chamber
and vestry. An organ was also pur-
chased and first used at the re-open-
ing of the church. .

In February, 1885, the parish was
again divided, and a new parish



90

LANDMARKS OF TORONTO.

formed, on the south-east, including
a part of St. Matthias’ parish, and
constituted the parish of St. Barnabas,.

In 1887 the school house was removed
from Grove avenue to the lot on Duf-
foerin street, beside the Church of St.
Anne. There was also erected in the
parish during the summer of 1887 &t.
Olave’s church by the lake at Swansea,
‘near the mouth of the Humber, the
Rev. Henry Softley conducting the ser-
vices there and at the Howard street
mission, where & church has since been
built on Roncesvalles avenue, known
as St. Jude’s church, Toronto.

In 1888 the continued growth of the

$

Anne’s parish, and &subject to the
supervision of its clergy, the Sunday
duty at present being chiefly taken by
Mr. F. R. Dymond and Mr. W. J. Med-
ford, licensed lay readers of the dio-
cese.

Those who have officiated as curates
in the parish have been the late Arthur
Boultbee, the Rev. Herbert Symonds,
M. A., the Rev. J. J. Johnston, L. S. T.,
the Rev. J. G. Waller, M. A,, the Rev.
A. U. De Pencier, and the Rev. G. F.
Davidson, B. A.

fThe rectors of St. Anne’s have been:
1863-1871—Reverend John Hilton.

ST. OLAVES’ OHURCH, WINDERMERE.

neighbourhood made it necessary _to
again enlarge the church by the addi-
tion of transcepts and a new chancel
and tower, thereby more than doubling
its former size. The plans were pre-
pared by Mr. A. R. Denisgon, and sev-
eral handsome memorial windows and
a chime of eight tubular bells have
s&ince been added. .

Mr. Ballard is still rector and is now,
in 1596, ably assisted by the Rev. Gil-

le:t Farquar Davidson, B. A., of ’I‘rin—|

ity College. ]
‘"he church of St. Olave’s, Swansea, in
charge of th: Rev. H. Softley, and the

church of St. Jude’s. Roncesvalles ave., '

continue to be mission churches ol St.

1871-1872—~Reverend J. C. Gibson,

1872-1877—Reverend S.
D.D. D C. L.
M’l877—Reverend J. McLean Ballard.

)

The churchwardens at St. Anne’s
since its foundation have been these:

S. Strong,

1263-1864—R. L. Denison, Joseph
Church.
1°61-1868 — R. L. Denison, Kivas

| Tully. .
1768-1870— R. L. Denison. Henry
O’Brien.
1870-187{ — R. L. Denison, G. B.
| Kirkpatrick.
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1871-1872— John Bacon. G. B. Kirk-
trick.

1872-1873—R. L. Denison, John Bacon.
1873-1874 — R. L. Denison, R. N.

Gooch. 3

1874-1875 — R. N. Gooch, J. G. Deni-
son.

1875-1876 — J. G. Denison, F. Baker.

1876-1877—J. A. Donaldson, Colonel
Alger.

1877-1878 = R. L. Denison, R. N.
Gooch.

1878-1880 — J. S. Lockie. R. Steven-

son.
1880-1881—R. N. Gooch, Major W. L.
Milligan,

1893-1824—S. Shaw, G. G. Lindsay.

1894-1897——W, Williams, A. H. Rich-
ardson. .

1897-1899—S, A. Matthews,
low,

J. Bar-

CHAPTER XXV.
CHURCH OF THE MESSIAH.

An Archifectural Gem in the Nertherm
Suburbs.

The formation of the parish known
by the above name was brought about
in this way:—

The most northerly Church of Eng-

CHURCH OF THE MESSIAH, AVENUE ROAD.

1881-1883—Major Milligan, Clarence
‘A. K. Denison.
1883-'834—Major Milligan, Septimus

A. Denison.
1781-1885—Charles L. Denison, G. A.
Denison. .
1885-1886 — Alfred Wright, J. J.

Dyas.
1886-1888— Alfred Wright G. A. Deni-

son.

1288-1891—James Armstrong, Alfred
Wright.

1891-1893 — T. N. Sampson, E. J.
Voss. 1

land parish in the city was, prior to
the formation of the Church of the
Messiah, the Church of tha Redeemer,
on Bloor street west, whose northerly
limits were identical with those of the
city, the parish of Christ Church, Deer
Park, extending southward to the city
boundary.

As the great area between Bloor
street and Deer Park church filled up,
the necessity for better church accom~
modation began to be felt. To meet, in
some measure, this want, the Church
of the Redeemer established a mission
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in the neighbourhood of the Davenport
Road, in charge of which, in the win-
ter of 1888-89, the Bishop appointed the
Rev. John Gillespie. The old building
used by the Primitive Methodist
Church on the corner of Yonge street
and the Davenport road, whose congre-
gation had removed '‘to their new
church on Avenue road, was secured
and the church’s work was zealously |
prosecuted. Under Mr. Gillespie’s care
rapid progress was made, and the ne-
cessity for more extensive and suit-
able quarters was soon apparent, with
this result, that in the spring of 1890
the Bishop sanctioned the formation of
the parish of the Church of the Mes-
siah, and appointed the Rev. John Gil-
lespie its rector. »

The boundaries of the parish are as
follows: Commencing at the corner of
Yonge and Belmont streets, northerly
to Roxborough avenue, thence easterly
to the ravine, thence northerly to Sum-

merhill avenue, and ‘the north city
limits, thence westerly to Poplar Plains |
road, thence southerly to Davenport

road and easterly to the point of begin-

ning.

The little congregation were full of
zeal and hope, and the present fine !
site on the corner of Avenue road and |
Dupont street, was purchased. A
Sunday school building, facing on Du-
pont street, was at once erected, the
first service therein being held about
the middle of September, 1890. In the
meantime Messrs. Gordon & Helliwell,
architects, of this city, were engaged
in preparing the design for the church
building, a handsome stone structure
destined to form a notable addition to
the church architecture of Toronto.

The contract for the stome work of
the church was let to Messrs, Oakley
& Holmes, and the construction of the
building begun.

In the fall of 1890 the new church
was completed, the Bishop of Toronto
opening it with special service.

In architecture the church is an
example of the perpendicular gothic
style. The rough grey lime stone is
adapted to none but simple treatment,
and the effect of the building is_due
to its general form and proportions,
rather than to elaborate detail. The
massive battlemented tower on the
Dupont street elevation is a conspicu-
ous object even from Yonge street.
The interior of the buillding 18
in harmony with its exterior, the
architects having adhered to the same
style in the open timbered roof, oak
seats and chancel fittings. The seat-
ing accommodation is about 700. The
total cost of site and buildings bas been
about $35,000. The first churchwar-

-age.

dens were Joseph Jackes and A. J:
P.a.rker_, who held office from Easter
1890, till Easter, 1892. Their suc.
cessors were Grant Helliwell and John
D. Armstrong. On the lamented death
of the latter gentleman in November,
1895, William Stone was appointed. Mr.
Stone and Mr. John Patterson ivere
appointed wardens at the Easter ves-
try meeting in 1896. g

CHAPTER XXVI,
ST. CYPRIAN’S.

A fSmall Church with an Excellent Re-
corc.

At the time of the great and sudden
growth of Toronto, about ten years
ago, the suburb then known as Seaton
Vxlla.ge. became so populous that it was
taken into the city boundaries. A
largg proportion of the people were
English, having been attracted to

| this country by the great “boom ” in

the building trades, and of these there
were, as onme would naturally expect
to find, many Church of England
people. Although part of St. Thomas’
parish, the section just spoken of was
a long way from the church, and as
at St. Alban’s cathedral services had
been begun in the crypt, many of the
people attended there. A cathedral
does not pretend to do parish work,
yet the priest-vicar of the time, Dr.
J. G. Lewis, was able to look after the
people to some extent. He was followed
by the Rev. J. G. Waller, who in the
autumn of 1890 was sent out as a
missionary to Japan, nobody being
appointed to his place at the cathedral.
The care of Seaton Village then fell
upon the clergy f St. Thomas’, who
already had their hands very full. A
most opportune offer of assistance
came to these gentlemen at the close
of 1890 from the members of the sister-
hood of St. John the Divine, who estab-
lished a mission house on Johnson,
now Follis, avenue. For some time, in
consequence of this help, the Revs. C.
J. Roper and L. I. Smith were enabled
to effectually carry on the work. A
free dispensary was opened, mothers’
meetings, sewing classes, Band of
Hope and work among the poor were
sutcessfully maintained.

In 1891 it was deemed necessary fto
form a new parish, which was named
after St. Cyprian, the Bishop of Carth-
The boundaries of the parish
were Bloor street, Ossington avenue,
Davenport road, Brunswick avenus,
Wells and Bathurst streets, and these
have not since been changed. The Rev.
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C. H. Shortt, M.A., of Woodbridge, was
appointed by the Bishop the first rec-
tor of the new parish, while services
were continued in St. Alban’s crypt
until such time as a church could be
built.

The site selected for the church was
a lot of 65 feet on Christie street, on
the south-west corner of Dupont street,
and was purchased from Mr. Frank
Turner for $1,500. On September 26th,
1891, the first sod was turned for the
foundation of the new church by the
Bishop of the Diocese. It was thought
advisable at this time, in order to build
up a congregation with proper paro-
chial organizations, to hold the ser-
vices in Turner’'s Hall, on Christie
street, the Sunday schools being still
held in St. Alban’s and the Mission

time to time have been made, while
one of the parochial guilds did much
good work under the direction of the
Sisters of St. John. - The latter have
themselves made many gifts of neces-
sary furniture. The clergy and con-
gregation of St. Thomas' Church also
have given much assistance to the par-
ish, and still continue to do so, Rev.
F. G. Plummer, of St. Thomas’ Church,
being instructor of St. Cyprian’s choir.

By the energetic work of the rector,
Rev. C. H. Shortt, and his assistants,
work in the new parish of St. Cyprian
rapidly proceeded. Parochial organiza-
tions of all kinds, and a parish maga-
zine, were soon got under way, and
ever since have been doing excellent
work. The congregations and Sunday
schools have steadily increased since

ST. CYPRIAN’S CHURCH.

house previously spoken of. Work on
the new church proceeded rapidly:
which, with the rectory attached, was
completed at a cost of $4,500. Mr.
KEden Smith was the architect, and
Messrs. L. J. Bland and F. J. Goodman
the contractors.

On June 19th, 1892, the church was
formally opened, the services in con-
nection therewith extending over a
week. It is a plain building, seating
about 350 people. In the basementare
rooms for the Sunday schools, choir,
guilds, and Church Boys’ Brigade.
There is a beautiful east window, pre-
sented by a generous member of the
congregation, while a fine organ has
recently been added at the cost of the
same individual. Many gifts of church
furniture of all kinds by friends from

the parish was organized.

For five years Mr. Shortt continned
his work as rector of St. Cyprian’s, but
when, in the spring of 1897, Rev. J.
C. Roper resigned the acting rectoriate
of St. Thomas’ church to take up col-
legiate work in New York, Mr. Shortt
was appointed by the Bishop to take
his place; and at Easter, 1897, took
farewell of the congregation. :

Notwithstanding many great finan-
cial difficulties, Mr. Shortt left be-
hind him a well-equipped church, and
a congregation able to meet the fu-
ture with great hope. Mr. Shortt’s suc-
cessor had in the meantime been ap-
pointed in the person of the Rev. C.
A. Seager, M.A., asaistant curate of
Saint Thomas’. On the first Sunday
after Easter, 1897, Mr. Seager assum-
ed charge and is now rector.
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The present incumbent is working
along the lines which have proved so
successful in the past. At the pre-
sent time the work of the parish is as
follows:—The services being moder-
ately advanced in ritual, there is a
surpliced choir of men and boys as-
sisted by several ladies.

Services are held at 8 o’clock avery
Sunday morning; at 7, 8 and 11 o’clock
on the first Sunday in each month,
and on Tuesday and Thursday morn-
ings at 7 o'cleck, in the Mission House.
Wednesday evening services are held
at & o'clock in ihe Mission House dur-
ing the winter and in the church dur-
ing the summer. Sunday schools are
beld at 9.30 a.m. and 3 p.m. in the
church, Other Sunday services are as
follows—Morning and evening prayers
are said at 11 o’clock a.m. and 7 o’clock

.m., respectively, except on the first
gunday in the month, when a choral
celebration of Holy Communion takes
the place of matins.

The lay reader is Mr. V. BE. F. Mor-
gan, and Mr. G. Ward also assists in
the services. )

It has already been mentioned that
much work is done by the Sisterhood
of St. John the Divine in St. Cyprian’s
psrish. They continue to render most
valuable aid through their Mission
House. A free dispensary is open each
day fiom 2 to 5 o'clock, attended by
an efficient staff of medical practition-
ers. In the Mission House .are held
mothers’ meetings, sewing classes for
children, etc., managed by the Sisters.
Here also is the centre for poor relief

"out necessary work about the church.
Quarterly meetings of the congrega-
tion .are held, as well as the Easter
vestry meeting, to discuss the affairs
| of the church, ‘A parish magazine also
| is published monthly. Altogether there
' has grown up during the last six years
a congregation well equipped and or-
ganized for the work of the church.
Church wardens were from—
1891-1892, L. J. Bland and D. Orr.
1892-1898, L. J. Bland and J. Harni-

man.
1893-1894, L.. J. Bland and F. J. Good-

man.
L. J. Bland and T. W, Slean.
E. Prince and T. W. Slean.

1894-1898,
1898-1899,

CHAPTER XXVII.
ST. MARK’S, PARKDALE.

An Energetic Recter and a Very Large
Congregation.

St. Mark’s church was built as a mis-
sion church within the parish of St.
Anne’s, Dufferin street, during the in-
-oumbency of the present rector of St.
: Anne’s, Rev. J. §L. Ballard. Among the
! laymen especially interested in the
' mission was the late Mr. T. W. Raw-
: linson, who had come to live in the new
village of Parkdale. Not only was he
| interested in the building of the little
! mission school house, which was us~d
|@s a church until the erection of the
| present building, but he was also a
lay reader under Mr. Ballard.
' The first building was opened in De-

of all kinds for the parish. The sisters i cember, 1877, with a seating capacity
are aided in their work by, ladies from | of 120, and was put upon a lot with 45
different churches in the city, as well | feet frontage. The present building
as fiom St. Cyprian’s. A beautiful | was completed in January, 1881, and
little chapel is in connection with the | opened for service on the 20th day of
Mission House, where services are held. | that month. The present church, built
The sisters also render valuable help | in the Gothic style, will seat 400 per-
to the rector by visiting, where neces- . sons. Tts exterior is of red brick and

Bary.

T{le rarochial organizations are
as follows:—Woman’s Auxiliary to
Mis:ions in connection with which are
two subordinate organizations, the
Girls’ Branch and the Junior Branch;
a circle of the King’s Daughters, which
confines its work to the parish, and a
Chancel Guild, all of which meet in
the guild room of the church. Besides
these are a large sewing class for
children, and a mothers’ meeting,
which .assemble io the Mission House.
There are also a chapter of the St.
Andrew’s Brotherhood, a company of
the Church Boys' Brigade, and a busi-
nees committee consisting of men for
the purpose of discussing and carrying

the interior of white brick with red
brick facings. The chancel measures
18x122 feet, the nave 39x66 feet; the
height of the wnlls is 18 feet and of
the roof 48 feet. The land has 90 feet
frontage on Cowan avenue, and cost
about $900; the cost of the school house
was $600 and of the church $5,000. The
present total value of the property 1s
upwards of $8,000, on which there is a
debt of $3,600. .

The income of the parish in 1887-88
from all sources was about $2,400. The
pew rentals amounted to about $825
and the offertory to $1,111. The finan-
cinl as well as moral work of the par-
ish is aided by several auxiliary bodies
well organized and zealously conduct-
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ed. These consist of guilds, associations
and other societies enlisting the inter-
est of the people, and are very success-
ful in their results. '
There are 25 officers and teachers in
the Sunday school and 185 children,
with an adult Bible class of about 20
members. The superintendent of the
school in 1888 was Mr. Walter Cresr
wick, a student of Trinity College, who
is also the rector’s lay assistant. 1In
connection with the work of the churc_h
a very interesting parish magazine is
published monthly, containing a scheme
of all the services and associations of

enk incumbent of St. Mark’s, is a son
of the late Rev. C. L. Ingles, rector of
Stamford, Diocese of Niagara. Mr.
Ingles graduated B. A. at Trinity Col-
lege in 1877, ordained deacom by the
present Bishop of Toronto on St. Mut-
thew’s day, 1879, and ordained priest
on September 26, 18R0. He was ap-
pointed to Parkdale September 22, 1879.

In 1877 St. Mhrk’s began as a mis-
sion of St. Anne’s with the incumbent
of the latter as rector. In July, 1879,
it was set apart as a separate parish
with less than forty families. Now
there are two hundred and thirty fami-

ST. MARK S ( HURCH, PARKDALE.

the parish, together with a rarge
amount of valuable reading matter.

The choir is a surpliced one, consist-
ing of eight men and sixteen boys. The
service in the morning is monctone
and in the eveming full choral. The
surpliced choir was introduced for the
first tigne on Easter Sunday of 1888
under the leadership of Mr. R. G.
Doherty, the present thoirmaster, un-
der whose tuition it has been brought
to its present excellent condition. Miss
Gray, daughter of Lieut.-Col. Gray, is
the orgamist.

The Rev. Charles L. Ingles, the pres-

lies connected with it. In the summer
of 1887 the rector was taking steps
to orgamnize a mission for the north-
weslt portion of the parish—the most
distant part from the church — some
of the parishioners in that neighbour-
hood. Being anxious to obtain a pas-
tor and form a separate parish, a pe-
tition was immediately circulated, for
which signatures were soon found, ask-
ing that on account of the increase in
population a new parish be set apart
and an incumbent appointed. Imstead
of the mission church, thorefore, the
nesv parish of the Church of the Epi-
rhany was cut off from St. Mark's—
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Jameson and Macdonnell avenues form-
ing the boundary.

Ax the time of the division there
were 320 families in connection with
St. Mark’s. In the eight years from
the inception of the parish the num-
bers had increased just eight times. In
Miy, 1888, the seats were made free,
and since that time the congregations
have greatly increased, and the con-
tributions through the offertory have
been smfficient for current expenses
and' the church is financially prosper-

ous.

Eight years have passed since the
first portion of this account of St.
Mark’s was written. In the mean-
time there have been some, though not
many, changes in the congregation,
though there has been none in the
rector, Mr. Ingles still continuing his
ministry there. Mr. Walter Cres-
wick, referred td as the superintendent
of the Sunday school, took holy orders

shortly afterwards, and became min- '
ister in charge of St. Simon’s church, !

East Toronto.
The congregation of St. Mark’s has

grown as far as present seating capa- |

city will allow, and as the neighbour-
hood is continually growing, increased
accommodation must be provided if the
church people of the parish are to find
opportunity to attend the services ot
the church.

The wardens of St. Mark’s have been
these:
1878-9—Thomas McLean, Major Gray.
1879-80—William Atkinson, Dr. Playter.
1880-1—J. S. Lockie, Thomas W. Raw-

linson.

1881-2—J. S. Lockie, W. A. Walker.
1882-3—J. S. Lockie, W. A. Walker.
1883-4—H. J. Hill, B. Goodman.
1884-5—J. Walker, B. Goodman.

1885-6—George D. Perry, G. N. Rey-|

nolds.
1886-7—George D. Perry, John Walker.

1887-8—Charles J. Brown, B. Goodman. |

1888-9—James A. Saunders, B. Good-
man.

1889-90—Samuel Horton, S. W. Black.
1890-91—George D. Perry, S. W. Black.
1891-2—Fred. Kelk, A. J. La Venture.
1892-3—Fred. Kelk, B. Goodman.
1893-4—S. W. Black, F. G. Mingay.
1894-5—S. W. Black, F. G. Mingay.
1895-6—Fred. Kelk, J. Champlin Hari-

son. : -
1896-7—Fred. Kelk, J. Champlin Hari-
son.

CHAPTER XXVIIL.
ST. SIMON'S.

Qn Edifice tn the North-east part ef the
Clity with a Pleasing History.

About 1884 Rev. Canon DuMoulin in-
stituted regular services in St. James’
| Cemetery Chapel, on Parliament street.
' The work was undertaken as a mission
of St. James’ Cathedral, and it proved
| a success from the start. With the
increase of the congregation the ne-
cessity for enlargement was paramcunt;
it was felt by Church of England peo-
ple residing in the north-eastern part
of the city, that a thorough parish or-
ganization and a more convenient and
commodious church building were call-
jed for. In accordance with this mne-
| cessity the Bishop organized the parish

of St. Simon’s, and named Rev. T. C.
Street-Macklem, B.A., the curate of
| All Saints’ church, as the first rector.

The appointment was a happy one;
for Mr. Macklem, who is a graduate

of St. John's College, Cambridge, is
| the embodiment of a popularity, an
1 energy and enthusiasm that, in less

than one year, crowned the new move-
ment with the most signal success. A
suitable church has been erected, a
flourishing congregation and Sunday
schoo! have been established, and St.
Simon’s is in the front rank of To-
ronto’s Church of England parishes.
A most eligible site was bought at
the head of Ontario street, measur-
ing 150 feet frontage with a depth of
600 feet. The church crowns the south-
ern slope of the picturesque Rosedale
ravine, and it is a structure as hand-
some as it is unique. 'The style of

!

architecture is the half-timbered
‘Elizabethan, an adaptation success-
fully made in this case, though the

style is unusual in church architec-
ture.

The structure rests upon a founda-
tion of Credit Valley stone, with red
brick walls to the window sills, and
then ornamental rubble and timber
work to the roof, the whole interming-
ling arrangement being very ornate
and tasty. The long line of the nave
is broken by a fine gable'at the west
end, surmounted with a cross. Un-
derneath this is a beautiful cloistered
entrance, and near it, on the south-
ern side of the church, a graceful
rorch; the gables of the baptistery at
this end give the building a novel,
but effective, . finish. Clerestory,
windows pierce the chancel walls,
the roof of which has been raised for
the purpose; while above the organ-
chamber gable a little bell-turret is
erected in harmony with the chimneys
and ventilating shaft. The fine
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quality and finish of the wood, stone,
rubble and brick work taken with
the graceful harmony in colour of the
terra cotta tile give the church an un-
usual but artistic and even picturesque
appearance.

'The church will seat 400 persons and
has a centre and two side aisles; the
seating, in ash, Is arranged with draw
seats at either end. The decoration of
this part of the church is in copper
reds, to harmonize with the leaded
glazing of the windows, and, joined
with the brick dado around the church,
it gives it @ warmth and finish of tone.

—

)

stands out from the chancel on the
north side of the church, the lectern
occupying & corresponding position on
the south side. In the chancel are four
seven-branched gas standards, which,
together with the lectern and other
furnishings for the chancel, were pre-
sented to the parish by the rector, he
bhaving obtained them in England. The
altar cross was pressnted by one of
the parishioners.

There are vestries on the north for
the choir and clergy, wsile Sunday
school rooms are to be fitted up in the
| basement., A sweet-toned bell, weigh-

b
TN

ST. SIMON’S CHURCH, HCWARD STREET.

The baptistery at the west end is
novel but pleasing. The chancel is
tastefully decorated, and has seats for
thirty choristers and five clergy. The
organ chamber is on the south, well
out in the building, but partially
screened from it. The ceiling and
walls of the chancel are panelled and
finished in ornate stucco work, the
sanctuary being enriched with a ribbed
elliptical bronzed ceiling and ornate
friezes. The cast wall contains a
handsome window with a central cross
of ancient cathedral glass; above the
altar it is diapered In richly coloured
bronzes, The pulpit, of carved wood,

ing 1,794 pounds, swings in the petite
turret and sends its glad notes out
over the ravine so becomingly beauti-
fied by this handsome church. And al-
though the present church is intend-
ed to be really the Sunday school room
of a future larger and more suitable
structure, yet, in the beauty of its con-
ception, in the novelty and chastenass
of i!s exterior and interior decoration,
and in the value of all its arrangements
and appointments. it surpasses almost
every other church in the city. Ar-
tistically the Church of Our Lady of
Lourdes is its only superior. St.
' €imon’s church cost only $11000, an
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insignificant sum when the beauty and
finish of the building are considered.

Rev. Mr. Macklem is assisted by Rev.
C. L. V. Drine, B. A., of King s College,
Nova Scotia. Communion is celebrated
twice every Sunday, with ehoral litany
at 4.15, and evening song at 7. Two
services are held every day in the week

at 10 a. m. and 5.30 p. m., with even |

song on Wednesday at 8. All these
services are very largely attended; on
Sunday evenings numbars are oft n
turn~d away, while many who can just
find entrance are content to stand dur-

ing the entire serviee. The choir is

¢
1
i

|
l
1
4

|

accompanied by a vocalion played ef-.

feclively by Mr. Ernest Wood, the
choirmaster bezing Mr. J. W. F. Har-
rison. ‘There is a surpliced choir of <0
voices, and while the singzing yet re-
veals the recent organization, it is
charmingly done. »The service is
choral and is given with all the dignity
and grace that make such a service
pre-eminently beautiful, impressive and
helpful.

The church was opencd for rervice on
the 18th day of March, 1888. The
building was begun in the fall of 1887,
and completed In 1888, While the
po.elty o th: movement doubtless al-
tracted many at first, it was soon seen
that St. Simon’s churech was esfab-
lished upon a sure foundation, and
that its outlook was of the most san-
guine character.

Since the foregiong article was writ-
ten St. Simon’s churech has undergone
a structural chaage so eomplete that
it could hardly be recognized to-day
from the descripiion given above. The
congregation outgrew the accommoda-
tion provided so much more rapidly
than had been anticipated that it he-
came necessarvy to abandon the plap
at first entertained of occupying the
original building for ten or twelve
years, till the debt should be paid off,
and of then diverting it to Sunday
school purposes, and erecting in front
of it a permanenl stone chureh. Be-
fore three years were past increased
accommodation was rapidly tecoming
an imperat ve necessity, and at the
Easter vesiry mecting in 1892 steps
were taken for the immediate re-con-
atruct’on of th~ ex'sting building, on
a scale which would aonble the seating
capacity and leave little of the origi-
nal buildint reroznizable, except the
chancel. whirh havinz heen bult of
ample proportions in the first instance,
reauired litile change. The nave was
extended westward, transepts were
built out on tha north and south, new
entrances were provided, and the
whole appearance of the building, both

externally and internally, were ma-
terially altered. The result, as far
as the exterior is concerned, betrays
its patchwork history, but not so with

he interior, which has been vastly im-
proved, and may be termed pleasing,
dignified and churchly. These exten-
sive alterations were pushed through
with considerable energy, and services
were held in the enlarged church for
the first time on Sunday, 30th October,
1892, the congregation having been de-
prived of the use of their building for
four months only. The services in the
interval had been carried on in the
little mortuary chap:l in St. James’
Cemetery, which had been the origi-
nal gathering place, and remained for
several years afterwards the spiritual
home of the worshippers who formed
the nucleus of the St. Simon’s congre-
gation when the new parish was set
apart. Coincidently with the enlarge-
ment of the church the organ also was
pnlarged, and it is now an excellent
instrument and very sweet-toned, al-
though the addition of a third r anual
is nesded to render it as powerful as
it ought to be for the size of the chureh.
The blowing of the organ is dene bv a
small electric motor, which performs
its work efficiently and very quietly.
Electricity is used also throuchout the
building for the purposes of lighting
and ventilation. The specification of
the organ is as follows:— '

Violin  diapason, stopped diap-
ason, gamba, traverse flute, flautina,
oboe, cornopeon.

Greaet—Open diapason, doppel flute,
duleiana, gamba, prineipal, twelfth, fif-
teenth.

Pedals—Double open and Bourdon.

Coupiers—Octave coupler to swell,
swell to great, great to pedal, swell to
pedal, two eombination pedals and tre-
mulant.

The period of church enlargement
was quiekly followed by th> more
marked phases of the general husiness
deprcssion, so well known to us all,
and it was inevitable that the church
should feel it in many ways. Never-
theless, the progress of the parish’ has
been decidedly encouraging, and sub-
sequent events have amply justified the
enlargement of the building. The last
annual reports, published at Easter,
1896, shew the average Sunday con-
gregations for the year to be 422 in
the morning and 516 in th2 evening;
while th> congregations on Easter Sun-
day of that year were 779 at 11 am.
and 854 at 7 p.m. Adding to thes> two
services the two early celebrations of
the Holy Communion and 2 children’s
service in the afternoon, the total at-
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tendance for the day was 2,199. The
following table, showing the number
of communicants year by year on East-
er Sundays since the first opening of
the church, affords better evidence
than anything else of the stability and
steady growth of the congregation:

COMMUNICANTS ON KASTER SUNDAY, 1895
Hour of | ) i
5l bration ‘1888 1889]1890'1891'1892 1893/1894]1895
7.00a.m...... 50| 58| 89| 92| 79| 136| 182
8.00a m,.....| 87102 81| 106| 140/ 141/ 201f 211
Mid-day ....| 60| 43| to| 57) 72 132 81| &
Totals...| 147 252, 304 352 418 478
Year's—i_n-_ |
crease ... 501 3| 52| 52| 48/ 66/ 60
Tot'l incre’se 50| 53] 105| 105] 20| 271] 331

From the very Inception of the parish
the rector and congregation have en-
Joyed the services of very able assist-
ant clergy, in the persons of the Rev-
erends Chas. le V. Brine, B.A.,, E A.
Oliver, M.A,, and F. C. C Heathcota,
L.Th., as Assistant Curates, and of the
Reverends Prof. Ciark, M.A.,, D.CL.,,
and Prof. Lloyd, M.A. as Special
Preachers, and of th: Reverend Ernest
J. Wood, to whose untiring zeal and

great  ability, at first as Lay
Reader and since as Deacon-As-
sistant, the parish has for eight

years owned no smail part of its gen-
era’ prospsrity and stable financial
condition. Mr. Wood also filled the
post or ovginist for a few months aiter
the op2ning of the church. Mr. J. W.
F. Harrison, choirmaster from the com-
mencement, being at that time engaged
elsewhere as organist. It was not
long, however, before Mr. Harrison re-
signed his other post that, as both
choirmaster and organist, he might give
his undivided attention to St. Simon’s
church. Mr. Harrison quickly succeed-
ed in stamping his own genuis upon the
choir he had formed, and in placing it
in the very front rank of church choirs
in Toronto. His success is due not
alone to musical ability, of which he
possesses no lack, but also to his pleas-
Ing personal characteristics and ready
tact, which eliminated from the outset
all those bickerings and disputes which
so often fatally weaken what else
would be strong choirs.

The parish has been fortunate also
in enjoying the services of excellent
churchwardens, and in not suffering
many changes in the personnel of these
officers. Dr. E. H. Kertland has been
the Peoples’ Warden from the first,
and the Rector’s Wardens have been

| Mr. Frank E. Hodgins, from 1838 to

1893, and Major H. M. Pellatt, from
1893 to the present time (1898), re-
elected).

Of the many zealous lay-workers,
whose devotion has so materially help-
ed to make the parish what it is. two
names stand out pre-eminently, at two
important spaces in its history. The
inception of the parish and the erec-
tion of the first church building was
due in no great measure, to the energy,
perseverance and tact of Mr. T. E.
Moberly; while to Major Pellatt must
be accredited the wise foresight, and
financial ability which carried through
to so successful an issue the building
of the present enlarged and suitable
structure.

Another name, well known in the
work of the Church of England in To-
ronto, that of Mr. A. MoLean Howard,
is found on St. Simon’s list of members
from the very first. In the erection
and organization of this parish, Mr.
Howard contributed the same devotion
to the church’s interests and the same
eager desire for church extension that

 had been so powerful a factor for sev-

enteen years before, in the inception
and organijzation of the parish of All

| Saints. ‘

St. Simon’s church will doubtless con-
tinue to be for many years to come,
the chief place of worship for East
Rosedale, as well as for a large sec-
tign of the north-eastern part of the
city.

CHAPTER XXIX.

ST. BARNABAS.

The Anglican Plrce of Worship Bulls em
the Old Givin’s Property,

In the year 1885 the eastern portiom
of the district assigned by the ecclesi-
astic authorities to St. Anne’s, Brock-
ton, having greatly increased, and as
the western portion of the parish of
St. Matthias had likewise materially ex-
tended, it was felt on all sides that
church extension was absolutely re-
quired in the north-western portion
of the city.

This want was met by the bishop of
the dioces: with the full concurrence
of the rectors of St. Anne’s and of St.
Matthias setting aside a portion of
these last named parishes to form the
new district of St. Barnabas, the Rev.
W. H. Clarke, tiren incumbent of Bol-
ton, being appointed as its first rector.

On April 20th, 1885, a committee,
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composed of Messrs. J. A. Doneldson,
G. B. Boyle, Edward Predam, H. Brown
and the church wardens, was appointed
to raise funds for the erection of a
church.

On May 10th following, a motion was
carried unanimously that immediate
steps should be taken to obtain a site
for the proposed new church. On June
7th it was decided to buy the lot
whereon the church now stands.

Building operations began on Sep-
tember 28th, 1886, and on May 1st,

1887, the church, being the nave only
of the proposed building containing

parish all along. He assisted in every
improvement most generously, es-
pecially in procuring the organ, and
at Easter, 1896, xiresented the church
with an exceedingly handsome new pul-
pit. The altar was a gift from Mr.
Hallam, while its hangings were given
by the Sisters of St. John. The commun~
ion plate, which is of solid silver, was
largely contributed to by Mr. Frank

Wootten, who was also a generous
donor to the church of many other
things.

The Sunday school numbers upwards
of 200 anrl is superintended by the
rector. The church is fairly filled at

by
f
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ST. BARNABAS, HALTON AND GIVINS STREETS.

temporary chancel, was first used for
divine sarvice.

On June 1ith, St. Barnatas Day, the |
church was formally opened by the
Bishop of Toronto.

One of the most ardent supporters
of St. Barnabas church has been Mr.
J. A. Donaldson, and h= is in 1896 the
only original member of the building
committee still conmected with the
church.

He collected a large amount of money
for the building of the church, and
has kept up his active interest in the

the morning service, but the evening
service is largely attended. In this
respect St. Barnabas follows the gen-
eral church custom of this city. There
is probably no church in the city that
is, strictly speaking, filled in the
morning, and there are comparatively
few that are not filled in the evening.
In the Roman Catholic churches the
rule i¢ reversed; all the morning masses
are attended by crowded congregations,
while the vesper service is not so large-
ly attended.

The service at St. Barnabas church is
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choral. The choir is composed of 20
surpliced men and boys, and the in-
toning and singing are of the highest
order, very similar to that at Holy
Trinity church. The rector is the in-
structor of the choir. There is an early
celebration every Sunday morning at
8 and at 11 o'clock. Sunday school
meets at half-past two, and evensong
is celebrated at 7 o'clock. Every day
in the week a plain service is held at
9 am. and 5 p.m. The majority of the
members are of the middle class of so-
ciety, and have no time to
every day. The income o

0 to church
the parish

— g
e— 5 f j

cellent condition, well worked, and
popular in the parish.

The church-wardens of St. Barnabes
have been as follows:—
1885—1886—John Pearson, Frank Woot-

ten.
1886—1888—Dr. J. H. Lowe, Walter R.
Strickland.
1888—1890—Alan McDougal, W. Miles.
1890—1891—W. Miles. J. A. Fowler.
1891—1892—W. Miles, Dr. J. H. Lowe.
1892—1898—Chas. P. Lennox, Howard

Bovell.
1898—1899—Burns, Peake.

L :T.'\—'e’ A g Lﬂ
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INTERIOR OF ST. BARNABAS.

is about $20 per Sumday; in the old
chapel it was $18 per Sunday. In this
respect the income is not proportionate
to the increase of accommodation and
improvement of church facilities. The
seats are free and unappropriated, and
the offertory is the only source of in-
come. The rector of St. Barnabas’ .is
Rev. W. H. Clarke, B. A. He is & native
of Paris, Ontario, and a graduate of
Trinity College. He was ordained by

hop Bethune, and was first located
at Bolton, in this province. While
there he was granted & year’s leave of
ubsepce, and then visited British Col-
umbia.  Shortly after his return he
was called to Toronto and took charge
of St. Barnabas, and has been its on y
rector.

The roll of communicants is 190 in
number, and there are 175 Sunday
#chool scholars, The schools are in ex-

CHAPTER XXX.
CHURCH OF THE EPIPHANY.

An Offsheet Frem 81. Mark’s with an Ex-
celient Receord.

The Church of the Epiphany, situated
on the south-west corner of Beaty
avenue and Queen street west, though
a substantial building, is not intended
to be used permanently for divine ser-
vice. There is sufficient land adjoin-
ing that whereon now Sstands the
church to build a much larger edifice,
and it is intended as soon as fnnds
will permit, to erect a larger and
more pretentious church, and that the
building now in use on Sunday for
divine service shall be converted inta
a school room.

The present parish of the Epiphany
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was taken from that of St. Mark’s,
Parkdale. It is bounded on the north
hy Queen street west, on the west by
‘Macdonnell avenue, on the south by
the waters of the bay and on the east
by Jameson avenue. Under the au-
thority of the Bishop of Toronto the
parish was created in 1%87. A congre-
gation, consisting of some Anglicans
who had hitherto worshipped at St. |
Mark's, and of new residents in the !
district, was speedily formed, who, un-
til a building could be erected fori
their accommodation, met for worship
in the Masonic Hall, Parkdale. The
first service was held on November
13th, 1887.

The rector appointed to the parish
was the Rev. Bernard Bryan, who came

that month. The first bant’sm was on
the 14th O:ctober, 1883. The first con-
firmation by the Bishop of Toronto
was on May 19th, 1889.

The church is an exceedingly plain
building both in its exterior and in-
terior. It is built of pressel red brick
and.possosseq neither tover or steep’e.
Unlike the majority of ecclesiastical
edifices belonging to the Anglican
church, it does not stand east and
west, but north and south. It will seat
comfortably about 300 worshi pers,
w}no are accommodated in varnished
pine open sittings. There are three
rows of seats with two aisles to the
enst and west of the church. Unlike
nearly every other Anglican church in
the diocese the Church of the Epiphany

CHURCH OF THE EPIPHANY, BEATY AVENUE, (PARKDALE.)

from Bradford. Mr. Bryan was educat- !‘
ed at Wyecliffe College, Toronto, and |
wwas the first of that institution’s gra-
duates who took Holy Orders.

He was what mayv be deseribed as a
moderate Low Churchman, and was
noted hefore he came to Parkdale for
his assiduity in parish work. The repu- |
{ation which he gained in Bradford |
‘has heen increasad s’nce he entered |
aron his work at the Epiphany.

The earlier trustees for the erection |
.0 the Church of the Eniphany were
ihe late Mr. Thomas McLean. Mr. |
Samuel Shaw and Mr. Richard Thorne.

They worked unceasingly until their |
efforts to obtain a church were crown- |
.ed with success. The present church
was opened for divine service in Sep-
tember, 1783, The first wedding took
place within its walls on the 18th of |

possesses no ‘lectern, the lessons be-
ing read from the prayer desk. It may
be srentioned, thougzh, that this lat-
ter practice was all but universal in
the Anglican church fifty years since.
the introduction of lecterns having
taken place within the last half cen-
tury. .

The architects of the church were

Messrs. Strickland and Symons, of
s perdeen Chambers, ronto. The

builders were Mr. Wm. Geddes for the
brick and stone work, while Mr. W.
‘P, Parsons was Tresponsible for the
wpodwork.

The total cost of the building, ex-
clusive of land, was $5,700, part of
which was discharged at the time of
building, only a comparatively small
debt being left when the church was
opened. The first wardens were Mr.
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Samuel Shaw and Mr. Thomas McLean.
On the resignation of Mr. Shaw in
1891 Mr. J. S. Lockie took his place.
He was succesded in 1893 by Mr.
Sharp, and on the . e:th of Mr. Mec-
Lean, Messrs., T. O Meara and Mr,
Herbert Mortimer became t he wardens
and they were re-elected at the Easter
Vestly of 1896.

The choir of the church is a mixed
one, consisting of male and female
voices. There is a small organ placed
in what may ‘be called the western
transept. There is a large and capa-
cious vestry, which is used for the
meetings of the Women's Auxiliary
and other parochical purposes. Mr.
Bryan, the rector, has as yet no rec-
tory, but resides in a rented house in
Dowliing avenue, contiguous to his
work,

CHAPTER XXXI.
ST. MATTHEW’S.

An East End Parish with a Very Hand-
seme Edlfice.

In 1874 a Sunday school, followed
by an Anglican service was held in
Leslieville, various clergymen and
students from Trinity College offici-
ating. This was the nucleus of what
is now known as St. Matthew’s church,
at the corner of.De Grassi and Cum-
ming streets, east of the Don. At first
it was but a mission of St. Bartholo-
mew’s, and the latter was a mission
¢l All Saints’ church. The maternity
of St. Matthew’s is to be traced, there-
fore, to All Saints’. In November, 1874,
Rev. J. M. Ballard, now of St. Anne’s,
was the first rector, and services were
then held in a brick building on
Bolton avenue, formerly the district
school. In August, 1875, the parish was
separated from St. Barthclomew’s and
began an independent existence. The
corner lot on which the church. stood
was bought and a rough-cast frame
building erected. It was opened for
service July 11, 1875. 1In January of
the next year Rev. G. I. Taylor was
appointed rector, and had charge of
St. Bartholomew’s. In 1880 Rev. W. S.
Rainsford conducted the service, and
did so until 1882, when he left, Mr.
Taylor meanwhile continuing in
charge.

This is a brief outline of its history
to October, 1882, when the present
rector, the Rev. J. Scott Howard, took
charge. The parish was in a most en-
feebled condition at this time. There
was a debt of $1,400 upon the build-

ing, it needed repairing badly, no fence
enclosed the property, there were only
about 60 Sunday school scholars, the
offertory was only $3 per Sunday,
about 15 persons attended the morn-
Ing service and 30 were present, as an
average, in the evening, and there
were only 10 communicants.

The parish at once began to pros-

| per, .slowly at first, but with each sue-
| ceeding year there came greater pros-
| perity. The old church was repaired,

a fence was built, the old debt was not
enlarged and an addition was made to
the eastern end of the church at a
cost of $600. It was re-openéd in July,
1885. A school house, finished in 1885,
cost $1,400; in October, 1886, it was en-
larged at an additional cost of nearly
$800, to accommodate 500 persons. It
was detached from the church, and
stands with its southern gable front-
ing Cumming street. It was a well’
lighted, plain but neat building fur-
nished with chairs, an organ, a piano
costing $360, and all the conveniences
necessary for the conduct of all the
activities of the school and parish.
There were two class rooms adjoining,
a large library, together with ar-
rangements for social as well as reli-
gious purposes. The late Mr. Samuel
Platt and Mr. Henry Goulding were
generous patrons towards these im-
provements.

.The school from 75 in 1883 grew un-
ti] four years later there were more
than 400 on the roll, with an average
attendance of nearly 300, The offer-
tory from the school was in 1883 but
eighty cents a Sunday, yet four years
afterwards it had reached $3.21. 1In
addition, a lot east of the school house
was purchased at a cost of $1,600, giv-
ing the parish a property of 100 x 245
feet. This lot and all improvements
made were entirely paid for.

Rev. J. Scott Howard, M.A., is a son
of Allan McLean Howard, the clerk of
the FEastern Division Court. He was
educated at Trinity College School at
Port Hope, and Trinity University,
where he graduated, both in divin-
ity and in arts. He was ordained by the
present Bishop of Toronto in 1882, and
at once assumed charge of his present
parish.

The outside appearance of the church
building fully prepared one for the sur-
prise in store when the inside was seen.
It was a cosy, comfortable and pretty
room, with an elevated chancel, where-
in the choir sat. A small organ stood
on the morthern side, and a little ves-
try on the southern side. The writer
noticed several interesting objects,
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which, for artistic beauty, are cer-
tainly not excelled by any church in
the-city. Among these was a hand-
somely carved stone baptismal font il-
lustrated with scriptural symbols cut
thereon. The beautiful window above
the altar, the gift of the rector’s father,
the handsome reredos, the richly-

wrought communion vessels, the brass
alms basin and altar vases, the latter
the gift of the rector—testifying to
the good taste and liberality ot the
donors.

Messrs. Jos. Otter

and Edward

Pord

1 'g‘n ikl
*é%t:m[%}fj/ﬂ " %
I
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was mooted, and it was finally decided
to do so. The purchase of a site was
accomplished and the land paid for,
with the exception of a very trifling
amount

In the autumn of 1888 the state of
the church building was such that ex-
tensive repairs were found to be abso-
lutely necessary, and the rapidly in-
creasing congregation soon brounght
about a decision to build. The finan--
cial position of the church at this date
was as follows:—There was a balance
due on the original mortgage of the

"

ST. MATTHEW’S CHURCH, FIRST AVENUE.

Hirons were the churchwardens at the
period the sketch refers to.
L3 - - L ] L L

St. Matthew’s, as sketched in the pre-
ceding section of this article, no longer
exists. “The old order changes giving
place to the new;” even in 1886, when
the description of the district and its
Anglican clergy were penned, it was
felt that soomer or later (and it was
hoped the former rather than the
latter) o large church must be erected
if the Anglican body were to keep pace
with thgsgrowing spiritual necessities
of the e end.
In 1887, when the vestry meetingr was
called for the election of churchwar-
dens, the question of building a rectory

church building of about $900, the
school house was unencumbered and
the rectory lot was also free. It was
decided to build a permanent church,
and plans were promptly prepared and
approved of in April, 1889. Mr. Noel
Marshall undertook the collection of
funds to clear off the existing la-
bilities, and largely through Mr. Mar-
shall’s efforts the late Mr. John Smith
offered to the church a free site of 66
feet on First avenue, and to sell a
further 66 feet on very reasonable
terms. This generous offer was grate-
fully accepted, and a further 52 feet
adJoining purchased as a rectory site,
the old rectory lot having been dis-
rosed of to advantage, Contracta
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were awarded and the new church
orened for divine service by the Bishop
of Toronto on Easter day, 1890, Arch-
deacon Boddy preaching in the even-
ing. Three years later Mr. Greer gave
uf the vestry clerkship after ten years
of office, and at the same time A
Marshall and Mr. Vick resigned after
four years of jJoint office as church-
wardens. These three gentlemen had
rendered invaluable service to the
church at a critical period in its
history.

St. Matthew’s congregation has
every reason to feel proud of their
church. If not remarkable for its ex-
ternal beauty, in its interior it is one
of the handsomest churches of the
city. The total cost was a shade less
than $20,000, and this sum included
architect’s fees. What the exterior of
St. Matthew’s is like can be seen from
the accompanying cut; of its interior
one cannot form a very accurate idea
unless they see it for themselves.

The roof is an open timbered one
with six principals, fitted with tracing
and curved braces, with the rafters
exposed, making one of the finest in
any Anglican church of Toronto. The
choir is finished in pressed brick and
oak panelling, the walls finished in
colour, with arched ceiling yibbed into
panels. The walls of the church are of
red brick, with brown Credit Valley
stone, with Ohio stone dressings.

All seats are free and unappropri-
ated; there are no pew rents of any
kind.

The screen separating the choir from
the nave is a beautiful specimen of
carved oak work in later Gothic, the
central arch ornamented by a cross,
which is slightly out of proportion in
bheight to the size of the screen. This
was given by Mr. John Greer.

The east window is a very plain one,
having three lights, in the northern
the Greek alpha, and in the southern
the omega, in allusion to the verse in
Revelations, “I am Alpha and Omega,
the beginning and the end;” in the
central light the letters 1. H. S.

Two remarkably handsome standard
gas burmers in polished brass hand
work, the gift of Mr. A. McLean How-

ard, stand to the north and south of |

the chancel; they are about eight feet
in height, and as specimens of exquisite
workmanship cannot be surpassed. The
altar rails are also very good examples
of finish and design in brass work.
These were preseénted by Mr. and Mrs.
F. W. Thomas.

There is a pretty stained glass win-
dow in the south transept of arabesque

! design, removed from the old church;
the colours are good and the blend-
ing harmonious. The organ, which is
placed on the north side of the choir,
is not a very powerful instrument,
but it is of good tone and is well play-
ed by the organist, Mr. Percy Milne,

! who succeeded Mr. A. Jordan. The

choir is & mixed one of male and

female voices, and includes about 50

members.

The architects of the church were
Messrs. Strickland & Symons; the car-
pentering was done by Davidson &
| Kelly, the brick work by John Smith,
the stone work by Yorke of Front
street, the glazing by MecCauslands,
and the gas fittings by Keith & Fitz-
simmons.

There have been no clergy at St.
Matthew’s since its inception except-
ing the rector, Reverends J. Scott How-
ard and J. W. Blackler, who came to
the district in July, 1888. The Rev.
J. W. Blackler was appointed to the
rectory of Newmarket in September,
1898, he thus baving worked in the
| district for more than ten years. He
i was succeeded by Rev. R. H. B. Bell. An
excellent record for an assistant min-
ister, and one that in a Toronto parish
has rarely been equalled.

The churchwardens have been these:
1882-1884—Jos. Worters, James Mount-

stephen.

1884-1887—Ed. Hirons, Joseph Otter.

1887-18%9—A. Mitchell, J. B. Vick.

1889-1892—Noel Marshall, J. B. Vick.

1892-1895—F. W. Thomas, Jos. Taylor.

 1895-1896—Noel Marshall, J. A. Ewan.

1896-1899—C. Norris, J. Taylor.

CHAPTER XXXIL
ST. MARTIN'S.

The €hurch Known ns **ft. Martin’s-In-
) the-Flelds.”

The church of St. Martin, situated
on Perth avenue, to the north-west of
tho city. was built in 1830, the district
being formed partly from Carlton and
partly from the already existing city
parishes in that portion of Toronto.
Tt is a plain frame structure, capable
of seating from 150 to 175 worship-
pers, and its interior is as devoid of
ornamentation as is its exterior.

The first rector of St. Martin’s was
the Rev. Isaac Middleton, who was
trapsferred from Oshawa. He assumed
charge of the parish early in 1891, and
remained at bis post until removed by
death on February 25th, 1893. Mr.
| Middleton received his edueation at the
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hands of the Rev. Thomas Greene, late
rector of Wellington Square, now
known as Burlington. His first charge
was at Brampton. He then went to
Oshawa: finally came to Toronto. On
the formation of the Chapter »f St.
Alban’s, Mr. Middleton was appointed
one of the canons, a purely honorary
office in every respect.

After the death of Canon Middleton

the Rev. R. Seaborne was appointed |

to the rectory of St. Martin’s. He filled
the pulpit for very nearly six years,
and was a most indefatigable parish
worker. He resigned in January, 1899,
having been appointed to a charge in
Bowmanville. Succeeding Mr. Sea-
borne is the Rev. A. W. Macnab, who

March, 1830. The style of architecture
is what is termed Romanesgue, the
plans being prepared by Mr. W. A.
Langton, of this city.

The total cost including land was
about $12,000.

The rector of St. Margaret’s is the
Reverend Robert James Moore, who
was appointed to the office when the
church was opened. He is a graduate
Iof Trinity College, Toronto, where he
| took his degree as M. A. in 18%3. He
| was ordained deacon by the Bishop of
| Niagara in 1882, and prisst in 1883.
His first curacy was at St. George’s,
St. Catharines, and afterwards he came
to St. George’s, Toronto, where he was
exceedingly popular. He remained in

ST. MARTIN’S CHURCH, PERTH AVENUE.

was appointed simultaneously with the
resignation of Mr. Seaborne.

St. Martin’s is in a sparselvy popu-
lated district of the city, and there
are very few of those who attend its
services who have not to earn their
living by manual labour

CHAPTER XXXIII.
ST. MARGARET'S.

A Mearty Serviee with an Energetlc Rec-
tor and United People.

St. Margaret’s church, on the east
side of Spadina avenue, a little to the
south of Queen strset west, is a hand-
pome brick structure erected in 1889-
90. and opened for divine service in

the latter post until his appointment
to his present charge.

The services in St. Margaret’'s are
on the model of an English cathedral,
there being a surpliced choir of both
men and boys.

Holy Communion is celebrated twice
each Sunday, and on all church festi-
vals. There are no daily services ex-
cepting on Wednesdavs and holy days.

Reverend Prof. W. Clark, of Trinity
College, has always taken a great in-
terest in St. Margaret’s, and constant-
ly preaches there. Professor Hunting-
ford, also of Trinity, is always willing
to assist in St. Margaret’s, and often
occupies the pulpit.

There is a handsome three-light
! stained glass east window in St. Mar-
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garet's, the centre being a representa-
tion of the Saviour, the whole three
being memorial of past attendants at
the church.

[The altar was a gift from the Chan-
cel Guild to the church in memory of
Jeannette, the wife of Mr. J. R. Code,
one of the present wardens (1896.) The
font was also a gift from the same
Guild in remembrance of Annie Battis,
a deceased member. The handsome
brass altar cross was given by Mr.
Benjamin Parsons as a memorial of
his son

n e e —
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CHAPTER XXXIV.
ST. CLEMENT'’S.

The Only Angilean Chureh in the Extreme
East End of the Clty.

In the closing days of the summer
of 1888 it was felt by the Anglicans
of the east end portion of Toronto
that it was incumbent upon them to
provide more liberally than had been
done up to that date for the spiritual
necessities of the population east of
the Don River, contained within the
city limits. True, there was a flour-

6)

ST. MARGARET’S CHURCH, SPADINA AVENUE.

The whole of the seats in the church
are free and open, none being reserved
except for the choir. The church will
comfortably contain 600 people, but 700
have been accommodated.

The wardems since the church was
opened have been these:

1890-1892—Albert Harvard,
Burnbom.

1892-1893—Albert Harvard, W. H. Par-

Dr. G. H.

EODS.
1893-1896—Albert Harvard, J. R. Code.
189G-1897—John J. Oooke, J. R. Code.
1897-1898—J R. Code, Charles Phillips.

ishing Anglican congregation at St.
Matthew’s, and a handsome church
was in course of construction, to sup-
plant the one that congregation had
hitherto used; but with that exception
there was no other provision made by
the Anglican body for church-goers
residing in that part of the city.

In August, 1883, a number of Angli-
cans, foremost among whom were the
Rev. John Usborne and Mr. John
Jones, purchased from the late Mr.
George Leslie a plot of land on the
#outh side of Queen street, east of
the Toronto Nurseries and Caroline

avenue, eI SV e
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Thereupon the church was built, and
opened for divine service in the spring
of 1889. The church is an exceedingly
unpretentious frame building, capable
of seating, perhaps, 150 worshippers.
It copsists of nave and chancel, and
there is little or no ornamentation
either in its interior or exterior. The
congregation 18 not by any means a
wealthy one; but ‘what they lack in
means they make up for by zeal and
heartiness in supporting, as far as
their means will allow them, all the

LANDMARKS OF TORONTO.

minimize dogmatic teaching in any
way, but he always impressed upon
his hearers that, though it is a great
thing to have a settled creed, it is
a much greater thing to live up to
the teachings of that creed. The
teaching of the Sermon upon the Mount
and the doctrines contained in St.
Paul's first epistle to the Corinthians,
chapter xiii., were embodied in all Mr.
Usborne's discourses.

The service at St. Clement’s is of a
moderate  Anglo-Catholic type, no

P

ST. CLEMENT S CHURCH, QUEEN STREET KRAST.

institutions in comnection with the
church. :
Tho firsl rector, the Rev. John Us-
borne, had a complete hold on his
flock, based upon the confidence he
inspired by his consistency of life and
devotion to his work. His sermons
were plain, practical discourses, not un-
touched now and then by a vein of
poetry. To do what is right, not from
the fear of punishment for doing what
is wrong, nor through a hope and
desire for reward, was what Mr. Us-
borne taught. He did not neglect or

eucharistic vestments are worn and
there is no undue bowing or genuflex-
ion during any portion of the services,
all is becoming and reverent, though.
During prayers the whole congregation
kneels, and in the Creeds, at the name
of the Saviour, all reverently bend the
head. Here and there may be seen a
worshipper who bows his head at the
recital of the Gloria, but this is an old
custom, observed by many Anglicans
who have not the faintest leaning to-
wards Rome. 0

The choir of St. Clement’s is very
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efficient, being what was at first
termed, on its introduction, an ‘ An-
gelic” one. That is, it is a mixed one
of male and femnale voices, all being
habited in cassock and surplice, the
famale portion wearing square college
caps with tassel. It is composed of
about twenty-six voices, eight of whom
are ladies. The organist is Mr. Charles
Edwards. f

Since the foundation of the church
the wardens have been Mr. John Jones,
from 1889 until 1894, with the follow-
ing:
1889-90—George Reid.
1890-91—Henry Comptorn.
1891-93—A. Clark.
1893-94—Dr. Passmore.
1894-95—Dr. Passmore, John Jordan.
1895-96—W. Montgomery, J. Struggles.

A school house was erected in con-
nection with St. Clement’s in 1895,
this being done for the most part by
voluntary labour, the materials, of
course, having to be paid for. It is a
spacious and well lighted room, and
contains all recent improvements in

used any longer for divine service.
The reasons which caused this change
were as follows:

On March 1st, 1897, the Rev. John
Usborne who, for the whole previous
history of the parish, had been in
charge, found it necessary to hand
over his work into the hands of a suc-
cessor. The affairs of the church had
been s0 much in the hands of the first
rector, that it was with some disap-
pointment to the congregation, that at
the Easter vestry meeting it was an-
nounced that there was upwards of
$5,000 debt upon the church as it stood.
For some timée the church had not been
paying its way, arrears of interest
were accumulating, taxes were un-
paid, and a considerable amount of
debt for current expenses and in con-
nection with the organ had been in-
curred. The church itself was still the,
property of the former rector, subject
to two morgzages, one of $3,30) and
the other of $1,100.

At this time, Easter, 1897, the first
mortgagee being dissatisfied with the

ST. CLEMENT'S CHURCH (NEW), BROUKLYN AVENUE.

the shape of class and retiring rooms.
There is a good orchestral stand, and
many pleasing entertainments take
place in it during the winter months.

Mr. Usborne resigned the rectory
early in 1897, going to Honolulu, and
was succeeded by the Rev. F. C. Heath-
cote, who carried on the work on the
same lines.

L ] - L - . )

The preoeding sketch has been re-
tained as it was written, though the
Bt. Clement’s church therein described
coased in the latter days of 1898 to be

way in which interest had been left
unpaid, leased the property for one
year to the congregation, the rental
being equal to the interest. At the
close of the year the mortgagee had
no wish to continue such an arrange-
ment indefinitely, but preferred te
have the property transferred to the
church trustees, with new securities.
The congregation in the meantime had
grown to fill the building to its utmost
capacity, while people who wished to
attend could not be given seats in the
buildirg. The contributions in the
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offertory were not suificient to do
more than barely pay running ex-
penses. If tha church could have been
enlarged this difficulty could have
been surmounted. At the time the
congregation was in no position to buy
the building for two reasons, first, be-
cause there were no members willing
to become security for the payment;
secondly, because it was hopeless ever
to expect to pay off the principal, when
all that could be done with a crowded
church was to pay current expenses.

The congregation therefore proposed
to rent the building for a number of
years on such terms that it could be
enlarged, with the hope of buying it
at the expiraton of the lease. The
mortgagee, however, would not wait,
but wished to dispose of the property
at once. The only thing left for the
congregation to do was to see if a new
church coald be built. After a suc-
cessful canvass of its parish a site was
procured near Queen street, on Brook-
lyn avenue. Messrs. Bond & Smith
were asked to prepare plans, the con-
tract was let to Mr. T. E. Webb, and
on October 8th, 1898, Bishop Sul-
livan laid the corner stone. The church
was sufficiently completed for the
opening servcie to be held on New
Year’s day of 1899, when the bishop of
the diocess was present at the dedica-
tion service.

The church and land cost $3,800, of
this amount $2,000 still remains un-
paid. The congregation has increased
by twenty-five per cent. in the morn-
ing and at night the church, which
holds about 400 people, is full. There
is a large basement. affording accom-
modation for the Sunday school, so-
ciety work, etc.

The church itself is very plain, the
greatest economy being exercised
throughout, nevertheless it is bright
and attractive. The services, which are
particularly congregational and hearty,
suit the locality, and the interest is
of such a moderate character that
people of various leanings feel thor-
oughly at home.

Bright prospects are before this con-
gregation in their new building with
their growing congregation.

CHAPTER XXXV.
ST. JOHN'S, NORWAY.
A Pretty Country Chureh with its Offsheet

at Chester,

Of the many churches in and around

Toronto, there are very few situated so

attractively as that of St. John’s, in
Norway. The site is a lovely one on
the western side of the Kingston Road,
and from the southern side of the
church a magnificent view of Toronte
and the lake can be obtained, while to
the north and east stretch wood and
iorest_, which at all seasons of the year,
even in mid-winter, are rich in colour
and natural beauty.

The present St. John’s church is an
exceedingly modern building, but the
parish is an old one, ad age is counted
in Canada, having been founded in the
latter “forties.” At first divine ser-
vice was held in a barn, belonging to
a member of the Playter family, but
in 1850 a small wooden church was
built, and the Reverend James Beaven,
D.D., appointed minister. Dr. Beaven
was also one of the professors at To-
ronto University, and was a scholar
of rather more than average capacity.
Prior to the appointment of Dr. Bea-
ven, Norway was principally depend-
ent upon lay help for its Sunday ser-
vices, Mr. Thomas Champion, the lay
secretary of the church society, very
often taking the duty.

The original church probably cost
about £100 currency, or $400, exclusive
of the value of the land, much off the
labour being given gratuitously. It
could not possibly have been of plainer
construction; it seated about sixty
people.

The first baptism took place in St.
John’s church, February 16th, 1851,
Dr. Beaven being the officiating min-
ister. The name of the child was Wil-
liam, his parents being Irwin and Mar-
garet Wallis, of Norway.

The first delegate appointed to re-
present the congrewwtion of St. John’s
in the Diocesan Synod was Mr. George
Madison, he being nominated October
9th, 1853.

Sufficient land was obtained shortly
after the first church was built to pro-
vide a graveyard surrounding the
church. This was duly fenced in, and
the first burial took place on July 19th,
1854, the person interred being William
Dawes, a farmer of Berkeley, who had
reached the mature age of 76 years.
The Rev. J. G. D. McKenzie was the of-
ficiating clergyman.

From the date when the church was
erected until 1855 there had been no
bell to summon people to Divine ser-
vice, and although all other denomina-
tions, excepting the Anglican and Ro-
man bodies, discountenance their use,
an Anglican church without at least
one bell, is a very exceptional build-
ing. This want was supplied by the
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kindness of Mr. Richard Edmunds, of

Toronto, who gave the church the bell

still in use. It was rung for the first

i.)ime on June 24th, 1855, Midsummer
ay.

The church was consecrated, as was
also the adjoining graveyard, by the
Bishop of Toronto, on July 1st, 1855.
The minute in the parish books record-
ing the fact, is signed by “James Bea-
ven. incumbent, James Beamish and
Irwin Wallis, churchwardens.”

Among those who repose in the
¢God’s Apre” of St. John’s, Norway,
is Sarah, relict of John Ashbridge,
who was, so the parish records declars,

use any longer, it was both incommo-
dious and insecure and was beyond re-
pair or enlargement. It was therefore
determined to build a new church, and
the handsome building on Kingston
road is the result of their efforts. It
is of later Gothic architecture and like
all modern Anglican churches has no
galleries. The principal entrance is
at the south-west corner. and there are
also serarate entrances in the east end
to the clergy. and on the south side to
the chcir vestries, The church has an
open roef, and seats 350 people, the
kneelings being of oak throughout, In

ST. JOHN'S CHURCH, NORWAY.

5,
o

558

B e

“one of the United Empire Loyalists.”
She died on February 29th, 1860, at
the age of 75. Another departed
worthy, who also rests here, is
Terence Conroy, or Conway—it is the
former on the {ombstone, the latter in
the register. <{Tonroy was a pensioner

from the 3rd Buffs, and died Septem-!

ber 9th, 1863, aged 100 years. This is
the only case in or niar Toronto where
a tombstone recordis th> death of a
centenarian.

The small wooden church was several
times altered in construction and once
enlarged, but in 1892 it was found
absolutely impossible to continue its

the east end are three lancet windows,
and in the west one single large win-
dow. The estimated cost o’ the build-
ing was $4 467, but the actual cost was
nearly &8000. [The architect was Mr.
C. J. Gibson, of Toronto, the builders

being Messrs. Robert Marshall and
George Mortimer. Mr. N. T. Lyon
supplied the glass. The work was

commenced in 1f92 and completed in
the summer of the following year.
Dr. B:aven was minister of St. John's
from 1830 until 1863. e was followed
by Rev. E. R. Stimson, who held the
charge for exactly five ycars, and was.
followed by the Rev. Charles Rutfan,
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who entered on his duties September
20th, 1873, and continued to perform
them until Easter Day. 1896, when he
was succeeded by the Rev. G. L. Starr,
who was removed to Kingston early in
1898, and was lollowed by the Rev.
W. L. Baynes-Reed.

Mr. Ruttan’s first charge was in
Toronto, he being the first rector of
St. George’s church on John street.
Leaving St. George’s in 1847, he did
duty in various parts of Ontario, until
he was appointed to St. John’s in 1873.
He was a son of the Jate Sheriff Henry
Ruttan of Cokourg, and a grandsou
of Ruttan, the well known U. E.
Loyalist, who helped to settle
Adolphustown, on the Bay of Quinte.

Unfortunately the records of St.
John’s were badly kept in the early

1869-1871—Peter Patersom, Jas. Smith.
1871-1872-—P:1>ter Paterson, George Mad-
em.
1872-1875—Peter Paterson, Jas. Smith.
1875-1878—Peter Patersom, F. Boston.
1878-1879—F. Bostom, W. Darling.
1879-1880—W. Darling, Jas. Hewitt.
1880-1882—Jas. Hewitt, Lamond Smith.
1882-1883—Lamond Smith, Ira Bates.
1883-1884—C. T. Whitney, Ira Bates.
1884-1886—Ira Bates, J. Davids.
1886-1890—Ira Bates, J. Randall.
1890-1898—Ira Bates, J. W. Miller.
1868-1899—E. Philpott, J. Spencer Over.
* * & » * »

St. Barnabas church, Chester, is also
within the ecclesiastical parish of St.
John's, Norway. It is, as will be seen
by the cut, a 'pretty little building in
Gothic architecture.

ST. JOMN’S CHURCH, (NEW) NORWAY.

days, and it is not possible to give
an absolutely correct list of the war-
dens since the district was formed. Up
to 1858 the only two wardens whose
names can be ascertained were Messrs.
James Beamish and Irwin Wallis, but
since then the list is complete, as fol-

lows :—

1858-1861—Peter  Paterson, Richard
Thornbeck.

1861-1862—Peter Patersom, John Tur-
ner.

1862-1863—Peter Paterson, William
Johnson.

1£63-1865—Peter Paterson, G. McCul-
lough.

1865—1867—P{antrerb Paterson, Thomas

ebb.
1867-1869—Peter Paterson, John Tur-
ner.

It was erected about 1870 by the
exertions of Messrs. Garrett F. Frank-
land, John Lee and Emanuel Playter,
all lay members of the Anglican church
living in close proximity to the churech.

The clergy of St. John's have always
been responsible for the' services at St.
Barnabas, whoever has officiated there
has never been more than an assistant
to the rector of the former church. For
some time the Rev. R. Ashcroft, now
(1899) one of the assistant ministers at
the church of St. James' in this city,
was the officiating clergyman. He was
there from 1891 to 1896. After that
time he came to St. James’. The present
?taff at St. Barnabas is (1899) as fol-
ows:

Wardens—Mr. Albert Playter, Mr.
R. W. Proctor.
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Vestry Clerk—Mr. Proctor. l is situated on lots 11 and 12 in the sub-
Bidesmen—NMr. Sparkhall, Mr. Tal- | division o’ lot 34, in the 2nd concession
t. d from the bay, in York township. The
Organist—Mr. R. Whittaker Proc-  land was given by the late Samuel

tor, B. A. Thompson, a hard-working English
Supt. S. S.—Mir. H. R. Firankland, churchman, who had a residence in
Librarian—Mr. A. Playter. the neighbourhcod.
Sec.-Dreas.—Mrs. Soutbergill. Besides giving the land Mr. Thomp-
Organist—Miss M. Playter. son was a most generous benefactor to

[Dhe services on Sundays are at 11  the church in money, time, and coun-
a. m. and 7 p. m., while the Holy Com-  sel.
munion is administered on the second The subscription list for the building
Sunday in the month after morning {s a curiosity, showing how generous
prayer. There is a week day service and liberal churchmen were in the
at 8 p. m. each Wkidnesflay, and a | year 1£60, in their contributions to
Bible class | what we should in these days, perhaps,

ST. BARNABAS' CHURCH, CHEKSTER.

@lso a branch Jf the Woman’s Asso- lt;ons«ider small and distant and unim-
ciation of the Young People's Guild | poriant church enterprises. Carlton
and the Brotherhood of St. Andrew. | was then & very small hamlet, six
Possibly at some future date St. | miles from the city hall, and a place
Barnabas may become a separate |of no commercial or manufacturing in-
parish, though at present.the prospect | terest. The subscriptions were of
of such an event is still in the dim | course in pounds—the old Halifax cur-

and distant future. rency. These are some of them :—The
———— Bishop £10, D. Macdonell £50, G. W.
CHAPTER XXXVL Allan £12 10s, S. Thompson, £50, W.

Wakefield £ J. S. Denni 10,
‘8T. MARK’S, TORONTOC JUNCTION | R, B? blgen-isoixz £11925'103. W. ixﬂ}l}lguﬁon
‘Wirst Angllean Church Bullt in that Part rﬁﬁm}g:n %;SSJI:S'LCGEE%;;:M?5£5E& WB’.'
SEXSrk; Povynnhip, Robinson £1 5s, Hon. P. M. Vaunkough~

This churck was for a good many | net £5 M. R. Vaonkoughnet £5.
.years known as St. Mark’s, Carlton. It The church seems to have been come
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pleted in the year 1859, It is a small
bullding, about 80 x 30, including the
chancel, with a good open roof. The
style of architecture is the simplest
Early English. Because of its sim-
plicity and thoroughly church charac-
ter, this little building, standing on
the highest ground in the neighbour-
hood, and distinctly visible from the
railway. and from all the roads around,
used to be much noticed, and favour-
ably spoken of. Those who took most
interest in the building of it were
Mr. S. Thompson, and Messrs. John
Dennis and St. George Scarlett, and
the Wakefield family of Beechboro’.
The congregation at Carlton, never
a large one in early days, forty years
back met in & house fitted up for that
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vice, or obtaining the help of some
clerical friend. In 1884 the Rev. C. E.
Thomson wes appointed inmcumbent of
Carlton alone, and has continued to
reside there since 1885.

As stated above, the members of the
Church of England in Carlton and its
neighbourhood never had been numer-
ous, and the congregation never has
been a large one. Yet, small as it is,
it is a quiel, united congregation, and
the services in the church, though
plain and simple,are good in propor-
tion (o the small available resources.
There are two services every Sunday,
with a good choir and good singing
and congregational responding, be-
| sides an early celebration of the Holy

Communion twice a month 1n summer.
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S8T. MARK’S CHURCH, TORONTO JUNCTION.

purpose, and were ministered to by
the Rev. W. Stennett, the Provost and
pro‘essors of Trinity University and
others. It may be said that there was
no resident clergyman for the first
twenty-five or thirty years. From
1859 to 1871 the Rev. W. A. Johnson,
of Weston, was the officiating minister;
the late Rev. F. J. S. Groves, of Tor-
onto was the clergyman till June, 1878,
followed for a Year by the late Rev.

Dr. Carry, who lived at Carlton, and .

then by the Rev. J. H. McCollum, of
Toronto, for some months. In 1880 the
Rev. C. E. Thomson, of Hamilton, was
appointed assistant to Mr. Johnson at
Weston, and gave a service every Sun-
day at Carlton, Major E. H. Foster,
M. A., kindly taking a second ser-

The Holy Communion is celebrated
every Lord’s Day all the year round,
and on the chief festivals, 'The list of
communicants i3 nearly as large as
the average congregation, and about
one-third of the communicants is the
average attendance at mid-day cele-
brations.

There is a very good Sunday school
| held In a large frame school house,
built near the church, on a lot kindly
given by Major E. H. Foster and Mrs.
Foster; end likewise a Bible class
taught by the rector.

There is also a branch of the Weo-
man’s Auxiliary, and a junior branch
of the same called the “Busy Bees.”

In common with many other parishes
l St, Mark’s, Toronto Junction, has felt
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the financial depression and its con-
sequent difficulties, but through .a..ll,
and notwithstanding the loss by divis-
ion of considerable portions of its terri-
tory, has managed to hold its own. It
is circumstanced, perhaps, as adversely
as any other parish in the diocese, but,
though poor, it is hopeful and united.

CHAPTER XXXVIL.
ST. JOHN’S, TORONTO JUNCTION,
on the 0ld Number Plains within Sight
of the Lake.

The church of St. John, Toronto
Junction, standing as it does in the
woods to the south side of Dundas

street, not very far from “Runimedc,”
the first dweiling house ever buiit in
the locality, is a pretty little building
It is

in modern Gothic architecture.
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ings. Mr. Murra